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As the world’s leading 
inspection, verification, testing and 

certification company, we provide

competitive advantage,
drive sustainability and 
deliver trust.

Recognised as the global benchmark for

quality and integrity, we employ

over 59 000 people and operate a 

network of more than 1 000 offices 
and laboratories around 
the world.

We are continually pushing ourselves to deliver 

innovative services and 

solutions that help our customers move  

their businesses forward. 
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Constant currency revenue growth of 2.5%

        Total revenue of CHF 4.7 billion

    Operating income margin 
               before exceptionals increased to 17.3% 

   Profit for the year of CHF 591 million

basic earnings per share before exceptionals of CHF 77.22

       Operating cash flow 
             before exceptionals of CHF 780 million

Two acquisitions completed for 

                              a total purchase price of CHF 11 million

        Proposed dividend  of CHF 60 per share
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In 2009, the SGS Group posted a solid increase of 6.3% in operating profit to CHF 814 million and a 2.5% 
increase in revenue to CHF 4.7 billion on a constant currency basis, with eight of our ten businesses posting 
comparable revenue growth increases. Needless to say, we achieved this growth in what would otherwise be 
described as a tough operating environment across many of our business lines and key geographic markets, as 
well as an extremely difficult trading environment for the global economy as a whole.

During the year we were able to increase our operating income margin before exceptional items by 50 basis 
points to 17.3% on a constant currency basis. We accomplished this by focusing resources and staff on areas of 
high demand and through tight cost control measures across the entire Group. before exceptional items, basic 
earnings per share reached CHF 77.22 and operating cash flow remained steady at CHF 780 million. As a result, 
the board of Directors has proposed a dividend of CHF 60 per share, half of which reflects the exceptional cash 
generation performance of the Group.

gLOBaL eCONOMIC reCOVerY TaKeS HOLD

As the global economy continues to recover in 2010, world GDP and trade are forecasted to expand by 3.2% 
and 3.7% respectively, with much of this growth and demand accounted for by emerging economies such as 
brazil, India and China. The Chinese economy alone is expected to grow by more than 8% in 2010, and will likely 
supplant Japan this year as the second largest economy in the world behind the US. In addition, commodity 
prices are expected to recover with oil and base metal prices gaining ground lost over the past two years. 

Dear SHareHOLDerS,

LeTTer FrOM 
THe CHaIrMaN & CeO

WOrLD gDp aND TraDe

-1.5 %

2009 2010 2011 2012

3.2 % 3.4 % 3.8 %

-9.4 %

3.7 %
4.6 %

5.2 %

World GDP growth (real terms, at PPP)

World trade growth ($ value)

Source: Economist Intelligence Unit, world totals based on  
51 countries accounting for over 95% of world GDP.
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Sergio Marchionne 
Chairman of the board 

Christopher Kirk 
Chief Executive Officer

Sincerely,

Over the past year, each of our businesses and all of our regions have prepared for this rebound in the global 
economy by developing innovative new processes and services and investing in capacity to accommodate 
increased demand. Process and product innovation, and an increased focus on sustainability, will be essential for 
our customers to gain competitive advantage in 2010 – we are ready to help them achieve this. 

One challenge that our Group, and the industries we serve, will continue to face in 2010 and beyond will be the 
shortage of trained engineers across all sectors. The solution to this issue is complex and lies in equal parts in 
encouraging the study of engineering related coursework at the secondary and tertiary levels as well as more 
clearly illustrating the benefits of a career in engineering – tasks to which we will all dedicate our efforts. 

Our grOup’S BuSINeSSeS aDD TO eXISTINg eXperTISe

During the year, we acquired two companies for a total purchase price of CHF 11 million. In February, the Group 
acquired Ustav Paliv a Maziv, a Czech company engaged in the testing of fuels, lubricants and operating fluids 
and the performance of functional tests on combustion engines. This acquisition is in line with our Oil, Gas & 
Chemicals business’ strategy for growth. Furthermore, it provides us with a unique opportunity to significantly 
expand our service offering in the field of fuel and lubricant testing in Central Europe.

In October, we acquired EKO-PROJEKT Ltd., a leading provider of environmental testing in Poland. With this 
acquisition, our Environmental Services business has become the leader in commercial environmental testing 
in Poland. Through EKO-PROJEKT’s extensive network of locations in the country, we have an ideal platform 
to introduce new services and testing technologies from our Environmental Services operations in Germany, 
the benelux, and Italy. We will focus specifically on the areas of stack emissions monitoring, dioxin testing and 
providing high throughput laboratory testing.

The Group has a long history of making incremental acquisitions in order to add to our existing service mix and 
then leveraging that gained expertise throughout our global network of more than 1 000 offices and laboratories 
around the world. These acquisitions will prove no different. 

We have also recently announced a Joint Cooperation Agreement with Halliburton to complement their 
comprehensive suite of solutions for acquiring fluid samples, with our full range of fluid analysis services. 
Through this agreement, our customers will have access to the most complete and innovative solutions in the oil 
and gas sector. This Joint Cooperation Agreement is an important step toward our goal of becoming the major 
player in the provision of analytical solutions to the upstream exploration and production market.

DOINg BuSINeSS IN 2010

We are forecasting another solid performance for the year with both top line and earnings increases over 2009 levels. 

2010 will also mark the publication of our first corporate sustainability report, detailing the Group’s approach to 
doing business responsibly. It will provide an initial account of our responsibilities and performance and explain 
how we are managing the sustainability agenda, through the services we deliver to our customers and within our 
own operations. 

It is on behalf of the board of Directors and the Operations Council that we would like to thank all of our 59 000 
employees for their dedication and commitment throughout 2009. We look forward to 2010 and helping our 
customers take advantage of the opportunities that lie ahead.

LE
TT

E
R

 F
R

O
M

 T
H

E
 C

H
A

IR
M

A
N

 &
 C

E
O



12



13

 1903. THe WrIgHT BrOTHerS’ FIrST FLIgHT, 37 MeTreS

 1993. aIrBuS a330-300, WINgSpaN 60 MeTreS
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We help customers all over the world operate  

in a more sustainable manner 
by improving quality and productivity, 

reducing risk, verifying compliance 
and increasing speed to market. 

Our range of services covers  all industry 

sectors and touches the products and 

services that consumers around 

the world rely on countless times in their 
everyday lives.
From the energy that powers our cars and 

homes, to the food on our plates and the clothes 

on our backs – and everything in between –  

SGS provides independent services 
that make a difference in people’s 

lives. At the end of the day, our value lies in what 

our services make possible for our customers 

and, ultimately, for their consumers.

SgS aT  
a gLaNCe
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We aim to be the most competitive and the most productive service organisation in the world. Our core competencies in 

inspection, verification, testing and certification are being continuously improved to be best-in-class. They are at the 

heart of what we are. Our chosen markets will be solely determined by our ability to be the most competitive and to consistently 
deliver unequalled service to our customers all over the world.

We seek to be epitomised by our passion, integrity, entrepreneurship and our innovative spirit, as we 

continually strive to fulfil our vision. These values guide us in all that we do and are the bedrock upon which 

our organisation is built.

Our VISION

Our VaLueS

SGS is led by a dynamic group of individuals with many years of experience in their respective fields, and who are 

committed to our success as a company and to the success of our customers.

We are organised into ten lines of business and operate across ten geographic regions. Each business is led by 

an Executive Vice President (EVP), and each region is led by a Chief Operating Officer (COO). The EVPs and the COOs, in conjunction 

with the functional Senior Vice Presidents (SVPs) and the Group’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel 

make up the Operations Council, which meets regularly throughout the year to determine Group-wide strategies and priorities and 

review performance.

Our MaNageMeNT

SeNIOr MaNageMeNT

Christopher Kirk
Chief Executive Officer

Richard Tobin
Chief Financial Officer & IT

Olivier Merkt
General Counsel & 
Chief Compliance Officer 

CHIeF OperaTINg OFFICerS

Fernando basabe
Western Europe

Duilio Giacomelli
South East Europe

Dirk Hellemans
Central & North West Europe

Teymur Abasov
Eastern Europe & Middle East

Robert Markus
Africa

Jeffrey McDonald
North America

Alejandro Gomez de la Torre
South America

Helmut Chik
China & Hong Kong 

Antony Hall
South Eastern Asia & Pacific

Dennis yang
Eastern Asia

eXeCuTIVe VICe preSIDeNTS

Jeffrey Newell
Agricultural Services 

Michael belton
Minerals Services

Alim Saidov
Oil, Gas & Chemicals and 
Environmental Services

Anne Hays*
Life Science Services

Frankie Ng
Consumer Testing Services

Malcolm Reid
Systems & Services Certification

beat In-Albon**
Industrial Services 

Frédéric Herren
Automotive and Governments &
Institutions Services

SeNIOr VICe preSIDeNTS

Jean-Luc de buman
Corporate Communications & 
Investor Relations

Francis Lacroze
Continuous Improvement

*As of 15 January 2010.

**Until 15 January 2010, 

  EVP Life Science Services.
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2009 world championships. Usain Bolt,  9.58 sEconds
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 1968 olympics. Jim hinEs, 9.95 sEconds

1936 olympics. JEssE owEns, 10.3 sEconds
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prEcision farminG
GloBal whEat yiEld has incrEasEd By 152% sincE 1960
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we help ensure the integrity of the food chain by 
providing services that cover all aspects of the 
agricultural industry, helping customers manage 
crops, enhance seed development, conduct soil 
testing and harvesting, move product through the 
global supply chain and manage trade inspection at 
export and import. Serving all of the major players 
in the agricultural sector, our services reduce risk, 
ensure quality and improve productivity.

aGricUltUral 
sErvicEs
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During 2009, we conducted several 
market research studies on behalf of 
our customers in the seed and fertiliser 
markets as their products required an 
increasing amount of localisation to 
accommodate changes in planting and 
harvesting conditions. examples include 
a corn study in China and a sugarcane 
production study in india. in cooperation 
with our customers, we developed 
tailor-made questionnaires specifically 
for each study, which our agricultural 
experts used to conduct more than 900 
face-to-face interviews with farmers 
in regions all over China and india. The 
data gathered during the study was 
converted to statistical representations 
and field condition diagrams, which 
helped our customers adapt their 
products to local market conditions.

Conceived by our South 
east europe regional team
and designed and implemented by our 
operations in Hungary, our new vacuum 
Deep Sampling method constitutes 
a real innovation in sampling. The 
breakthrough comes from the ability to 
draw a vertical core of samples from 
product in a silo or flat warehouse up 
to a depth of 20 metres. The principle 
behind this innovation is simple and 
based on an industrial vacuum to create 
suction in the core. Our vacuum deep 
sampler burrows its way down into 
almost any dry free-flowing materials, 
extracting a continuous sample 
throughout all of the layers of the 
product. Using this process, there is no 
place that poor quality can hide from 
inspection and sampling.

in 2009, we brought the first 
commercial soil fertility management 
laboratory to the black soil region of 
russia. This new facility in voronezh 
opened in the third quarter of 2009 and 
brings GPS soil sampling and mapping 
combined with laboratory based nutrient 
analysis to farmers in this region. These 
services help them optimise their 
decision making process with respect 
to planting and fertilisation. Not only do 
we help the farmers save money with 
our variable rate technology for the 
application of fertilisers and improve 
their yields by applying the right amount 
of fertiliser where it is needed, we also 
help them protect the environment 
by preventing over fertilisation and its 
potential for contaminating soil and 
water in nearby streams and rivers.

while food prices have cooled down since their peak in 2008, the next few years will prove vital for countries 

around the world as they lay the foundations for feeding and nourishing their people for the decades to come. Over 

the next forty years, while global population increases by more than 30%, the demand for meat will rise by 100% 

and demand for grains and other foodstuffs will increase by 70%. Due to this, and changing dietary habits, we will 

be presented with a serious challenge, as land and water use will also become more restricted in the years ahead. 

Over the past year, we have been engaged in some exciting new projects that have challenged our team, but at 

the same time brought out the best in our organisation with regard to technological and process innovation.

hElpinG oUr cUstomErs Grow and adapt

  >  Added independent market research to portfolio of services

>  Pioneered vacuum deep sampling to ensure efficient and representative sampling

  >  Temporary storage solutions and first commercial soil fertility 
      management laboratory introduced in russia

in 2009 we delivered constant currency revenue growth of 4.6% to CHF 356 million, leading to an increase in our operating 
margin of 40 basis points to 16.0%. Conditions in the sector remained volatile throughout the year as export volumes fluctuated with 
changes in harvest conditions, government intervention, the impact of foreign exchange on price competitiveness, reduced bank 
lending and commodity price volatility. Despite these headwinds, we were able to adapt our structure to meet demand, introduce 
new services to address a tightening regulatory environment for food safety and continue to expand our harvest yield enhancement 
services. we will continue to improve our core service offering to the trading community in response to the increased demand for 
supply chain transparency and regulatory compliance. we expect yield enhancement services, such as soil and seed testing and 
market and crop research, to be the principle drivers of the future growth of our business.

financial pErformancE

(CHF million) 2009 2008

rEvEnUE 356.3 358.3

Change in % (0.6) 

opEratinG incomE (before exceptionals) 57.1 55.9

Change in % 2.1 

opEratinG marGin % (before exceptionals) 16.0 15.6
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minErals  
sErvicEs

The services we provide range from quality 
and quantity inspection and testing for a 
vast array of commodities to advanced 
services, which optimise the recovery of 
metals in processing plants. Our customers 
rely on us to provide them with expert 
services and advice, which help them gain 
competitive advantage through reduced risk 
at all stages of the value chain.
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(CHF million) 2009 2008 1

rEvEnUE 536.0 631.6

Change in % (15.1) 

opEratinG incomE (before exceptionals) 86.3 115.8

Change in % (25.5) 

opEratinG marGin % (before exceptionals) 16.1 18.3

1. Restated 2008 data following changes in group organisation.

Many governments support 
mineral exploration by building 
large-scale geochemical databases 
for their countries. Such databases 
provide preliminary indications of metal 
mineralisation and as a result attract 
and support mineral exploration. Due 
to the massive tracts of land that must 
be evaluated and the related costs and 
timing constraints, our customers in this 
sector, such as the National Geochemical 
Survey of Australia (NGSA), want to use 
sensitive, reproducible techniques that 
generate reliable data that accurately 
reflects mineral exploration potential. 
in a recent pilot study in New South 
wales, Australia, one sample had to 
represent 1 540 m2 of land. Our Mobile 
Metal ion™ (MMi™) technology was 
used and showed exceptional sensitivity 

for copper, gold and silver. The MMi™ 
technology was a breakthrough that 
enabled the NGSA to successfully 
provide key, and possibly predictive, 
geochemical information that could 
entice mineral exploration in a substantial 
tract of land in New South wales.

The entrance to the Black 
Angel mine sits north of the Arctic 
Circle on the side of a cliff face on the 
west coast of Greenland, about 600 
metres above the icy waters below. 
Largely underground, the mine was 
active from 1973 to 1990 during which 
period it produced 12 million tonnes 
of ore. Angel Mining has a license 
to reopen the mine to extract other 
significant zinc and lead deposits. Ore 
will have to be transported from the 
opening of the mine on the side of 

the cliff, and moved 600 metres down 
and across the fjord to the processing 
plant. we have been working with 
Angel Mining on the concept of pre-
concentrating their lead and zinc ore 
underground in the mine through optical 
sorting. This could mean significant cost 
savings, as optical sorting has rarely 
been performed underground in the 
past. Optical sorting involves selecting 
chunks of dark rock (the ore) out of 
light rock (white marble, the waste), by 
examining the rock with a detector and 
selecting the dark ore and rejecting the 
light waste. This technology has been 
around for many years, but has been 
substantially improved recently. Putting 
it underground could make a huge 
difference in the cost of getting  
the Black Angel project into production.

The mining industry is now showing signs of recovery after a very traumatic period that started in the second half 
of 2008. we are beginning to see investment return to the sector driven by higher prices and increased interest 
in gold, uranium and other strategic metals. in addition, the growing interest and increasing scarcity of rare earth 
elements that are driving the revolution in innovative green technologies is also fuelling investment in the sector. 
As demand for metals continues to grow in Asia, especially from China and india, we are well positioned globally 
to provide the innovative approaches for finding, extracting and processing new assets that will be required in the 
mining and metals industries. 

nEw mEthods to EXtract hiddEn valUE

  >  Mobile Metal ion™ technology supports large-scale geochemical analyses

 >  Underground optical sorting of lead and zinc to support extreme 
      mining solution in Greenland

  >  reduction of exposure to hydrofluoric acid leads to improvements in 
       occupational health and safety

Comparable revenue declined 10.4% to CHF 536 million as difficult trading conditions persisted throughout the year 
in industrial and precious metals markets and reduced energy demand impacted coal consumption. The operating margin for the 
year, at 16.1%, was down 220 basis points from 2008, despite a significant 200 basis point improvement semester over semester 
as we aligned costs with activity levels. we took advantage of these reduced activity levels during the year to work on productivity 
enhancements and cost reduction initiatives while protecting our core execution capabilities especially in metallurgical testing and 
laboratory services. Capital consumption has been reduced as we have sufficient installed capacity to accommodate a variety of 
different demand scenarios in 2010.

financial pErformancE
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As the leading solutions provider for the oil 
and gas industry, our robust technology, 
innovative approach, technical support and 
dedication to quality and safety bring customers 
tangible benefits, in both the upstream and 
downstream sectors. Our global network of 
offices and laboratories and dedicated team 
allow us to respond to customer needs, 
when and where they occur. This, and our 
reputation for independence, excellence and 
innovation have made us the market leaders in 
improving efficiency, reducing risk and delivering 
competitive advantage.

oil, Gas &  
chEmicals sErvicEs
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(CHF million) 2009 2008 1

rEvEnUE 951.0 984.8

Change in % (3.4) 

opEratinG incomE (before exceptionals) 146.4 149.7

Change in % (2.2) 

opEratinG marGin % (before exceptionals) 15.4 15.2

1. Restated 2008 data following changes in group organisation.

How do you get analytical 
data quickly without the difficulty 
of shipping pressurised samples and 
the additional cost of lengthy cylinder 
rental? Simple, take the lab to the field. 
we have designed, developed and 
built our own range of Fluid Properties 
Portable Analytical Laboratories (FluidPro 
PAL™) to provide full scope reservoir 
fluids analysis together with specialised 
testing normally only found in fixed 
laboratories. what is more, these 
portable laboratories can be operated 
virtually anywhere you can fit a normal 
shipping container. SGS FluidPro 
PAL™ offers a wide range of sample 
handling and analytical testing for on-site 

applications including: high-pressure 
sample transfer; separator sampling and 
recombination; comprehensive Pressure, 
volume and Temperature (PvT) fluids 
analysis; Gas-Oil ratio (GOr); shrinkage 
and compositional analysis; mercury and 
radon in natural gas; water chemistry; 
and flow assurance studies. 

The SGS FluidPro PAL™ unit is 3rd-party 
certified for Zone 1 applications and built 
to operate in harsh environments. All 
units are staffed by certified chemists to 
ensure the highest standards of quality 
and service – onsite and on demand. 
These units can be operated on-platform 
for testing while drilling, at a centralised 
shore base or as stand-alone laboratories 

in remote locations. The equipment and 
methods used in our mobile laboratories 
produce fully correlated accuracy of 
data and are comparable to those of 
fixed laboratories. in addition, the PvT 
chemists that operate the labs are 3rd-
party safety certified and have passed 
a rigorous internal training programme 
to become a FluidPro PAL™ Operator. 
Finally, to ensure the highest quality, the 
mobile labs are monitored by our highly 
experienced Quality Assurance & Quality 
Control team with remote internet and 
satellite access. FluidPro PAL™ units are 
currently in use on demanding projects 
in North and South America as well as in 
Africa with impressive results.

A recent report from the international energy Agency forecasts that demand for oil will rise to 105 million bpd in 

2030 from 84.7 million bpd in 2008, an increase of 23%. Demand has long been expected to rise – what is most 

interesting is the shift from developed nations to developing ones. in OeCD member states, demand in 2030 will 

be slightly less than it was in 1980, while in non-OeCD member states demand will have grown by almost 180% 

from 1980 levels, driven by growth in Asia. Demand in india and China alone is expected to grow by 400% from 

2008 levels. what does that mean for our customers and the services we provide? it is no secret that demand 

from emerging economies will shape the face of our industry over the next twenty years. we have made a 

concerted effort to reinforce and expand all of our capabilities from both a technology perspective as well as 

appropriate geographical coverage to meet this growing need.

onsitE, on timE, anywhErE…

 >  Onsite reservoir fluid and flow assurance labs in the most demanding environments 

>  Fuel integrity Programmes have been deployed for the first time 
    in Asia: pilot programme implementation and success in Philippines

>  Fuel Survey Centre continues Global Fuel Surveys despite global slowdown in automotive industry

Constant currency revenue was up 1% to CHF 951 million with our operating margin increasing 20 basis points to 15.4% 
as a result of productivity improvements, cost controls and an improved service mix. Our unique global hub reporting system was 
well positioned to meet demand for seamless, twenty-four hour reporting systems matching the globalisation of supply chains. we 
are particularly proud of several important distinctions for health, safety and environmental performance which were awarded by our 
customers. Such efforts to enhance workplace safety and reporting systems continue to contribute to our ability to outperform the 
competition. For 2010, we have earmarked several capital projects that will improve our technical capabilities and capacity in support 
of forecasted increases in exploration and production spending in the sector.

financial pErformancE
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Our customers in the pharmaceutical and  
bio-pharmaceutical industries rely on us to 
provide them with outsourcing services on 
both the quality and safety of drug ingredients 
and the development process – from the early 
development stages until the commercialisation 
of finished products. Our Clinical Trials services 
and Quality Control testing activities help improve 
efficiency, reduce costs, shorten time to market 
and ensure the safety of pharmaceutical products.

lifE sciEncE 
sErvicEs
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(CHF million) 2009 2008

rEvEnUE 201.3 204.4

Change in % (1.5) 

opEratinG incomE (before exceptionals) 28.0 27.5

Change in % 1.8 

opEratinG marGin % (before exceptionals) 13.9 13.5

Global pharmaceutical and 
healthcare companies are faced 
with many, ever changing challenges. The 
development of quality control capabilities 
and processes that work across multiple 
manufacturing sites and that are located 
across different geographies is particularly 
vexing due to the different regulatory 
regimes governing manufacturing 
processes for the pharmaceutical industry. 

Outsourcing is a solution many companies 
utilise to handle their quality control 
workload. However, because many 
service partners tend to be local providers, 
harmonised quality control processes may 
not be the end result. Consequently, the 
selection of an outsourcing partner has 
implications beyond completing quality 
control tests, but extends into how quality 
systems, procedures and reports are 
harmonised company-wide. 

recently, we were able to provide a 
global customer with a harmonised 
outsourcing solution. After successfully 
engaging the customer in europe, we 
followed up with a presentation centred 
on microbiological testing. The customer 
was interested in our capabilities and was 
looking for a back-up laboratory due to 
an increase in demand. what became 
evident from our relationship was that 
there were opportunities to improve 
current workflows, not only through the 
outsourcing of their quality control tests 
within europe, but through one of their 
facilities in Asia as well. The customer had 
set up operations in Shanghai and this site 
was now sending products to europe for 
testing. we proposed using our laboratory 
in Shanghai to perform these analyses. 

For the customer, using a local 
outsourcing partner for their Shanghai 
operations for this test proved to be 

extremely valuable because it localised 
the testing content, reducing turn around 
time significantly. The customer wanted 
to have one global contractual agreement 
between the different testing laboratories 
and their own subsidiaries, and have one 
central service contact, a request we are 
uniquely positioned to provide. 

in this real-life scenario, we were able to 
leverage our wide geographical testing 
footprint to provide both global and local 
solutions for the customer. The success 
factors relied heavily on communication, 
both internally and externally, between 
operations and technical personnel and 
across all levels of both companies. 
what is described here – a streamlined, 
harmonised solution for a global 
customer – was implemented in less 
than eight months.

Speed and quality are more important than ever before in the global pharmaceutical industry. The life saving drugs one 
takes in North America are likely to have gone through clinical trials in europe and have been manufactured in Asia. 
in order to provide the best quality drugs at the lowest price in a short period of time, manufacturers are relying more 
and more on outsourcing and basing their operations in lower cost regions. To be successful, however, quality cannot 
be sacrificed, but keeping on top of the volume of inspections and differing regulatory obligations around the world 
can easily overwhelm any company’s internal quality control department. This is where the services we offer as a 
global solutions provider for testing and quality control and clinical research services really make a difference.

EliminatinG intErnational BarriErs for GloBal cUstomErs

>  Belgian laboratory achieved good manufacturing practice (GMP) accreditation for C 14 studies

 >  ran combined clinical research protocols to shorten the time from First-in-Man 
     to Proof-of-Concept for Alzheimer’s and Hepatitis pharmaceuticals

  >  Successful cooperation with global customer to offer 
       harmonised services between european and Asian laboratories

revenue increased 3.0% for the year on a constant currency basis as difficult market conditions in late phase clinical 
research were compensated by growth in quality control testing and bio-analysis laboratory testing volume. Our operating margin for 
the year increased 40 basis points to 13.9% as a result of increased capacity utilisation and productivity gains. The market for quality 
control testing proved resilient, with increases in North America, europe and Asia. in addition, we began increasing our laboratory 
capacity in North America and europe to meet demand. Our early phase clinical research operations performed well, but reduced 
demand for late phase clinical research trials remained weak due to a severely reduced amount of drugs reaching that stage. we 
continued to develop our immuno-analysis capabilities to support increased demand for biomarker and C14 radio-pharmacology.

financial pErformancE
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From textiles to appliances, furniture, food and 
electronics, our complete range of services 
facilitates the quality, compliance, and safety 
of consumer products across global supply 
chains. Our customers rely on our inspection 
and testing capabilities and product testing 
laboratories to help them comply with the 
regulations governing their products, as 
well as to ensure the integrity of the inputs 
received from their suppliers. Through product 
evaluation, factory assessment, product 
inspection and shipment control, we identify 
potential production pitfalls allowing 
faster market entry and compliance with  
any regulatory regime.

consUmEr tEstinG 
sErvicEs
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(CHF million) 2009 2008 1

rEvEnUE 789.0 733.0

Change in % 7.6 

opEratinG incomE (before exceptionals) 200.0 170.2

Change in % 17.5 

opEratinG marGin % (before exceptionals) 25.3 23.2

1. Restated 2008 data following changes in group organisation.

As economic pressures 
squeeze tier one automotive 
suppliers, companies are looking to reduce 
their engineering costs. For one customer 
with an engineering centre in Germany, 
we offered a solution, which let them 
secure access to their existing knowledge 
base while leveraging the benefits of a 
more diverse laboratory environment. 
By Up*sourcing™ their laboratory needs 
to SGS, we assumed all lab equipment 
and employees and relocated them to 
an existing SGS laboratory near their 
manufacturing base in Germany. This 
solution has allowed our customer to 
maintain access to years of expertise while 
providing an opportunity for using our 
global network of testing laboratories.

Our laboratories in China, Korea, 
North America, Taiwan and the UK 
are active members of the mobile 
telecommunications industry’s Global 
Certification Forum and PCS Type 
Certification review Board, which are 

currently undertaking the validation of 
new high-speed wireless communications 
test platforms. Known as Long Term 
evolution (LTe), the new standard will be 
used to certify mobile devices in the near 
future giving seamless connectivity at 
data speeds greater than 100 Mbps from 
the current 3G networks download speed 
of approximately 14 Mbps. Both groups 
include representatives from the largest 
network operators, including vodafone, 
verizon, AT&T, T-Mobile, O2 Telefonica 
and Orange and the top five mobile phone 
manufacturers Nokia, Samsung, LG, Sony 
ericsson and Motorola.

Cyanuric acid is essentially a 
non-toxic chemical useful in many 
industrial processes. when combined 
with melamine, another low-toxic 
substance, the resulting mix can cause 
the formation of kidney stones and be 
fatal, as evidenced by pet food and milk 
product scares over the past two years. 
in response to these crises, we perfected 

a testing methodology for cyanuric acid 
in our Bangkok competency centre and 
transferred the know-how to our testing 
laboratories around the world in support 
of our customers needs during this critical 
period. in addition, we challenged market 
perceptions that the melamine issue 
was limited to the dairy sector, extending 
protective checks to include all protein-
based products.

we have developed a global 
expertise and established a large 
network of testing chambers in Asia 
to help clients ensure their compliance 
with CArB – US regulations governing 
formaldehyde emissions from composite 
wood products – with the shortest 
possible turnaround time. 23 of our labs 
have been accredited by the US Consumer 
Product Safety Commission to offer global 
expertise and solutions, including safety/
risk assessments and certification to help 
manufacturers, retailers and importers 
meet this new stringent regulation.

As the global economy cautiously emerges from recession, demand for consumer goods is recovering, and with it the 
need for robust testing and inspection procedures and solutions – in these areas, we are constantly innovating. with 
a network of more than 100 laboratories in 36 countries exclusively dedicated to testing and inspecting consumer 
goods, we are at the forefront of developing new testing matrices and protocols for the testing of consumer products 
for compliance with a vast array of governmental and industry specific regulatory regimes. while memories of 
consumer product contaminations and food scares have started to fade, governments and industry need to be ever 
vigilant, maintaining a high standard of product safety, quality and integrity.

sharinG EXpErtisE

  >  Up*sourcing™ automotive testing expertise

 >  working on testing platforms for the 4th generation high-speed wireless technology 

   >  Pioneering new food safety protocols

we delivered constant currency revenue growth of 11.1% for the year, on the back of testing demand for the U.S. Consumer 
Product Safety improvement Act of 2008 and an overall increase in consumer safety regulation, dampening the effects of reduced 
factory audits and inspections and a weak electronic goods market. Our operating margin for the year increased to 25.3% due to 
our mix of services and global offering as well as tight cost control in weaker segments. During the year, the regulatory environment 
for consumer products safety continued to tighten in line with prior year trends. Despite difficult conditions in the consumer 
products markets, we continued to deploy capital in support of new initiatives, investing in additional capacity and capabilities in 
the USA, Germany, China and india. in the years to come the structural drivers for future testing volume will remain: changes and 
enhancements to consumer products safety legislation and continued consumer demand for product sustainability.

financial pErformancE
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The audit, certification, training and advisory services 
we provide our customers allow them to enhance their 
business processes, improve the performance of their 
management systems and people and gain a real advantage 
over the competition. Our mission is to help customers 
continue to improve in their path towards sustainable 
development. Partnering with a global leader opens the 
door to better performing processes, increasingly skilful 
talent, consistent and compliant supply chains and more 
sustainable customer relationships – all key components in 
attaining competitive advantage in the marketplace.

systEms & sErvicEs 
cErtification
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(CHF million) 2009 2008 1

rEvEnUE 367.3 366.5

Change in % 0.2 

opEratinG incomE (before exceptionals) 77.6 70.2

Change in % 10.5 

opEratinG marGin % (before exceptionals) 21.1 19.2

1. Restated 2008 data following changes in group organisation.

The Swedish company SeKAB, 
one of europe’s leading distributors of 
bioethanol, became the first company 
in the world to supply fully verified 
sustainable ethanol. SeKAB turned to 
us to help ensure that their production 
of ethanol from Brazilian sugarcane 
met specific requirements related to 
sustainability. The key outcome has been 
an increase consumer trust. recently, 
SeKAB was presented the Sustainable 
Bioethanol Award at the 2009 world 
Biofuels Markets Conference.

we were the first company to 
reach the milestone of having issued one 
thousand iSO 22000 certificates. Currently, 
with fifteen hundred SGS certificates 
issued and the widest global auditor 
network of its kind, we are in the best 

position to help the food manufacturing 
industry and their suppliers to comply with 
the requirements of the new FSSC 22000 
standard. The content of FSSC 22000 
was approved by the Global Food Safety 
initiative in May 2009 and it is largely 
based on the requirements of iSO 22000 
in combination with the requirements of 
the Publicly Available Specification 220 
(PAS 220), which will further ensure global 
food safety.

Our North American team 
became the first certification body in 
the world to be accredited to both The 
recycling industry Operating Standard 
(riOS) and The responsible recycling 
Standard (r2). riOS is the scrap recycling 
industry’s standard for integrated quality, 
environmental and health and safety 

management systems. r2 is a set of 
voluntary operational practices specific to 
electronic recyclers (e-recyclers) and their 
management of environmental, worker 
health and safety and security issues. 
e-recyclers, who certify to r2 Practices 
in addition to riOS, will highlight their 
performance in the handling of used 
equipment, end-of-life materials and 
information security.

AU Optronics Corporation, a 
Taiwanese flat panel display manufacturer 
became the world’s first television set 
manufacturer to have its products verified 
against the Publicly Available Specification 
2050 on carbon footprint measurement 
related to goods and services. The United 
Kingdom Accreditation Service certificate 
was issued by SGS.

in a world where competing products and services begin to look the same, it is the processes and systems behind them 

that make the real difference. whether it be serving guests in the hospitality industry, ensuring that your new medical 

devices get to market quickly and effectively, or that the food products you make are fresh and safe, it all comes down 

to the management systems in place and the investment you have made in the people who run them. The ability to 

understand the power of implementing management systems, and having them independently certified, will provide 

those organisations with high performing business processes and a sustainable advantage over their competitors.

improvinG procEssEs and EnsUrinG safEty

  >  ensuring sustainable ethanol production

   >  Food safety milestone with iSO 22000 and FSSC 22000 certification 

 >  Pioneer in helping manage sustainability issues in the recycling industry

in 2009, we delivered constant currency revenue growth of 4.8% to CHF 367 million. This growth was achieved across the 
entire SGS network, with all of our reporting regions posting comparable gains. we recorded particularly good performance in 
France, China and the greater Asia Pacific region. Our operating margin for the period increased to 21.1% driven by a favourable 
geographic mix and our ongoing efforts in productivity enhancements. we continued to prioritise and add to industry specific sectors 
in the certification market demonstrating growth potential, such as in the food supply chain, pharmaceutical sector and automotive 
supply chain. we have also initiated entry into new industry specific sectors, with sustainability related services such as forestry and 
energy management holding the most promise. in addition to our industry specific focus, we were able to expand our geographic 
network during the year, largely as a result of multi-national customer development.

financial pErformancE
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Serving customers in the energy, 
process and construction 
industries, our teams of engineers 
and technical experts ensure 
that the quality and safety of 
products or installations meet 
applicable requirements, whether 
they are regulatory, voluntary or 
customer specific. Our goal is to 
help improve integrity, quality and 
efficiency and ensure safe and 
healthy working conditions as well 
as to minimise the environmental 
impact of industry.

indUstrial  
sErvicEs
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(CHF million) 2009 2008

rEvEnUE 743.6 738.5

Change in % 0.7 

opEratinG incomE (before exceptionals) 103.4 105.5

Change in % (2.0) 

opEratinG marGin % (before exceptionals) 13.9 14.3

in hard-to-reach locations in 
the industrial sector such as offshore 
wind farms, industrial plants or buildings, 
inspectors and technicians can have 
difficulty accessing the location and 
completing their tasks. in these instances, 
industrial rope Access has proven itself 
as a reliable method of achieving a safe 
work position at height or in areas where 
access is difficult. 

The leading integrated palm oil producers 
in Malaysia usually schedule eight days 
of downtime for inspecting their splitter 
towers, which are accessed by means of 
traditional scaffolding. However, no more 
than four days were available for the 
current assessment of one of the plant’s 
the splitter towers. The company needed 
a solution and turned to the SGS rope 
Access team. with industrial rope access, 
a worker uses two ropes (a working 

rope and a back-up safety rope) and is 
permanently attached to both to prevent 
falls. Having prepared and approved all 
techniques and methods, the SGS rope 
Access team performed Dye-Penetrant 
Testing on all welded joints inside the 
splitter tower. Our two-man team was 
able to carry out the inspection, de-rig the 
ropes and prepare the inspection report in 
only two days, a record short downtime 
for the refinery.

During annual outages of 
Canada’s Deuterium Uranium (CANDU) 
type nuclear reactors, NDT inspectors are 
required to perform various specialised 
inspections.  An important one is the 
ultrasonic inspection of the Primary 
Heat Transport system feeder pipes on 
the reactor face. This test needs to be 
conducted at every shutdown because 

past experience has shown that these 
pipes can crack. These pipes carry the 
primary coolant required to cool the 
nuclear fuel. if one or more pipes rupture, 
operators would need to completely 
shutdown the reactor because without 
enough cooling water, a meltdown would 
be possible. For obvious reasons, it is 
essential to know whether cracks are 
developing in these pipes. Our team in 
Canada worked in conjunction with the 
nuclear industry to develop an advanced 
ultrasonic testing method using a robotic 
crawler for inspection of these feeder 
pipes. This method maximises the 
accuracy of the results while minimising 
the total exposure of operators to 
radiation. with this method, inspections 
can be performed much faster and more 
reliably than with traditional manual 
testing, protecting worker health and 
ensuring accurate test results.

As emerging markets continue to develop in Asia, Africa and South America, the need for reliable and safe civil and 
industrial infrastructure continues to grow. Demand is also being driven by the maintenance or replacement of aging 
infrastructure in europe and North America, as well as demand for traditional and alternative sources of energy. whether 
it be new and innovative ways to conduct Non-Destructive Testing, verifying installations of renewable energy sources 
such as wind turbines or alternative fuel refineries, or helping ensure the financing of large infrastructure projects, the 
cutting edge solutions we provide will continue to meet the needs of our customers, now and in the future.

innovatinG tEstinG procEdUrEs in hard to rEach placEs

>  expertise in industrial rope Access leads to record short downtime for palm oil refinery

  >  Non-Destructive Testing (NDT) on essential infrastructure within nuclear reactors

 >  wind energy Competence Centre involved in 18 offshore wind farm projects in 
     Germany after accreditation to new standard from German government

we delivered full year revenue growth of 6.4% to CHF 744 million on a constant currency basis. Our full year operating 
margin was 13.9%, 40 basis points below the prior year, but an increase of 60 basis points on a 2009 semester basis as a result 
of an improved service mix, volume and cost alignment measures. in a volatile operating market, the strength and diversity of our 
service offering, geographic spread and prior period acquisition strategy enabled us to post top line growth. Our focus on the power 
generation and alternative energy sectors was augmented during the year with capital investments undertaken in europe and  
China in support of the latest demand for testing and inspection technologies. Activity in west and North Africa, as well as in the 
Middle east, is forecasted to pick up progressively during the coming year as a result of increased demand for energy sources.

financial pErformancE
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we support governments 
and industry in developing 
sustainable solutions, 
offering them guidance and 
assistance in complying with 
environmental regulations 
and in assessing their 
environmental performance. 
we provide state-of-the-art 
laboratory and monitoring 
facilities with experienced 
and knowledgeable 
consultants, together with 
a comprehensive range of 
specialised environmental 
services such as: impact 
assessments, auditing, 
training, air and water quality 
testing and a wide variety of 
climate change services.

EnvironmEntal 
sErvicEs
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(CHF million) 2009 2008

rEvEnUE 287.7 296.4

Change in % (2.9) 

opEratinG incomE (before exceptionals) 33.6 31.4

Change in % 7.0 

opEratinG marGin % (before exceptionals) 11.7 10.6

we have developed a new 
specialised testing method for 
identifying the source of hydrocarbon 
based contamination. Our Hydrocarbon 
Fingerprinting process is applicable 
to most petroleum products including 
leaded and unleaded gasoline, aviation 
fuels, kerosene, diesel, lubricants oils 
and fuel oils. This new testing process 
can: identify the product spilled; 
give an estimate of its age and the 
type of aging (e.g., water washing, 
biodegradation, etc.); and determine if 
there are any additives present, such 
as MTBe. Our Fingerprinting report 
can be used to: identify the source of 
contamination; determine the timeframe 
of the contamination and who or what 
is responsible; and track movement and 
degradation of the products and plumes 
over the various contaminated sites.

For example, following the discovery 
of crude oil washed up along a section 
of coastline, samples of fuels and oils 

were collected from a number of suspect 
vessels in the area. The samples were 
fingerprinted and compared to the 
fingerprint of the spill. One of the vessels 
was confirmed as being the source of 
the contamination. Numerous samples 
were then collected and fingerprinted to 
determine the extent of the spill. Following 
the cleanup, samples were collected 
and fingerprinted to determine the 
effectiveness of the cleanup operation. 

Unlike fossil fuels, burning biomass 
is part of the natural carbon cycle. when 
biomass is used as a fuel, carbon stored 
in renewable organic material is released 
into the atmosphere as biogenic CO2 
emissions. it is captured back into the 
natural carbon cycle as the biomass grows 
back. As a result, using biomass as a fuel 
helps maintain a constant level of carbon 
in the environment and plays an important 
role in balancing earth’s natural carbon 
cycle. Burning a mixture of biomass and 
fossil fuel can significantly reduce fossil 

fuel consumption and lower the total 
carbon footprint.

when the two fuels are burned together, 
an accurate breakdown of what fraction 
of the emissions are biogenic CO2 
can be achieved using the process of 
radiocarbon dating. This is possible 
because biogenic CO2 emissions contain 
carbon-14 isotopes and fossil fuel CO2 
emissions do not. Companies with large 
amounts of emissions arising from partly 
biogenic materials can greatly benefit 
by differentiating the fraction that is 
attributable to biogenic versus fossil CO2.

Due to the many uncertainties associated 
with mixed-fuel sampling and analysis, 
radiocarbon dating is recognised as a 
much more accurate and cost-effective 
way to determine biogenic CO2. Through 
our emission monitoring services, we 
offer semi-continuous determination of 
biogenic CO2 emissions over the short 
or long-term.

Our global ecosystem, encompassing air, water, land and habitats supporting plant and animal life is affected daily by 
both natural and human factors. environmental pollution is one of them. it affects people from all walks of life equally 
and will threaten our public health worldwide if not controlled and abated. while the recent UN climate-change summit 
in Copenhagen left some disappointed, the carbon trading market in europe continues to grow, and potential legislation 
in the US would only add to this growth. As governments and international organisations encourage industries to 
make environmental management part of their regular operations, we will continue to provide advanced and innovative 
solutions, which enable prevention, monitoring and remediation.

EnvironmEntal dEtEctivEs at work

 >  Hydrocarbon fingerprinting allowing for the identification of fuel contaminations

  >  Determining level of biogenic CO2 emissions through radiocarbon dating

>  extended global network to offer services in un-serviced areas such as Southern Sudan 
    (drinking water quality analysis) and Angola (exposure monitoring for oil industry employees)

we delivered constant currency revenue growth for the year of 2.0% as markets in europe and North America remained 
difficult. All of our other reporting regions posted year-over-year top line expansion, and our operating margin increased to 11.7%.  
in 2009, we completed several capacity expansion and laboratory consolidation projects in italy, Taiwan, China and Australia.  
in the fourth quarter we acquired eKO-PrOJeKT, a leading provider of environmental testing in Poland which makes us the leader in 
commercial environmental testing in the country and provides a platform for us to introduce new services and testing technologies 
from our operations throughout europe. Going forward, we will place a particular focus on the areas of stack emissions monitoring, 
dioxin testing and high throughput laboratory tests.

financial pErformancE
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aUtomotivE 
sErvicEs

we help every player in the automotive industry 
improve performance and reduce risk. Our 
services focus on the design, construction and 
operation of motor vehicle inspection solutions at 
every step of the value chain, all over the world. 
Governments, manufacturers and financing and 
insurance companies, as well as consumers, 
rely on our independent, accurate and secure 
solutions to limit damages, increase road safety 
and improve remarketing of used cars.
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(CHF million) 2009 2008

rEvEnUE 266.2 292.6

Change in % (9.0) 

opEratinG incomE (before exceptionals) 42.4 47.7

Change in % (11.1) 

opEratinG marGin % (before exceptionals) 15.9 16.3

in 2008, the Government of 
Albania issued an invitation to bid for 
the privatisation of the state operated 
Periodic vehicle inspection Programme. 
Together with several other bidders, SGS 
submitted an offer and was eventually 
awarded a 10-year concession by the 
Ministry of Transport of Albania. Under 
this contract, we will inspect a total 
of 250 000 vehicles in the first year 
of testing alone. in Albania, all private 
vehicles are inspected once a year and 
public vehicles undergo inspection twice a 
year. For the Ministry this is an important 
privatisation to align Periodic Mandatory 
vehicle inspection with modern european 
requirements as well as to improve road 
safety and reduce emissions. 

we have now taken over and started 
upgrading all of the existing Test Centres 
to bring them in line with european 
Testing Standards, while the planning 
of a new six lane Test Centre in Tirana 

has commenced. All existing staff have 
been transferred to SGS and are being 
trained on new testing equipment and 
procedures. For this, we have brought 
resources from numerous SGS operations 
across europe and the technology transfer 
and capacity building are now underway.

we have developed new 
services to identify premium pre-owned 
vehicles as being in compliance with the high 
standards defined by a car manufacturer. 
This service applies to all CPO (Certified 
Pre-Owned) Programmes and is now being 
offered by SGS worldwide. in brief, an SGS 
Call Centre contacts the dealership to inform 
them of a Field Consultant visit anytime in 
the next few days.

within 24 hours of the intended visit the 
SGS Call Centre confirms the specific 
appointment. This limits time for vehicle 
staging, or clean-up of sub-standard 
vehicles/processes.

Our team of highly trained Field 
Consultants then proceeds to audit the 
processes at the dealership e.g., signage, 
vehicle location, point of sale items, etc.

They complete a review of the file 
paperwork specific to several randomly 
selected vehicles that have been 
put into the CPO Programme by the 
dealership. The complete vehicle and 
Process compliance is scored using our 
proprietary scoring system, using an SGS 
CPO software application.

This application automatically calculates 
the results and the Field Consultant 
reviews the overall score immediately 
with the Dealership Management who 
also receives a copy of the report. 
Concurrently the data is loaded onto a 
database, which enables each of the 
interested parties to review the results 
anywhere in the world.

As the global automotive industry recovers in 2010, new car registrations are expected to rise by nearly 5%. Most of 
this growth will come from Asia and North America, while growth in europe is expected to be meagre. The industry has 
been so impacted by the recession, that many manufacturers and suppliers are being forced to rethink their business 
models while at the same time incorporating newer technologies to reduce the environmental impact of their vehicles. in 
this challenging time for the industry, we will continue to offer quality and innovative services, which are responsive, cost 
effective and tailored to individual requirements and allow the provision of standardised and comprehensive solutions to 
our customers.

safEty and QUality for drivErs

 >  New vehicle inspection services contract for Albania

  >  Public vehicle inspection and licensing services provided for taxis in ireland

>  New Certified Pre-Owned vehicle audit services allowing for the identification 
    of high standard compliant cars

Our constant currency revenues declined 4.6% to CHF 266 million as a result of the difficult economic conditions in 
the automotive industry and a reduction in government outsourced service volumes, particularly in ireland in driver testing. Our 
operating margin for the year was flat at 15.9%, on a constant currency basis, as a result of cost containment initiatives. During the 
year, statutory services performed as expected with our concessions and contracts in western europe, Africa, South America and 
the United States all delivering consistent year-over-year improvements. The market for the commercialisation and privatisation of 
statutory safety inspection in the automotive sector should demonstrate signs of improvement in the coming year. initiatives are 
underway to replicate our successful efforts for taxi inspections in europe and truck inspections in markets with developing safety 
regulation requirements.

financial pErformancE
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we support governments, institutions and 
partner organisations by verifying trade 
information, establishing electronic business 
processing and scanning operations, and 
assessing efficiency and legal compliance in aid 
delivery schemes and forestry operations. Our 
commitment is to enhance the enforcement of 
regulations, stimulate economic growth, market 
visibility and accountability for our customers.

GovErnmEnts 
& institUtions 
sErvicEs
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(CHF million) 2009 2008

rEvEnUE 214.0 211.9

Change in % 1.0 

opEratinG incomE (before exceptionals) 39.3 35.9

Change in % 9.5 

opEratinG marGin % (before exceptionals) 18.4 16.9

Product Conformity 
Assessment (PCA) is a solution 
designed to assist Governments 
facing problems with the importation 
of substandard products that may put 
their citizens’ health and safety at risk. 
it provides confidence that imported 
products meet the requirements of 
technical regulations and standards 
and thus prevents the importation of 
dangerous or substandard goods. This 
also prevents the use of deceptive 
practices and reduces the risk of the local 
market becoming the dumping ground for 
unsafe and counterfeit products.

PCA plays a critical role in building 
confidence for sustainable development 
and trade. it is a key to trade facilitation, 
allows the integration of manufacturers 
and traders into the global economy and 
overcomes the risk of rejection of their 
products in the export market. it also 
helps them in solving quality, conformity 
and certification problems. it accelerates 

goods clearance in the importing country 
as no further testing is required on arrival.

we have been active in the field of 
PCA since 1993, when we began our 
first mandate on behalf of the russian 
Federation (GOST-r). Since then we have 
successfully operated PCA programmes 
in more than ten countries with the 
addition of new mandates in three 
countries in 2009 alone. in addition, we 
have developed a number of Technical 
excellence Centres to ensure effective 
implementation of PCA programmes, 
which have highly qualified certification 
experts across all consumer and 
commercial goods as well experts in 
counterfeit detection.

in the field of container 
scanning, we provide the whole 
range of services from design feasibility 
and equipment selection, operator 
recruitment, training and certification 
to operation and maintenance of any 
type of cargo scanner worldwide. 

in certain circumstances we offer a 
turnkey approach to installation and 
commissioning, providing build, own, 
operate and transfer solutions (BOOT).

Under a mandate from the Bangladeshi 
government, we are operating three ‘Fast 
Scan’ scanners with a scanning capacity 
of 120 scans per hour in order to scan all 
containers coming into the port city of 
Chittagong. The scanners are re-locatable 
and can be deployed to other areas of the 
port as required. A fully portable scanner 
can be used anywhere within the seaport 
for special operations upon the decision 
of the Bangladeshi customs authorities. 
The four scanners are now operating 
24/7 in order to fulfil their double 
objectives of trade facilitation and security 
enhancement.

As well as employing 75 local operators, 
we have also implemented a Customs 
Scanning Academy where several 
hundred Bangladeshi Customs Officers 
will be trained and certified by SGS during 
the six-year mandate. 

After a difficult 2009, where global trade contracted by more than 9%, 2010 will see moderate to low growth. Most of 
this growth, however, will be fuelled by emerging economies, with China growing at around 8.6%. while global trade is in 
the process of recovery, questions remain about whether or not efforts to restart global trade talks under the wTO will be 
successful. while there are many obstacles, as the global economy rebounds and more and more goods are transported 
around the world, the quality and safety of these products needs to be ensured by governments, retailers and consumers alike.

protEctinG consUmErs and GovErnmEnts

 >  Safeguarding trade and people with product conformity assessment

  >  Facilitating trade and enhancing security using scanning technology

>  Providing a chain-of-custody information system for the Johannesburg Fresh Produce Market, 
    the largest fresh produce market in Africa

we delivered constant currency revenue growth of 7.3% to CHF 214 million on the back of key contract wins and an 
attractive market for service solutions in support of governmental bodies. Our operating margin for the period increased to 18.4% as 
we leveraged our existing geographic network and installed iT base to rollout new services. revenue in our pre-shipment inspection 
(PSi) service declined as a result of the reduction of global trade volumes. Nevertheless, all of our PSi contracts performed 
satisfactorily as we were able to adapt our operating costs to the inspection volumes. we also won new mandates for product 
conformity assessment programmes in Algeria, Nigeria and egypt and market share was improved in Saudi Arabia. in Liberia, our 
forestry-monitoring contract received additional donor aid for scope expansion. These successful projects have created significant 
momentum in the international community as these organisations seek to tie donor aid programmes to modernisation schemes, 
which result in sustainable improvement at the local level.

financial pErformancE
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incandescent bulbs have an average lifespan of   

 1 000 hours 
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cfl bulbs have an average  lifespan of 

15 000 hours 
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SgS Corporate governance policies are designed to maximise shareholder value by defining clear and efficient 

decision processes, fostering a climate of performance and accountability among managers and employees alike 

and aligning employees’ remuneration with the long-term interests of shareholders.

In this report, the Board of Directors of SgS sets out the salient group policies in compliance with the Corporate 

governance Directive and related Commentary issued by the SIX Swiss exchange, as updated and with due 

consideration to best practices in matters of disclosure, such as the Swiss Code of Best practice for Corporate 

governance issued by economiesuisse.

group structure 
and shareholders

1.1. group structure

SgS Sa, registered in geneva (CH), 
also referred to as the “Company”, is 
the ultimate holding company of the 
group (hereinafter to include SgS Sa, 
its direct and indirect subsidiaries, and 
entities under its significant influence), 
which provides independent inspection, 
verification, testing, certification and 
quality assurance services through its 
worldwide network of subsidiaries, 
branches and agencies.

the shares of SgS Sa are listed on the 
SIX Swiss exchange and are traded on 
SWX europe (Swiss Security  
number: 249745; ISIn: 
CH0002497458). on 31 December 
2009, SgS Sa had a market 
capitalisation of CHF 10 568 million.

none of the companies under the direct 
or indirect control of SgS Sa has listed its 
shares on any stock exchange or has any 
of its securities listed on any exchange. 

the principal entities consolidated within 
the group are listed on pages 151 to 154 
of the annual report, with indications 
regarding their share capital, the 
percentage of shares controlled directly 
or indirectly by SgS Sa, their registered 

office or their principal place of business.

Details of material acquisitions made by 
the SgS group during 2009 are provided 
in note 3 to the SgS group results 
(page 95).

operationally, the group is divided into 
10 regions which are responsible for the 
local execution of the SgS businesses 
and the implementation of group 
policies and strategies.

at 31 December 2009, the geographic 
operations were:

Europe, Africa, Middle East

•	 Western europe

•	 Central & north West europe

•	 South east europe

•	 eastern europe & Middle east

•	 africa

Americas

•	 north america

•	 South america

Asia Pacific

•	 east asia

•	 China & Hong Kong

• South east asia & pacific

each operating area is led by a Chief 
operating officer who is a member of 
the group’s operations Council.

the group is also structured into 10 
lines of business. each business is in 
charge of the global development of 
group activities in its own sphere of 
specialisation and of the execution of 
strategies in conjunction and with the 

support of the Chief operating officers:

• agricultural

• Minerals

• oil, gas & Chemicals

• Life Science

• Consumer testing

• Systems & Services Certification

• Industrial

• environmental

• automotive

• governments & Institutions

each line of business is placed under 
the leadership of an executive vice 
president who is also a member of the 
operations Council.

1.2. significant shareholders

as at 31 December 2009, exor held 
15.00% (2008: 15.00%), Mr. august 
von Finck and members of his family 
acting in concert held 14.96%  
(2008: 25.05%), allianz Se held 7.40% 
(2008: 7.40%), the Capital group 
Companies held 3.51% (2008: less than 
3%) and the Bank of new York Mellon 
Corporation held 3.01% (2008: 3.01%) 
of the share capital and voting rights of 
the Company. at the same date,  
SgS group held 4.12% of the share 
capital of the Company (2008: 4.46%).

1.3. cross-shareholdings

neither SgS Sa nor its direct and indirect 
subsidiaries has any cross-shareholding 
in any other entity, whether publicly 
traded or privately held.

1

introduction
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capital structure

2.1. issued share capital

SgS Sa has a share capital of  
CHF 7 822 436 fully paid-in and divided 
into 7 822 436 registered shares of a  
par value of CHF 1.

on 31 December 2009, SgS Sa  
held directly or indirectly,  
322 550 treasury shares.

In 2009, 33 638 treasury shares were 
released to cover option rights. the treasury 
shares released to cover option rights were 
sold at an average price of CHF 734.96.

During the year, 7 188 treasury shares 
were purchased for an average price  
of CHF 1 289.

2.2. authorised and  

conditional share capital

the Board of Directors has the authority 
to increase the share capital of the 
Company by a maximum of 500 000 
registered shares of a par value of  
CHF 1 each, corresponding to a 
maximum increase of CHF 500 000 in 
share capital. the Board is mandated 
to issue the new shares at the market 
conditions prevailing at the time of 
issue. In the event that the new shares 
are issued for an acquisition, the Board 
is authorised to waive the shareholders’ 
preferential right of subscription or to 
allocate such subscription rights to third 
parties. the authority delegated by the 
shareholders to the Board of Directors  
to increase the share capital is valid until 
24 March 2011.

the shareholders have conditionally 
approved an increase of share capital in 
the amount of CHF 1 100 000 divided 
into 1 100 000 registered shares of a par 
value of CHF 1 each. this conditional 
share capital increase is intended 
to procure the necessary shares to 
satisfy employee share option plans 
and option or conversion rights to be 
incorporated in convertible bonds or 
similar equity-linked instruments that 
the Board is authorised to issue. the 
right to subscribe to such conditional 
capital is reserved to beneficiaries 
of employee share option plans and 

holders of convertible bonds or similar 
debt instruments and therefore excludes 
shareholders’ preferential rights of 
subscription. the Board is authorised  
to determine the timing and conditions 
of such issues, provided that they  
reflect prevailing market conditions.  
the term of exercise of the options  
or conversion rights may not exceed  
10 years from the date of issuance of 
the equity-linked instruments.

2.3. changes in capital

the shareholders increased the 
conditional capital from CHF 1 000 000 
to CHF 1 100 000 on 19 March 2007.

no other changes in the Company share 
capital were implemented in the last 
three years.

2.4. shares and  

participation certificates

as at 31 December 2009, the Company 
had 7 822 436 fully paid-in shares in issue, 
each with a par value of CHF 1. all shares, 
other than treasury shares held directly  
or indirectly by SgS Sa, participate 
equally in the dividends declared by the 
Company and have equal voting rights.

the Company has not issued any 
participation certificates (bons de 
participation/partizipationsscheine).

2.5. profit sharing certificates

the Company has not issued any profit 
sharing certificates.

2.6. liMitations on  

transferabilitY and adMissibilitY 

of noMinee registrations

SgS Sa does not limit in any way the 
transferability of its shares. registration 
of shares held by nominees is not 
allowed according to the Company’s 
articles of association, except by special 
resolution of the Board of Directors.  
By decision of the Board, made public 
in a note issued by Sag (then Sega) on 
4 october 2001, the Company’s shares 
can be registered in the name of a 
nominee acting in a fiduciary capacity  
for an undisclosed principal. Such 
shares do not carry voting rights except 
with the approval of the Board of 
Directors. on 23 March 2005, the Board 
of Directors decided to approve the 
registration of such shares with voting 
rights up to 5% of the share capital of 
the Company in the aggregate. this 
decision was communicated to Sag.

the Company has a single class of shares 
and no privilege, statutory or otherwise, 
has been granted to any shareholder.

2.7. convertible bonds and 

Warrants/options

no convertible bonds have been issued 
by the Company or by any entity 
under its direct or indirect control. 
options granted to senior managers 
and Directors of the group are detailed 
under section 5. Disclosure of all options 
outstanding is provided in note 32 of 
the consolidated financial statements of 
the group. no other options or similar 
instruments have been issued by the 
Company or any of the group entities.

board of directors
the Board of Directors convenes 
regularly scheduled meetings and 
meets as often as otherwise required, in 
person or by phone conference. It may 
pass resolutions by written consent.

3.1. MeMbers of the  

board of directors 

In 2009, pascal Lebard stepped down 
from the Board with effect on the date 
of the annual general Meeting. on that 
date, peter Kalantzis and Carlo Barel di 
Sant’albano were elected to the Board 
of Directors of the Company. the Board 
comprises eight non-executive Directors 
(including the Chairman).

the following persons acted as 
Members of the Board of Directors 
during 2009:

SErgio MArCHioNNE 
Canadian/italian (1952)

Chairman

Chairman of the audit Committee

Chairman of the nomination and 
remuneration Committee

Chairman of the professional  
Conduct Committee

2

3
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Date of appointment to the Board

May 2001

Professional background

CEo Fiat group & Chrysler inc.

TiBErTo ruy BrANDoLiNi D’ADDA 

italian (1948)

Member of the nomination and 
remuneration Committee

Date of appointment to the Board

March 2005

Professional background

Chairman Sequana

AuguST voN FiNCK 

german (1930)

Member of the nomination and 
remuneration Committee

Date of appointment to the Board

october 1998

Professional background

industrialist

AuguST FrANçoiS voN FiNCK 

Swiss (1968)

Member of the audit Committee

Date of appointment to the Board

May 2002

Professional background

industrialist

PETEr KALANTZiS (as of March 2009)

Swiss / greek (1945)

Member of the audit Committee

Date of appointment to the Board

March 2009

Professional background

Economist, Consultant

PASCAL LEBArD (until March 2009)

French (1962)

Member of the audit Committee

Date of appointment to the Board

March 2005

Professional background

CEo Sequana

SHELBy r. Du PASQuiEr 

Swiss (1960)

Member of the professional Conduct 
Committee

Date of appointment to the Board

March 2006

Professional background

Attorney at law

THoMAS LiMBErgEr 

german (1967)

Date of appointment to the Board

March 2008

Professional background

CEo von roll Ag

CArLo BArEL Di SANT’ALBANo 

(as of March 2009)

italian (1964)

Member of the audit Committee

Date of appointment to the Board

March 2009

Professional background

CEo Exor SpA

the SgS group general Counsel, 
olivier Merkt, acts as the Company 
Secretary; he is not a Member of the 
Board of Directors.

additional biographical information on 
the Members of the Board of Directors 
may be viewed on the group website, 
http://www.sgs.com/about_sgs/
management/boardofdirectors.htm, 
which is regularly updated.

the Directors bring a wide range of 
experience and skills to the Board. 
they participate fully in decisions 
on key issues facing the group. the 

Board undertakes a periodic review 
of the Directors’ interests in which 
all potential or perceived conflicts 
of interests and issues relevant to 
their independence are considered. 
Based on this review, the Board has 
concluded that all the non-executive 
Directors (including the Chairman) 
are independent from management 
and free of any relationship that could 
materially interfere with the exercise 
of their independent judgement. With 
the exception of Sergio Marchionne, 
who was Chief executive officer 
of the group between February 
2002 and June 2004, none of the 
Directors or their close relatives has 
or had any management responsibility 
within the SgS group. none of the 
Members of the Board of Directors 
or their close relatives has or had any 
material business connections with the 
Company or its affiliated companies. 
the remuneration of the Members of 
the Board of Directors is detailed under 
section 5.2.3.

3.2. other activities and functions 

the following list discloses all material 
activities in governing and supervisory 
boards, management positions and 
consultancy functions, official tenures 
and political engagements of each  
Board Member, both in Switzerland  
and abroad, as at 31 December 2009  
(an * denotes a listed company).

SErgio MArCHioNNE

Major Board assignments

*Fiat S.p.A., Turin (iT)

Member of the Board since 2003

Chief Executive officer since 2004

*uBS SA, Zürich (CH)

Member of the Board since 2007

vice-Chairman of the Board since 2008

*CNH global N.v., Amsterdam (NL)

Chairman of the Board since 2006

*Philip Morris international SA, 

Lausanne (CH)

Member of the Board since 2008

Chrysler inc., Mount Auburn, Michigan (uSA)

Chief Executive officer since 2009



69

C
o

r
p

o
r

a
te

 g
o

v
e

r
n

a
n

C
e

Confindustria, rome (iT)

Member of the general Council 

since 2006

European Automobile Manufacturers’

Association (ACEA), Brussels (BE)

Member of the Board since 2006

TiBErTo ruy BrANDoLiNi D’ADDA

Major Board assignments

EXor investissements SA,

Luxembourg (Lu)

Chairman of the Board since 2007

*Sequana SA, Paris (Fr)

Chairman of the Board since 2005

*EXor S.p.A., Turin (iT)

vice-Chairman since 1981

giovanni Agnelli e C., Turin (iT)

Member of the Board since 2004

*Fiat S.p.A., Turin (iT)

Member of the Board since 2004

*vittoria Assicurazioni S.p.A., Milan (iT)

Member of the Board since 2004

Antalis international SAS, Paris (Fr)

Member of the Supervisory Board 

since 2005

ArjoWiggins SAS, issy les Moulineaux (Fr)

Member of the Supervisory Board 

since 2005

AuguST voN FiNCK

Major Board assignment

generali Holding vienna Ag, vienna (AT)

Member of the Board since 1974

AuguST FrANçoiS voN FiNCK

Major Board assignments

*Custodia Holding, Munich (DE)

Member of the Board since 1999

Carlton Holding, Allschwil (CH)

Member of the Board since 2001

*Staatl. Mineralbrunnen Ag, 

Bad Brückenau (DE)

Member of the Board since May 2001

Bank von roll, Zürich (CH)

vice-President of the Board since 2009

PETEr KALANTZiS

Major Board assignments

Mövenpick Holding Ag, Cham (CH)

Chairman of the Board since 2001

Clair Ag, Cham (CH)

Chairman of the Board since 2004

PrivatAir Holding SA, geneva (CH)

Chairman of the Board since 2001

*CNH global Nv, Amsterdam (NL)

Member of the Board since 2006

*Lamda Development Ltd, Athens (gr)

Member of the Board since 2004

Paneuropean oil and industrial Holdings SA, 

Luxembourg (Lu)

Member of the Board since 2002

*von roll Holding Ag, gerlafingen (CH)

 Member of the Board since 2007

Transbalkan Pipeline Bv, Amsterdam (NL)

Member of the Supervisory Board since 2008

Hardstone Services SA, geneva (CH)

Member of the Board since 2009

SHELBy r. Du PASQuiEr

Major Board assignment

*Aygaz AS, istanbul (Tr)

Member of the Board since 1998

THoMAS LiMBErgEr

Major Board assignments

*von roll Holding Ag, Au/Wädenswil (CH)

Chief Executive officer and 

Member of the Board since 2007

Mövenpick Hotels & resorts, 

glattbrugg (CH)

Member of the Board since 2007

CArLo BArEL Di SANT’ALBANo

Major Board assignments

*intesa SanPaolo S.p.A. Turin (iT)

Member of the Supervisory Board since 2007

*Fiat S.p.A. Turin (iT) 

Member of the Board since 2006

*Sequana Capital, Paris (Fr)

Member of the Board since 2006

Cushman & Wakefield, New york (uS)

Member of the Board since 2007

Juventus, Turin (iT)

Member of the Board since 2006

vision investment Management (HK)

Member of the Board since 2007

3.3. cross involveMent 

no members of the Board of Directors or 
of the operations Council are members 
of executive bodies of entities or 
organisations with which the group has 
material business or commercial relations.
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3.4. elections and terMs of office 

the articles of association of SgS 
Sa provide that the Members of the 
Board of Directors are elected by the 
shareholders for a maximum tenure of 
four years. each Member of the Board 
is individually elected at the annual 
general Meeting of Shareholders. there 
is no limit to the number of terms a 
Director may serve. the tenure of all 
the current Board Members will expire 
at the 2010 annual general Meeting of 
Shareholders, at which time all Board 
positions will be subject to election by 
the shareholders. there is no provision 
for partial, rotating or staggered renewal 
of the Board of Directors. By-elections 
may be held before the end of the term 
of office in the event of vacancies.

the initial date of appointment of each 
Board Member is indicated in section 3.1.

3.5. internal  

organisational structure 

the duties of the Board of Directors 
and its Committees are defined in the 
Company’s internal regulations which 
are reviewed periodically. they set out 
all matters reserved for decision by the 
Board of Directors. In addition to the 
decisions reserved by Swiss company 
law, the Board of Directors approves 
the group’s strategies and key business 
policies, investments, acquisitions, 
disposals and commitments in excess  
of delegated limits.

the Members of the Board of Directors 
are briefed in advance of Board 
meetings on matters to be addressed 
at the meeting and each Board member 
receives monthly reports on the group’s 
operational results and financial position. 
they are regularly updated on key 
aspects of the group’s business and 
other material issues. the Board of 
Directors meets with all members of 
the operations Council at least twice 
a year. the Chief executive officer, 
Chief Financial officer and general 
Counsel & Chief Compliance officer 
(Senior Management) attend all the 
Board of Directors meetings, while other 
operations Council members attend from 
time to time to discuss matters under 
their direct responsibility. the Board of 
Directors held six meetings in 2009.  
It also passed one resolution in writing.

3.5.1. Task allocation

the Board of Directors elects at the 
beginning of each term, at its first 
meeting after the annual general 
shareholders’ meeting, its Chairman, 
currently Sergio Marchionne (see section 
3.1.) and the members of its committees.

3.5.2. Committees

the Board has established the  
following committees:

• nomination and remuneration

• audit

• professional Conduct

each committee acts within terms of 
reference set by the Board in the internal 
regulations and the minutes of their 
meetings are available to all Directors. 
the Chairman of the Board also chairs 
each of the Board Committees.

Section 3.1 indicates the membership  
of each Board Committee.

Nomination and  

remuneration Committee

Section 5.1. of this report describes 
the terms of reference and activities 
during 2009 of the nomination and 
remuneration Committee. In 2009, 
the Committee held one meeting and 
passed one resolution in writing.

Audit Committee

the Committee assists the Board 
of Directors in discharging its duties 
regarding financial reporting, including 
considering the appropriateness of 
accounting policies, the adequacy of 
internal controls and risk management, 
regulatory compliance and the 
effectiveness of the internal and external 
auditors. the Committee receives 
reports from and meets regularly 
with the group’s internal and external 
auditors. the head of internal audit 
attends all audit Committee meetings. 
the Committee reports regularly to the 
Board. In 2009, the audit Committee 
held three meetings.

Professional Conduct Committee

the professional Conduct Committee 
assists the Board of Directors and 
Management in delineating policies 
relating to professional conduct and 
oversees their implementation. the 
group’s professional conduct policies 
are embodied in a Code of Integrity and 

professional Conduct which sets out 
the principles governing the business 
conduct required by the whole SgS 
group. these principles reflect the 
Business principles for Countering 
Bribery issued by transparency 
International and Social accountability 
International and incorporate the 
rules adopted by the International 
Federation of Inspection agencies 
(IFIa), the professional association for 
the inspection industry. the Committee 
met twice in 2009 and passed several 
resolutions in writing.

In addition to the Board Members 
indicated in the chart in section 3.1., the 
professional Conduct Committee also 
comprises the Chief executive officer and 
the Chief Compliance officer. the head 
of Internal audit attends all professional 
Conduct Committee meetings.

3.5.3. Work methods

the Board of Directors is the highest 
governing body within the group.  
It assumes all authorities which are not 
reserved by law to the general Meeting 
of Shareholders.

the Chairman plans and defines the 
agenda of the meetings of the Board and 
its Committees. each Board Member 
has the right to request the convocation 
of a meeting or the inclusion of an 
item for discussion and decision on 
the agenda of a meeting. Board and 
Committee members receive supporting 
documents in advance of the meetings 
and are entitled to request information 
from the Management in order to assist 
in the preparation of the meetings.

to be adopted, resolutions need a 
majority vote of the members of the 
Board or Committee, with the Chairman 
having a casting vote.

3.6. definition of areas  

of responsibilitY 

the Board of Directors is in charge of 
the ultimate direction of the group. 
the Board discharges all duties which 
are reserved by law to its authority. In 
particular, the Board: 

• Leads and supervises ultimately 
the conduct, management and 
supervision of the group

• Determines the group’s organisation

• assesses risks facing the business 
and reviews risk management and 
mitigation policies
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• appoints and removes the group’s 
Chief executive officer and other 
members of the Management

• Defines the group accounting and 
control principles

• Decides on major acquisitions, 
investments and disposals

• Discusses and approves the group 
strategy, financial statements and 
annual budgets

• prepares the general Meetings of 
Shareholders and implements the 
shareholders’ resolutions

• notifies the judge in the event of 
insolvency of the Company, as 
required under Swiss law

In accordance with the Company’s 
internal regulations available at  
www.sgs.com/boardregulations, 
operational management of the group 
is the responsibility of the operations 
Council, a function which the Board 
of Directors has delegated. the 
operations Council has the authority 
and responsibility to decide on all issues 
which are not reserved to the Board of 
Directors. In the event of uncertainty 
on a particular issue regarding the 
delineation of responsibility between 
the Board of Directors and the 
Management, the question is finally 
decided by the Chairman of the Board.

the Chairman is regularly informed of the 
activities of the operations Council by the 
Chief executive officer, Chief Financial 
officer and general Counsel & Chief 
Compliance officer (Senior Management).

the operations Council consists of 
those individuals entrusted with the 
operational management of the group’s 
activities and is chaired by the Chief 
executive officer:

•	 the Chief operating officers (Coos) 
are responsible for operations in the 
group’s 10 regions (see section 1.1.)

•	 the executive vice presidents (evps) 
are entrusted with the management 
and development of the group’s 10 
business segments (see section 1.1.)

•	 the Senior vice presidents (Svps) 
represent the principal group 
support functions (Finance & 
It, Communications & Investor 
relations, Legal & Compliance and 
Continuous Improvement)

the composition, role and organisation 
of the operations Council are detailed  
in section 4.

3.7. inforMation and control 

instruMents vis-À-vis  

the ManageMent 

the Board of Directors has ultimate 
responsibility for the systems of internal 
controls established and maintained 
by the group and for periodically 
reviewing their effectiveness. these 
systems are intended to provide 
reasonable assurance against financial 
misstatement and/or loss, and include 
the safeguarding of assets, the 
maintenance of proper accounting 
records, the reliability of financial 
information and the compliance with 
relevant legislation, regulation and 
industry practice.

the group has an established 
governance framework which is 
designed to oversee its operations 
and assist the Company to achieve 
its objectives. the main principles 
of the control instruments include a 
definition of the role of the Board and its 
Committees, an organisational structure 
with documented delegated authority 
from the Board to Management and 
procedures for the approval of major 
investments, acquisitions and other 
capital allocations.

as a rule, the Chief executive officer 
participates in the meetings of the Board 
of Directors and of the Committees; the 
Chief Financial officer participates in 
the meetings of the Board of Directors 
and of the audit Committee; the 
group Controller and the Head of the 
Internal audit Function participate in the 
meetings of the audit Committee; the 
Head of Human resources participates 
in the meetings of the nomination 
and remuneration Committee and the 
general Counsel & Chief Compliance 
officer attends all meetings of the 
Board of Directors and its Committees. 
the other members of the operations 
Council and other members of 
management only participate in the 
Board and Committee meetings upon 
invitation of these bodies.

the Board of Directors receives 
monthly reports on the financial results 
and in addition, reports on business 
and operations at each meeting. the 
group has a dedicated Internal audit 
function, reporting to the Chairman of 
the Board and the audit Committee, 
which assesses the effectiveness and 
appropriateness of the group’s risk 
management, internal controls and 
governance processes as well as the 
reliability of internal financial and

operational information and ensures 
that the standards and policies of the 
group are respected. Internal audit 
reviews and identifies areas of potential 
risk associated with the key business 
activities performed by a particular 
office, highlights opportunities 
for improvement and proposes 
constructive control solutions to  
reduce these exposures.

all key observations are communicated to 
the operations Council and the Chairman 
of the Board via formal and informal 
reports. the audit Committee is regularly 
informed about audits performed and 
important findings, as well as about the 
progress on implementing the agreed 
actions by management.

Furthermore, the group has a 
compliance function, headed by the 
Chief Compliance officer who is a 
member of the professional Conduct 
Committee and has direct access to the 
Chairman of the Board. the compliance 
function supports the implementation 
of a compliance programme based 
on the SgS Code of Integrity and 
professional Conduct available in 29 
languages. the goal of the programme 
is to ensure that the highest standards 
of integrity are applied to all the group’s 
activities worldwide in accordance with 
international best practices.

In addition, the main businesses have 
specialised technical governance units 
which ensure compliance with internally 
set quality standards and industry 
best practices. Formal procedures are 
in place for both internal and external 
auditors to report their findings and 
recommendations independently to  
the Board’s audit Committee.
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operations council
the operations Council (as defined 
in section 3.5.) convenes as often as 
required by the business, in principle 
at least six times a year. In between 
meetings, it holds regular phone 
conferences and may make decisions  
on such calls or by electronic voting.

4.1. MeMbers of the  

operations council

the following persons were members  
of the operations Council as at  
31 December 2009.

CHriSToPHEr KirK (1956) 

British

Chief executive officer &  
evp Industrial Services (ad interim)

Bachelor of Science

Joined SgS in 1981

Previous responsibilities:

2003 – 2006: evp, Minerals and 
environmental Services

2002 – 2003: Coo, South east  
asia & pacific

2000 – 2002: Managing Director and 
Sub-regional Manager, Singapore

1998 – 1999: Managing Director, thailand

oLiviEr MErKT (1962) 

Swiss

general Counsel & Chief Compliance officer

Doctorate in Law, admitted to the  
bar in Switzerland

Joined SgS in 2001

Previous responsibilities:

2006 – 2008: vp, Corporate Development

2001 – 2006: Senior Counsel

other work experience:

1993 – 2001: Senior Manager Legal, 
ernst & Young, geneva 

riCHArD ToBiN (1963) 

American

Chief Financial officer & It

Master of Business administration

Joined SgS in 2002

Previous responsibilities:

2002 – 2004: Coo, north america 

other work experience:

1996 – 2002: general Manager and vice 
president, alusuisse-Lonza Sa

TEyMur ABASov (1972) 

Azeri

Coo, eastern europe & Middle east

Degree in electrical engineering

Joined SgS in 1994

Previous responsibilities:

2006 – 2007: Managing Director, 
Kazakhstan & Caspian Sub-region

2004 – 2006: Managing Director, 
azerbaijan and georgia

2003 – 2004: Managing Director, georgia

2001 – 2003: operations Manager,  
oil gas & Chemicals Services, azerbaijan

FErNANDo BASABE (1959) 

Spanish

Coo, Western europe

Degree in Law and Master of  
Business administration

Joined SgS in 1996

Previous responsibilities:

1999 – 2002: national Chief  
executive, Spain

1996 – 1998: Business Development 
Manager, Spain

MiCHAEL BELToN (1960) 
British

evp, Minerals Services 

BSc Chemistry

Joined SgS in 2002

Previous responsibilities:

2005 – 2007: Managing Director, 
Minerals Services, north america

2002 – 2005: vp, global non-Ferrous 
Minerals Services

other work experience:

1995 – 2002: evp, alfred H. Knight 
north america Ltd

JEAN-LuC DE BuMAN (1953)

Swiss

Svp, Corporate Communications & 
Investor relations

Legal studies

Joined SgS in 1998

other work experience:

1978 – 1998: Country Head Switzerland, 
Sales Fixed Income, UBS

HELMuT CHiK (1966) 

Chinese

Coo, China & Hong Kong

Master of Business administration

Joined SgS in 1991

Previous responsibilities:

2003: Managing Director, Hong Kong

2002: global Business Manager, 
Softline, Consumer testing Services

2000 – 2001: Director greater China, 
SBU Softline, Consumer testing Services

1999: Director, Hong Kong,  
Consumer testing Services

4
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DuiLio giACoMELLi (1950) 

italian

Coo, South east europe

Diploma in Industrial Chemistry

Joined SgS in 1970

Previous responsibilities:

2003 – 2005: Managing Director, Italy

1999 – 2002: Business Manager, 
agricultural, Minerals and oil gas & 
Chemicals Services, South east europe

1995 – 1998: Business Manager, 
agricultural Services, Italy

ALEJANDro goMEZ DE  

LA TorrE (1959)

Peruvian

Coo, South america

Degree in Business administration,  
postgraduate Specialisation in  
International Commerce

Joined SgS in 1986

Previous responsibilities:

1996 – 2001: national Chief executive, 
peru and Manager Central Sub-region, 
Latin america (1998 – 2001)

ANTHoNy HALL (1963)

Australian

Coo, South east asia & pacific  
(since october 2009)

Chemist, laboratory technician

Joined SgS in 2001

Previous responsibilities:

2007 – 2009: Managing Director, australia

2005 – 2006: national Business Manager 
australia, ogC, Industrial and automotive

DirK HELLEMANS (1958) 

Belgian

Coo, Central & north West europe

Degree in Chemical engineering and 
Master in Business administration

Joined SgS in 1988

Previous responsibilities:

2002 – 2004: Coo, north West europe

1997 – 2002: Managing Director, Belgium

FrÉDÉriC HErrEN (1955) 

Swiss

evp, automotive Services and 
governments & Institutions Services 

Master in economics

Initially joined SgS in 1986,  
rejoined in 1999

Previous responsibilities:

2003 – 2006: evp, automotive Services

1999 – 2003: Head of global Marketing, 
trade assurance Services (now 
governments & Institutions Services)

other work experience:

1995 – 1998: Ceo, Unilabs International

BEAT iN-ALBoN (1952) 

Swiss

evp, Life Science Services

Doctorate in economic Science & MBa

Joined SgS in 2007

other work experience:

2003 – 2007: Head, organic Fine & 
performance Chemicals, Lonza

1998 – 2003: Head, organic Fine 
Chemicals, Lonza

FrANCiS LACroZE (1953) 

French

Svp, Continuous Improvement

Doctorate in economics

Joined SgS in 1987

Previous responsibilities:

2004 – 2007: evp, agricultural Services

2002 – 2004: evp, Systems &  
Services Certification

1997 – 2002: general Manager, 
Consumer testing Services and Systems 
& Services Certification, France.

1998 – 2000: also regional Sector 
Manager, Consumer testing Services, 
europe, africa & Middle east

roBErT MArKuS (1956) 

Dutch

Coo, africa

BSc in Mechanical engineering

Joined SgS in 1982

Previous responsibilities:

2001 – 2005: Managing Director, 
Western africa

1997 – 2001: Managing Director, 
Mexico, and Sub-regional Manager, 
Latin america

JEFFrEy MCDoNALD (1964) 

Australian

Coo, north america

postgraduate Certificate education

Joined SgS in 1995

Previous responsibilities:

2004 – 2007: evp, Systems &  
Services Certification

2003: global project Manager, Systems 
& Services Certification

1995 – 2003: Systems & Services 
Certification, South east asia & pacific, 
regional Manager (Bangkok)

JEFFrEy NEWELL (1950) 

British

evp, agricultural Services

Ba in Chemistry & Biology

Joined SgS in 1969

Previous responsibilities:

2004 – 2007: Svp, global Sales, oil, gas 
& Chemicals Services

1998 – 2003: global Business Manager, 
oil, gas & Chemicals Services
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FrANKiE Ng (1966) 

Swiss/Chinese

evp, Consumer testing Services

Ba in economics and  
electronics engineering

Joined SgS in 1994

Previous responsibilities:

2002 – 2004: Managing Director,  
US testing

2000 – 2002: Director, Consumer 
testing Services, China and global 
Hardlines

1997 – 2000: operations Manager, 
Consumer testing Services, China

MALCoLM rEiD (1963) 
British

evp, Systems & Services Certification

BSc Chemistry

Joined SgS in 1987

Previous responsibilities:

2005 – 2007: Managing Director, 
australia

2000 – 2005: Managing Director, thailand

1997 – 2000: Managing Director, philippines

ALiM SAiDov (1964) 

Azeri

evp, oil, gas & Chemicals Services  
and environmental Services

phD in Science

Joined SgS in 1993

Previous responsibilities:

2004 – 2007: Coo, eastern europe & 
Middle east

2004: Coo, north america

2001 – 2004: Managing Director, 
Kazakhstan & Manager Caspian region

DENNiS yANg (1949) 

Taiwanese

Coo, east asia

Master of Business administration

Joined SgS in 1975

Previous responsibilities:

2000 – 2002: Managing Director, taiwan

1992 – 2000: assistant general 
Manager, taiwan 

additional information, including 
biographical details can be found on the 
Company’s website: http://www.sgs.com/
about_sgs/management

4.2. other activities and functions

the following list discloses all material 
activities in governing and supervisory 
boards, management positions and 
consultancy functions, official tenures 
and political engagements held by each 
member of the operations Council outside 
the group, both in Switzerland and abroad.

JEAN-LuC DE BuMAN

CCIg Chambre de Commerce et de 
l’Industrie de genève, geneva (CH), 
Member of the Board since 1999

association pour le Développement des 
Compétences Bancaires, geneva (CH), 
Member of the Board since 1999

Hyposwiss private Bank genève Sa, 
geneva (CH), Member of the Board 
since 2006

FrÉDÉriC HErrEN

CIta, International Motor vehicle Inspection 
Committee, Brussels (Be), Member of the 
Bureau permanent since 2005 

FISIta , International Federation of 
automotive engineering Societies, 
London (gB), Member of the Honorary 
Committee since 2006

MALCoLM rEiD

Member of the board of IIoC 
(Independent International organisation 
for Certification) since 2007 

4.3 ManageMent contracts

the Company is not party to any 
management contract delegating 
management tasks to companies or 
individuals outside the group.

coMpensation, 
shareholdings 
and loans
this section of the Corporate 
governance Disclosure report serves as 
the Company’s remuneration report.

In consideration of the recommendations 
of the Swiss Code of Best practice for 
Corporate governance in this matter, this 
section of the report will be subject to 
a consultative vote at the next annual 
general Meeting of Shareholders.

5.1. coMpanY’s  

reMuneration policies

the group’s overriding compensation 
policies are defined by the Board of 
Directors. the objectives of these 
policies are twofold: a) to attract and 
retain the best talent available in the 
industry; and b) to motivate employees 
and managers to create value for the 
shareholders by fostering long-term 
sustainable financial achievements.

the Board of Directors is assisted 
in this task by the nomination and 
remuneration Committee which 
consists of independent non-executive 
Directors. the Committee acts in part 
in a consulting capacity to the Board, 
and in part as a decision making body 
on matters that the Board has delegated 
to the Committee. the compensation 
of the Directors, including the Chairman 
of the Board and the Chief executive 
officer, is approved by the full Board 
of Directors on the recommendation of 
the Committee. the Compensation of 
the other members of the operations 
Council is approved by the Committee 
on the recommendation of the Chief 
executive officer. neither the Chairman 

5
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of the Board nor the Chief executive 
officer is allowed to participate in 
discussions and decisions on their 
own compensation. general executive 
remuneration policies, including the 
implementation of long-term incentive 
plans, are decided by the Board, on the 
recommendation of the Committee.

the following Directors served on 
the nomination and remuneration 
Committee in 2009:

• Sergio Marchionne (Chairman)

• august von Finck

• tiberto ruy Brandolini d’adda

the Chief executive officer attends 
meetings of the Committee, except when 
his own remuneration is being discussed.

When reviewing executive remuneration 
policies, the Committee receives advice 
from the group Human resources 
staff and relies on publicly available 
information on director and executive 
management remuneration paid by other 
Swiss companies and, as applicable, on 
available comparable data in the relevant 
location and/or industrial segment.

the group’s executive compensation 
consists of a base salary (including 
benefits), annual bonus and long-term 
incentive plans. the policies described 
here apply to all members of the 
operations Council, including the Chief 
executive officer.

Employment contracts

employment contracts of operations 
Council members have no fixed term 
and can be terminated at any time 
by either party, provided usual notice 
period (from three to six months) is 
observed. the Chief executive officer’s 
employment contract provides for a 
severance payment equivalent to two 
years total remuneration payable in the 
event that the employment contract is 
terminated or constructively terminated 
(including in the event of a change of 
control) by the Company other than 
for cause. no severance payment is 
due if the employment relationship is 
terminated in any other circumstance.

Base salary

the base salary is reviewed annually, 
on the basis of market information 
for similar positions and appreciation 
of individual performance. In addition 
to the base salary, the company pays 
other employment benefits, as per 
the customary practice at the place 

of employment. Such employment 
benefits include a car allowance and, 
if applicable, a housing allowance and 
tuition fees allowance for children. geneva 
based operations Council members 
participate on the same basis as other 
Swiss employees of the group, in the 
Company’s pension plans, i.e. one defined 
benefit scheme under the Swiss Lpp 
regulations up to an insured amount of 
CHF 100 000 and one defined contribution 
scheme for a pensionable remuneration in 
excess of CHF 100 000 up to a maximum 
of CHF 820 800 per year.

employees contribute 8% of their base 
salary and the Company contributes an 
amount equal to one and a half times 
the contributions paid by all employees 
to the scheme.

Annual bonus

In addition to the base salary, members 
of the operations Council (including the 
Chief executive officer) are entitled to 
a performance-related annual bonus 
which, if target objectives are met, 
yields an incentive payment of between 
30% and 70% of base salary. If targets 
are exceeded, annual bonuses are 
increased on a multiplier basis with a 
maximum payout equal to a range of 
75% to 175% of base salary.

In the event of underperformance 
against targets, the bonus is ratably 
reduced on a multiplier basis, so that 
no bonus is paid in the event a pre-
established minimum target is not 
achieved. the current Company policy 
on performance-related bonuses was 
introduced in 2002 and was applied 
first in order to determine the bonuses 
paid in 2003 on the basis of the 2002 
performance. annual bonus amounts 
(as a percentage of base salary) 
and financial/operational targets are 
approved in advance by the Committee.

Bonuses of operations Council 
members are assessed on the basis of 
the actual performance of the group 
as a whole, of the relevant business 
segments and of operations against 
specific financial targets. For evps, 
the performance is assessed for 50% 
on group targets, and 50% on their 
respective business financial targets.  
For Coos, the performance is assessed 
for 50% on group targets and 50% 
on their respective region’s financial 
targets. variable remuneration of the 
Chief executive officer and of the heads 
of corporate functions (Svps) is based 
for 100% on group targets.

once the quantum of a bonus is 
determined, it is settled 50% in cash 
and 50% in options. although such 
options are granted immediately, they 
vest ratably over a period of three years 
and are only exercisable in the fourth 
and fifth year after grant.

the Board of Directors and Committee 
may also grant discretionary bonuses to 
individual operations Council Members 
to recognise outstanding personal 
performance. For 2009, a total amount 
of CHF 730 000 (2008: CHF 569 293) of 
discretionary bonuses was awarded to 
operations Council members (including the 
Chief executive officer).

the portion of the fixed and variable 
remuneration, as a percentage of the 
total remuneration in any given year, is 
dependent on the degree of achievement 
of pre-defined target objectives. For the 
Chief executive officer, whose variable 
cash compensation is potentially the 
greater in relation to the base salary, the 
proportion of the fixed and variable cash 
components compared to the total cash 
compensation is presented as follows:

total cash coMpensation

Below Minimum Target Performance

on Target Performance

Maximum Performance 

In 2009, the variable part of the Chief 
executive officer’s cash remuneration 
represented 37% of the total cash 
compensation (2008: 48%).

100%

68%

46%

32%

54%

Base salary

variable remuneration
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Long-term incentive plans

In addition to annual bonus, the group 
sets periodically long-term incentive 
(LtI) plans. Such plans are designed 
to motivate the leadership team to 
achieve the long-term stated objectives 
of the group. they consist in options 
granted to a selected number of senior 
executives of the group whose vesting 
are conditional upon (1) the group’s 
achieving or exceeding stated earnings 
per share targets and (2) the beneficiary 
being employed by the group on the 
vesting date. 

In 2008, the Company introduced a 
long-term incentive plan (the 2008 LtI 
plan) which is conditional upon achieving 
or exceeding an epS target of CHF 105 
in 2011. the 2008 LtI plan involves the 
granting of options to acquire shares of 
the Company at a strike price of  
CHF 1 349. Such options are in the form 
of traded warrants, with 100 warrants 
required to purchase one share. the 
group originally set aside 5 937 500 
such warrants for this incentive plan  
(see note 32 to the group consolidated 

financial statements). this plan was 
designed to motivate the leadership team 
to achieve the long-term stated objective 
by 2011. no other long-term incentive 
plan is currently in force in the group, and 
none was introduced during 2009.

Full details on the structure and working 
of this long-term incentive plan are 
provided in note 32 to the group 
consolidated financial statements.

5.2. coMpensation for acting 

MeMbers of governing bodies

5.2.1. Non-executive Directors

In 2009, each Board member was 
entitled to a fixed board membership fee 
of CHF 150 000 per annum, unchanged 
from last year. Members of the Board 
serving on a Committee were entitled 
to an additional fee of CHF 30 000 per 
committee, unchanged from last year.

non-executive Directors do not hold 
service contracts, and are not entitled 
to any termination payments. they do 
not participate in the Company’s share 
option plans (except for the Chairman) or 

other benefit schemes and the Company 
does not make any pension contribution 
for their benefit. the Chairman of the 
Board’s remuneration is detailed under 
section 5.2.2.

5.2.2. Chairman of the Board

as non-executive Chairman of the  
Board of Directors, Sergio Marchionne is 
entitled to a fixed board membership fee 
of CHF 300 000 per annum, unchanged 
from last year.

the Chairman of the Board receives 
by decision of the Board of Directors 
share options in an amount equal to 
25% of the options granted to the 
Chief executive officer, under the 
same conditions of award, vesting 
and exercise. In 2009, 96 619 SgSgU 
options were awarded to the Chairman 
of the Board (2008: 81 354 SgSMo).

5.2.3. Directors’ remuneration in 2009

this section sets out the remuneration 
which was paid to the Directors during 
the year. It has been subject to audit.

       total total
      total cash   reMuneration reMuneration
 date of board coMMittee other reMuneration share 2009 (including 2008 (including
(CHF thousand) appointMent fees fees benefits 2009 options options) options) 

S. Marchionne May-01 300 90 25 415 238 1 653 1 052 2

t.r. Brandolini d’adda May-05 150 30  180  180 3 180 3

a. von Finck oct-98 150 30  180  180 180

a.F. von Finck May-02 150 30  180  180 180

p. Kalantzis Mar-09 116 23  139  139 na

t. Limberger Mar-08 150   150  150 118

S.r. du pasquier Mar-06 150 30  180  180 180

C. Barel di Sant’albano Mar-09 116 23  139  139 3 na

p. Lebard May-05 35 7  42  42 3 180 3

total  1 317 263 25 1 605 238 1 843 2 070

1. 2009: annual allocation 96 619 SgSgu: CHF 237 683.

2. remuneration of the Chairman in 2008 includes the grant value of the SgSMo options under  

the 2008 LTi Plan whose vesting in 2012 is conditional upon the group achieving EPS targets in 2011.

3. Board and committee fees for T.r. Brandolini d’Adda , P. Lebard and C. Barel di Sant’Albano have been paid to Exor investissements SA, Luxembourg.

the following chart details each Director’s fees and other benefits paid during 2008 and 2009.
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the following table shows the details of the options1 granted to the Chairman of the Board under each plan:

 nuMber      
 of options striKe       MarKet value
 granted at   price2 vesting vesting vesting  at grant date
 31.12.09  (CHF) date 1/3 date 1/3 date 1/3 exercisable (CHF)

SgSFS 81 354 1 308 01.2007 07.2008 01.2010 01.2010 – 01.2012 246 503

SgSMo 81 354 1 349 01.2008 07.2009 01.2011 01.2011 – 01.2013 192 809

SgSMo-2008 LtI 187 500 1 349    01.2012 – 01.20133 444 375

SgSgU 96 619 1 064 01.2009 07.2010 01.2012  01.2012 – 01.2014 237 683

1. one hundred options give the right to acquire one share. 

2. original strike price. 

3. if the EPS target is reached in 2011.

5.2.4. Compensation paid to the operations Council, Senior Management and Chief Executive officer

this section sets out the global remuneration which was paid to the operations Council as a whole, to the three operations Council 

members constituting Senior Management and to the Chief executive officer during 2009.

5.2.4.1. Cash compensation

the total cash compensation paid to the operations Council (including Senior Management) amounted to CHF 11 870 000  

(2008: CHF 13 087 000), excluding severance payments (see section 5.2.4.5.). the amount includes cash bonuses payable in 2010 

in relation to the 2009 financial results. post employment benefits for CHF 1 311 000 are not included (2008: CHF 1 312 000).

a total of CHF 2 670 000 (2008: CHF 3 224 000) was earned by Senior Management as cash remuneration for services during 2009.  

the amount includes cash bonuses payable in 2010 in relation to the 2009 financial results.

the total cash compensation paid to the Chief executive officer amounted to CHF 1 520 000 (2008: CHF 1 804 000). the amount 

includes cash bonuses payable in 2010 in relation to the 2009 financial results.

5.2.4.2. Share options

In settlement of annual bonus entitlements, a total of 1 770 486 SgSgU options (2008: 1 354 880 SgSMo options) were granted 

to the operations Council (including Senior Management) in 2009.

Such SgSgU options grant the right to acquire shares of SgS at a strike price of CHF 1 064 (100 options give the right to acquire 

one share). at grant, such options had a fair value of CHF 4 355 396 (2008: CHF 3 211 066). they vest one-third in 2009, 2010 and 

2012 and are subject to a blocking period ending in January 2012. 

the Senior Management was awarded a total of 522 453 SgSgU options (2008: 366 931 SgSMo options). this number includes 

386 474 SgSgU options (2008: 272 627 SgSMo options) awarded to the Chief executive officer.

the group has granted additional 50 000 options of the discretionary long-term incentive plan (SgSMo-2008 LtI) to a member of 

the Senior Management that will be vested in January 2012 if the epS target for 2011 is reached. the estimated fair value of those 

options granted is CHF 118 500.

In 2009, no other options were granted under the group’s long-term incentive plan.
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5.2.4.3. Total compensation paid to the operations Council, Senior Management and Chief Executive officer

taking into account the fair value of options at grant, a total compensation (base salary and annual bonus including options granted) 
was paid as follows in 2009:

•	 to the operations Council (including Senior Management) an aggregate amount of CHF 16 343 895 (2008: CHF 16 478 066).

•	 to the Senior Management an aggregate amount of CHF 3 955 234 (2008: CHF 4 093 626).

•	 to the Chief executive officer an amount of CHF 2 470 726 (2008: CHF 2 450 126).

the comparative numbers for 2008 exclude any options related to the SgSMo-2008 LtI plan.

5.2.4.4. Highest total compensation

In the year under review, the remuneration of the Chief executive officer (see 5.2.4.3.) was the highest compensation paid by the group.

the following table shows the details of the options¹ granted to the operations Council, Senior Management and to the Chief 
executive officer under each existing plan. this table relates to the individuals who were members of the operations Council  
as at 31 December 2009:

 nuMber      
 of options striKe       MarKet value
 granted at   price 2 vesting vesting vesting  at grant date
 31.12.09  (CHF) date 1/3 date 1/3 date 1/3 exercisable (CHF)

operations council (including senior ManageMent and chief executive officer)

SgSFS 760 513 1 308 01.2007 07.2008 01.2010 01.2010 – 01.2012 2 304 354

SgSMo 1 238 381 1 349 01.2008 07.2009 01.2011 01.2011 – 01.2013 2 934 963

SgSMo-2008 LtI 4 130 000 1 349    01.2012 – 01.2013 3 9 788 100

sgsMo-2008 lti 4 50 000 1 349    01.2012  –  01.2013 3 118 500

sgsgu 4 1 668 057 1 064 01.2009 07.2010 01.2012  01.2012  –  01.2014 4 103 420

senior ManageMent (including chief executive officer)

SgSFS 200 119 1 308 01.2007 07.2008 01.2010 01.2010 – 01.2012 606 361

SgSMo 366 931 1 349 01.2008 07.2009 01.2011 01.2011 – 01.2013 869 626

SgSMo-2008 LtI 970 000 1 349    01.2012 – 01.20133 2 298 900

sgsMo-2008 lti 4 50 000 1 349    01.2012  –  01.2013 3 118 500

sgsgu 4 522 453 1 064 01.2009 07.2010 01.2012  01.2012  –  01.2014 1 285 234

chief executive officer

SgSFS 86 064 1 308 01.2007 07.2008 01.2010 01.2010 – 01.2012 260 774

SgSMo 272 627 1 349 01.2008 07.2009 01.2011 01.2011 – 01.2013 646 126

SgSMo-2008 LtI 750 000 1 349    01.2012 – 01.2013 3 1 777 500

sgsgu 4 386 474 1 064 01.2009 07.2010 01.2012  01.2012  –  01.2014 950 726

1. one hundred options give the right to acquire one share. 

2. original strike price. 

3. if the EPS target is reached in 2011. 

4. granted in 2009.
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5.2.4.5. Severance payments

In 2009, no severance payments to operations Council members were recognised (2008: CHF 411 000).

5.2.4.6. Loans to members of governing bodies

as at 31 December 2009, no loan, credit or outstanding advance was due to the group from members of its governing bodies  
(unchanged from prior year).

5.2.5. Company’s performance

the following graph compares the tSr (total Shareholder return) of the Company with the tSr of the Swiss Market Index (SMI) 
for the three year period 2007 to 2009. the company measures its performance against the SMI index because this index tracks 
the performance of large companies based in Switzerland, which are also active internationally.

given the lack of direct industry comparables, the SMI is viewed as being the best relevant benchmark. It is a good indication of 
the market performance of other comparable Swiss companies during the period.

Comparison of relative returns between SgS and the SMI index, assuming that SgS dividends are re-invested to purchase 
additional equity at the closing price on the date of payment of dividends for the period 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2009:
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shareholders’ 
participation 
rights
all registered shareholders receive a 
copy of the half year and full year results 
upon the publication of such results by 
the Company. they can receive a copy 
of the Company’s annual report and are 
personally invited to attend the annual 
general Meeting of Shareholders.

6.1. voting rights and 

representation restrictions

all registered shareholders can attend 
the general Meetings of Shareholders 
and vote their shares. the shareholders 
may also elect to grant a power of 
attorney to the independent proxy 
holder appointed to this effect by the 
Company, to a bank or a regulated 
financial intermediary or to any other 
registered shareholder. there are 
no voting restrictions, subject to the 
exclusion of nominee shareholders 
representing undisclosed principals,  
as detailed in section 2.6.

6.2. statutorY QuoruMs

the general Meeting of Shareholders can 
validly deliberate regardless of the number 
of shares represented at the meeting.

resolutions are adopted by the absolute 
majority of votes cast. If a second ballot is 
necessary, a relative majority is sufficient.

In addition to the specific provisions 
of Swiss company law, the following 
resolutions require a majority of 2/3 of 
votes cast (“Special Majority”): 

• Share capital increase

• election and removal of a member 
of the Board of Directors

• Changes in the maximum number of 
the Members of the Board of Directors

• amendment of the Special 
Majority requirement

6.3. convocation of general 

Meetings of shareholders

the rules regarding the convocation of 
general Meetings of Shareholders are in 
accordance with Swiss company law.

6.4. agenda

the agenda of general Meetings of 
Shareholders is issued by the Board of 
Directors. Shareholders representing 
shares of a minimum par value of  
CHF 50 000 may request the inclusion 
of an item on the agenda of general 
Meetings, provided that such a request 
reaches the Company at least 40 days 
prior to the general Meeting.

6.5. registration in the  

share register

the Company does not impose any 
deadline for registering shares prior to a 
general Meeting. However, a technical 
notice of two business days is required 
to process the registration.

change of control 
and defence 
Measures
there is no change of control restriction 
in the Company’s articles of association.

7.1. dutY to MaKe an offer

In the absence of any specific statutory 
rules in the Company’s articles of 
association, any investor or group of 
investors acquiring more than 33.3% 
of the shares and voting rights in the 
Company has the duty to make a public 
offer in compliance with the applicable 
Swiss takeover rules.

7.2. clauses on changes of control

there are no general plans or 
standard agreements offering specific 
protection to Board Members, Senior 
Management or employees of the 
group in the event of a change of 
control, subject to the ordinary rules 
regarding termination of employment.

the employment contract of the 
Chief executive officer includes 
specific provisions which may trigger 
a severance payment of two years 
remuneration and the immediate vesting 
of options granted in the event there is a 
change of control in the Company.  
no other executive contract provides for 
any material change of control protection.

6 7
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auditors

8.1. duration of the Mandate  

and terM of office

Following a competitive process in 
2000, Deloitte Sa was appointed auditor 
of the Company and of the SgS group 
by the annual general Meeting of 
Shareholders upon recommendation of 
the Board of Directors. the auditors of 
the Company are subject to re-election at 
the annual general Meeting every year. 
Deloitte Sa has audited the Company’s 
financial statements starting with the 
financial year 2000.

the current lead auditor, peter Quigley, 
began serving in this role in 2005.

8.2. auditing fees

the audit fees charged by Deloitte Sa 
for the audit of the Company and the 
group financial statements in 2009 
amounted to CHF 5.9 million  
(2008: CHF 5.5 million).

8.3. additional fees

In addition, Deloitte Sa charged SgS 
group in 2009 an aggregate amount 
of CHF 1.4 million (2008: CHF 1.4 
million) for other professional services, 
unrelated to the statutory audit activity. 
these include CHF 0.6 million for tax 
compliance services and CHF 0.8 million 
for non-statutory reporting, advisory and 
consulting fees.

8.4. supervisorY and  

control instruMents  

vis-a-vis the auditors

the audit Committee is responsible 
for evaluating the external auditors on 
behalf of the Board of Directors.

the audit Committee conducts 
assessments of the audit services 
provided to the group as part of the 
committee meetings.

the audit Committee meets with the 
auditors at least three times a year, 
including in private sessions outside 
the presence of management. the 
external auditors attended all three of 
the audit Committee meetings held in 
2009. the audit Committee deliberates 
on the audit plan, regularly assesses 
the performance of the auditors and 
approves the audit fees, on the basis 
of the volume of work required from 
the auditors. the auditors present 
regularly their findings, both during the 
deliberations of the audit Committee, 
and in the form of written reports 
summarizing key findings to the full 
Board of Directors. auditors’ findings 
are discussed in detail by the audit 
Committee, and by the full Board.

the group strives to safeguard and 
support the independence of the auditor 
by avoiding conflicts of interests.

By application of this policy, the Company 
carefully examines when attributing  
other consultancy assignments that  
such appointments do not endanger  
the independence of its auditor.

inforMation policY
the policy of the group is to provide 
individual and institutional investors, 
directly or through financial analysts, 
business journalists or investment 
consultants (financial community) 
and the employees with financial and 
business information in a consistent, 
broad, timely and transparent manner. 
the group website has a section fully 
dedicated to Investor relations,  
http://www.sgs.com/ investor_relations/
financial_highlights.htm, where all 
financial information and presentations 
are available. this includes an updated 
version of the articles of association, 
actual information on Share Buy-
Back programmes and minutes of 
shareholders’ meetings. SgS meets 
regularly with institutional investors, 
holds results presentations, road shows, 
presentations at broker-sponsored 
country or industry conferences as  
well as one-on-one meetings.

the group publishes consolidated half 
year unaudited and yearly audited results 
in print and on-line formats.

these documents are sent to each 
registered shareholder and are available 
in english (binding version) and in 
French. the annual report is published 
in english (binding version) and in French 
and is available upon order or on the 
Internet. the current list of publication 
dates is available on the Internet.

the group acknowledges the Directives 
on the Independence of Financial 
research issued by the Swiss Bankers 
association, particularly articles 26 and 
29-32. In addition, the group complies 
with rules regarding information and 
reporting of the Federal act on Stock 
exchange and Securities trading, and 
the ordinance on Stock exchanges and 
Securities trading.

8 9
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consolidated income statement
For the years ended 31 december

(CHF million)  notes 2009 2008

revenUe  4 712 4 818

Salaries and wages  (2 214) (2 243)

Subcontractors’ expenses  (319) (331)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 11 & 13 (223) (214)

Other operating expenses 5 (1 142) (1 220)

oPeratinG income (beFore eXcePtional items)  814 810

Exceptional items 6 (20) 127

ProFit From oPeratinG activities (ebit)  794 937

Financial income 7 12 11

Financial expenses 8 (15) (15)

ProFit beFore taXes  791 933

Taxes 9 (200) (219)

ProFit For the year  591 714

Profit attributable to:  

Equity holders of SGS SA  566 692

Non-controlling interests  25 22

basic earninGs Per share (in chF) 10 75.48 91.08

dilUted earninGs Per share (in chF) 10 75.17 90.72

dividends Per share (in chF)  60.001 50.00

1. As proposed by the Board of Directors.

consolidated statement oF comPrehensive income

(CHF million)   2009 2008

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans   (25) (101)

Income tax on actuarial gains/losses taken directly to equity   8 24

Exchange differences and other 1   42 (288)

other comPrehensive income For the year   25 (365)

Profit for the year   591 714

total comPrehensive income For the year   616 349

Attributable to:

Equity holders of SGS SA   595 335

Non-controlling interests   21 14

1. In 2009, exchange differences included net exchange gains of CHF 28 million on long-term loans treated as net investment in a foreign  

 entity according to International Accounting Standard (IAS) 21 (2008: losses of CHF 85 million).
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consolidated balance sheet
at 31 december (beFore aPProPriation oF available retained earninGs)

(CHF million) notes 2009 2008

assets   

non-cUrrent assets 

Land, buildings and equipment   11 751 721

Goodwill   12 629 594

Other intangible assets  13 148 165

Investments in associated and other companies   1 2

Deferred tax assets  9 192 182

Other non-current assets  14 36 37

total non-cUrrent assets   1 757 1 701

cUrrent assets   

Unbilled revenues and inventories 15 201 184

Trade accounts and notes receivable   16 812 919

Other receivables and prepayments   17 174 194

Marketable securities   18 9 9

Cash and cash equivalents   19 783 574

total cUrrent assets   1 979 1 880

total assets   3 736 3 581

eQUity and liabilities   

caPital and reserves   

Share capital 23 8 8

Reserves   2 312 2 079

Treasury shares  23 (247) (262)

eQUity attribUtable to eQUity holders oF sGs sa    2 073 1 825

Non-controlling interests   37 37

total eQUity   2 110 1 862

non-cUrrent liabilities   

Loans and obligations under finance leases  24 8 10

Deferred tax liabilities   9 77 65

Retirement benefit obligations  25 146 162

Provisions   26 103 105

total non-cUrrent liabilities    334 342

cUrrent liabilities   

Loans and obligations under finance leases 24 308 325

Trade and other payables   27 388 403

Provisions   26 21 29

Current tax liabilities   72 107

Other creditors and accruals  28 503 513

total cUrrent liabilities    1 292 1 377

total liabilities   1 626 1 719

total eQUity and liabilities   3 736 3 581
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consolidated statement oF cash FloWs
For the years ended 31 december

(CHF million) notes 2009 2008

Profit for the year  591 714

Non-cash exceptional income 2008 6 - (127)

Other non-cash items 20 393 410

Decrease/(Increase) in working capital 20 13 (22)

Taxes paid  (217) (195)

oPeratinG cash FloW beFore eXcePtionals  780 780

Cash flows on exceptional items 2008 6 60 58

oPeratinG cash FloW  840 838

Purchase of land, buildings, equipment and other intangible assets 11 & 13 (221) (290)

Acquisition and divestments of businesses 3 & 20 - (184)

Proceeds from sale of investments  2 -

Decrease/(Increase) in other non-current assets  2 (5)

(Increase) in marketable securities  - (1)

Interest and dividends received  12 11

Sales of land, buildings and equipment  12 12

cash FloW From investinG activities  (193) (457)

Dividends paid to equity holders of SGS SA  (375) (267)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  (16) (14)

Cash received /(paid) for treasury shares  15 (201)

Interest paid  (16) (15)

(Decrease)/Increase in borrowings  (22) 295

cash FloW From FinancinG activities  (414) (202)

Currency translations  (24) (34)

increase  in cash and cash eQUivalents  209 145

cash and cash eQUivalents at beGinninG oF year  574 429

Increase in cash and cash equivalents  209 145

cash and cash eQUivalents at end oF year 19 783 574



88

statement oF chanGes in consolidated eQUity

     retained  
    cUmUlative earninGs eQUity non-
 share treasUry caPital translation and GroUP holders controllinG total
(CHF million) caPital shares reserve adJUstments reserves oF sGs sa interests eQUity

balance at 1 JanUary 2008 8 (68) 45 (118) 2 074 1 941 36 1 977

Profit for the year     692 692 22 714

Other comprehensive income
for the year    (280) (77) (357) (8) (365)

Total comprehensive income 
for the year    (280) 615 335 14 349

Dividends paid - - - - (267) 1 (267) (13) (280)

Share-based payments - - 17 - - 17 - 17

Movement on treasury shares - (194) - - (7) (201) - (201)

balance at 31 december 2008 8 (262) 62 (398) 2 415 1 825 37 1 862

Profit for the year     566 566 25 591

Other comprehensive income  
for the year    46 (17) 29 (4) 25

Total comprehensive income 
for the year    46 549 595 21 616

Dividends paid - - - - (375) 1 (375) (21) (396)

Share-based payments - - 13 - - 13 - 13

Movement on treasury shares - 15 - - - 15 - 15

balance at 31 december 2009 8 (247) 75 (352) 2 589 2 073 37 2 110

1. The amounts available for dividends are based on the SGS SA’s unconsolidated shareholders’ equity determined in accordance with  

 the legal provisions of the Swiss Code of Obligations.

attribUtable to



89

S
G

S
 G

R
O

U
P

 R
E

S
U

LT
S

siGniFicant 
accoUntinG 
Policies

basis oF PreParation oF the 

Financial statements

The consolidated financial statements 
of the Group are stated in millions 
of Swiss Francs. They are prepared 
from the financial statements of the 
individual companies within the Group 
for which the significant companies 
have a year-end of 31 December 2009. 
The consolidated financial statements 
comply with the accounting and reporting 
requirements of the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB).

The accounting conventions and 
accounting policies are the same as 
those applied in the 2008 consolidated 
financial statements, except for the 
Group’s adoption of new IFRS effective 
1 January 2009.

The financial statements are prepared  
on an accrual basis and under the 
historical cost convention, modified  
as required for the revaluation of certain 
financial instruments.

adoPtion oF neW and revised 

international Financial  

rePortinG standards 

In the current year, the Group has 
adopted the following Standards  
and Interpretations:

•	 IAS 1 (revised) Presentation of 
Financial Statements:

 The revised Standard has introduced  
a number of terminology changes  
with no impact on the reported  
results of the Group.

•	 IFRS 8 Operating Segments:

 This standard is a disclosure Standard 
with no impact on the reported results 
of the Group. The adoption of IFRS 8  
has no impact on the reportable 
segments of the Group nor on the 
measure of segment profitability, as 
the information previously presented 
was already established on the 
basis of internal reporting to Senior 
Management for the purposes of 
resource allocation and assessment  
of segment performance.

•	 IFRS 7 (amendment) Improving 
Disclosures about Financial Instruments:

 This amendment extends the 
disclosure requirements in relation 
to financial instruments measured 
at fair value. The Group decided to 
provide comparative disclosures 
in the first year of application even 
though it is not required.

•	 IAS 23 (revised) Borrowing Costs:

 This revised standard removes the 
option of recognising as an expense 
borrowing costs directly attributable 

to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset. The 
standard has had no significant impact 
on the reported results of the Group.

The Group also adopted the following 
Standards and Interpretations. However, 
these had no material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements.

•	 IAS 1 & IAS 32 (amendment) Puttable 
Financial Instruments and Obligations 
Arising on Liquidation

• Improvement to IFRS 2008

• IFRS 2 (amendment) Share-based 
payment: Vesting conditions  
and cancellations

• IFRIC 9 & IAS 39 (amendment) 
Embedded Derivatives

• IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

• IFRIC 15 Agreements for the 
Construction of Real Estate

• IFRIC 16 Hedges of Net Investments 
in a foreign Operation

• IFRIC 18 Transfers of assets 
from customers

At the date of authorisation of these 
financial statements, the following 
Standards and Interpretations were in 
issue but not yet effective:

• IFRS 3 (revised) Business combinations, 
IAS 27 (amendment) Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements

These standards will be applied 
prospectively from 1 January 2010 and 
will impact the accounting for business 
combinations and transaction with  

notes

activities oF the GroUP
SGS SA and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) operate around the world under the name 
SGS. The head office of the Group is located in Geneva, Switzerland. 

SGS is the global leader and innovator in inspection, verification, testing and certification 
services supporting international trade in agriculture, minerals, petroleum and consumer 
products. It also provides these services to governments, international institutions and 
to customers engaged in the industrial, environmental and life science sectors.

1
2



90

non-controlling interests. The Directors 
anticipate that the adoption of these 
standards could have a potential impact 
on the financial statements of the Group.

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of 
the following standards and interpretations 
will have no material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements:

• IAS 24 (revised) Related party disclosures

• IAS 32 (amendment) Financial 
Instrument – Presentation: Classification 
of right issue

• IAS 39 (amendments) Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement: Eligible Hedged Items

• IFRS 2 (amendment) Group Cash-settled 
Share-based Payment Transactions

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

• IFRIC 14 (amendment) IAS 19 
The limit on a defined benefit asset, 
Minimum funding requirements and 
their interaction

• IFRIC 17 Distribution of Non-cash Assets

• IFRIC 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities 
with equity instruments

• Improvement to IFRS 2009

basis oF consolidation 

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are enterprises controlled 
by the Group. Control exists when 
the Group has the power, directly or 
indirectly, to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an enterprise so 
as to obtain benefits from its activities. 
The financial statements of subsidiaries 
are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date that control 
commences until the date that control 
ceases. The equity and profit attributable 
to non-controlling shareholders’ 
interests are shown separately in the 
consolidated balance sheet and income 
statement, respectively. The principal 
operating companies of the Group are 
listed on pages 151 to 154.

Associates

Associates are enterprises over which 
the Group has significant influence, 
but no control or joint control over 
the financial and operating policies. 
The consolidated financial statements 
include the Group’s share of the 
earnings of associates on an equity 
accounted basis, from the date that 
significant influence commences until 

the date that significant influence 
ceases. When the Group’s share of 
losses of an associate, if any, exceeds 
the carrying amount of the associate on 
the Group’s balance sheet, the carrying 
amount is reduced to nil and recognition 
of further losses is discontinued except 
to the extent that the Group has incurred 
obligations in respect of the associate.

Jointly controlled entities

Jointly controlled entities are enterprises 
over whose activities the Group has 
joint control, established by contractual 
agreement. The consolidated financial 
statements include the Group’s 
proportionate share of the enterprises’ 
assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses with items of a similar nature 
on a line-by-line basis, from the date that 
joint control commences until the date 
that joint control ceases.

Investments in other companies

Investments in other companies 
(normally below 20% shareholding 
levels) are stated at cost less any 
provision for impairment. The fair 
value of these investments cannot be 
reliably measured. Dividends received 
from these investments are included in 
financial income.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

All significant intra-group balances and 
transactions, and any unrealised gains and 
losses arising from intra-group transactions, 
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements. Unrealised gains 
and losses arising from transactions with 
associates and jointly controlled entities 
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
interest in those entities.

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are 
recorded at the foreign exchange rate 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at 
the balance sheet date are translated at 
the foreign exchange rate prevailing at 
that date. Exchange differences arising 
on the settlement of monetary items 
or on reporting monetary items at rates 
different from those at which they were 
initially recorded during the period or 
in previous financial statements, are 
recognised in the income statement.

Consolidation of foreign companies

All assets and liabilities of foreign 
companies that are consolidated are 
translated using the exchange rates 
in effect at the balance sheet date. 
Income and expenses are translated at 
the average exchange rate for the year. 
Translation differences resulting from the 
application of this method are classified as 
equity until the disposal of the investment.

Average exchange rates have been 
used to translate the cash flows of 
foreign subsidiaries in preparing the 
consolidated statement of cash flows.

seGment inFormation 

The Group reports its operations by 
business segment, according to the 
nature of the services provided.

The Group operates in ten business 
segments. The Chief Operating Decision 
Maker evaluates segment performance 
and allocates resources based on 
several factors, of which net revenue, 
operating income and return on capital 
are the main criteria.

For the Group, the Chief Operating 
Decision Maker is the Senior 
Management composed of the Chief 
Executive Officer, the Chief Financial 
Officer and the General Counsel.

All segment revenues reported are 
from external customers. Revenue 
and operating income are attributed to 
countries based on the location in which 
the services are rendered.

Segment assets comprise all assets held 
by the Group’s operating affiliates after 
elimination of inter-company balances.

Segment liabilities comprise all 
liabilities held by the Group’s operating 
affiliates after elimination of  
inter-company balances.

Capital additions represent the total 
cost incurred to acquire land, buildings 
and equipment as well as other 
intangible assets.

Depreciation and amortisation of 
segment assets include depreciation 
of buildings and equipment as well as 
other intangible assets. Impairment of 
segment assets includes impairment 
related to land, buildings and equipment, 
goodwill and other intangible assets 
when incurred.
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land, bUildinGs and eQUiPment 

Land is stated at historical cost and 
is not depreciated. Buildings and 
equipment are stated at historical 
cost less accumulated depreciation. 
Subsequent expenditures are capitalised 
only if they increase the future economic 
benefits embodied in the related item 
of property and equipment. All other 
expenditures are expensed as incurred. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful life 
of the assets as follows:

•	 Buildings 12 – 40 years

•	 Machinery and equipment 3 – 10 years

•	 Other tangible assets 3 – 10 years

leases 

Assets acquired under finance lease 
agreements, which provide the Group 
with substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership, are capitalised 
at fair value or, if lower, at amounts 
equivalent to the estimated present 
value of the underlying minimum  
lease payments. The corresponding 
liabilities are included in long and  
short-term loans. These leased assets 
are depreciated over the lease period  
or their estimated useful lives, 
whichever is shorter.

Leases where the lessor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the assets are classified 
as operating leases. Operating lease 
expenditures are expensed on a  
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

GoodWill 

In the case of acquisitions of 
businesses, the acquired identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
are recorded at fair value. The difference 
between the purchase price and the 
fair value is classified as goodwill and 
recorded in the balance sheet as an 
intangible asset.

Goodwill arising from business 
combinations is measured at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments 
arising on the acquisition of a foreign 
entity are recorded in the relevant 
foreign currency and are translated using 
the end of period exchange rate.

On disposal of part, or the whole, of a 
business which was previously acquired 
and which gave rise to the recording 

of acquisition goodwill, the relevant 
amount of goodwill net book value is 
included in the determination of the gain 
or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and other intangible assets 
with indefinite useful lives acquired 
as part of business combinations are 
tested for possible impairment annually 
and whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate their value may 
not be fully recoverable.

For the purpose of impairment testing, 
the Group has adopted a uniform 
method for assessing goodwill and other 
intangibles recognised under purchase 
accounting. These assets are allocated 
to the cash generating unit (CGU) or 
group of CGUs that are expected to 
benefit from the business combination. 
The recoverable amount of a CGU is 
determined through a value-in-use 
calculation. The key assumptions for 
the value-in-use calculations are those 
regarding the discount rates, growth 
rates and expected changes to selling 
prices or direct costs during the period. 
Pre-tax discount rates used are based 
on the Group’s weighted average cost 
of capital, adjusted for specific risks 
associated with the CGU’s cash flow 
projections. The growth rates are based 
on industry growth forecasts.

Changes in selling prices and direct 
costs are based on past practices  
and expectations of future changes  
in the market.

For all CGUs, a value-in-use calculation 
is performed using cash flow 
projections covering the next 10 years. 
The cash flows for the first five years 
are based upon most recent financial 
results and budgets approved by 
management, while the subsequent 
five years are extrapolated based on 
the average long-term growth rate for 
the relevant activity.

If the recoverable amount of the CGU 
is less than the carrying amount of the 
unit, the impairment loss is allocated 
first to reduce the carrying amount of 
any goodwill allocated to the unit and 
then to the other assets of the unit. An 
impairment loss recognised for goodwill 
is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Even if the initial accounting for an 
intangible asset acquired in the reporting 
period is only provisional, this asset is 
tested for impairment.

other intanGible assets 

Intangible assets, including software, 
licences, trademarks and customer 
relationships are capitalised and 
amortised on a straight-line basis over 
their estimated useful lives, normally 
not exceeding 20 years. Indefinite life 
intangible assets are not amortised but 
are subject to an annual impairment test. 
The following useful lives are used in the 
calculation of amortisation:

•	 Trademarks 5 – 20 years

•	 Customer relationships 5 – 20 years

•	 Computer software 1 – 4 years

Other intangible assets acquired as 
part of an acquisition of a business are 
capitalised separately from goodwill if 
their fair value can be measured reliably. 
Internally generated intangible assets 
are recognised if the asset created can 
be identified, it is probable that future 
economic benefits will be generated 
from it, the related development costs 
can be measured reliably and sufficient 
financial resources are available to 
complete the development. These 
assets are amortised on a straight-line 
basis over their useful lives, which 
usually do not exceed four years.  
All other development costs are 
expensed as incurred.

imPairment oF assets  

eXclUdinG GoodWill 

At each balance sheet date or whenever 
there is an indication that an asset may 
be impaired, the Group reviews the 
carrying amounts of its tangible and 
intangible assets to determine whether 
they have suffered an impairment loss. 
If indications of impairment are present, 
the assets are tested for impairment. 
If impaired, the carrying value of the 
asset is reduced to its recoverable 
value. Where it is not possible to 
estimate the recoverable amount of an 
individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the CGU to which 
the asset belongs.

The recoverable amount of an asset is 
the greater of the net selling price and 
its value-in-use. In assessing its  
value-in-use, the pre-tax estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset.
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reversal oF imPairment losses 

Where an impairment loss on assets 
other than goodwill subsequently 
reverses, the carrying amount of the 
asset or CGU is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but 
not in excess of the carrying amount 
that would have been recorded had 
no impairment loss been recognised. 
A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised as income immediately.

Unbilled revenUes and 

inventories 

Completed but unbilled services are 
recorded at net selling prices.

Work-in-progress is measured at the 
lower of the costs incurred in providing 
the service or its ultimate invoice price 
less costs to complete.

Inventories are recorded at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is 
determined using the first-in, first-out 
(FIFO) method. Net realisable value 
represents the estimated selling price less 
all estimated costs to complete and costs 
to be incurred in selling and distribution.

receivables 

Trade receivables are recognised and 
carried at original invoice amount less an 
allowance for any uncollectible amounts. 
An estimate for doubtful debts is made 
when collection of the full amount is no 
longer probable. Bad debts are written 
off when identified.

marKetable secUrities 

Marketable securities are recorded in the 
balance sheet at fair value. Movements 
in fair value for marketable securities 
held for trading are reported in the 
income statement as financial income/
expenses. For marketable securities 
designated as being available for sale, 
the movements in fair value are recorded 
as a component of shareholders’ equity 
and recognised in the income statement 
at the time of disposal. Marketable 
securities designated as available for 
sale are those that are not classified as 
at fair value through profit and loss.

cash and cash eQUivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise 
cash, deposits held with banks 
and investments in money market 
instruments with an original maturity of 
three months or less. Bank overdrafts 
are included within current loans.

derivative Financial instrUments 

The Group uses derivative financial 
instruments to hedge its exposure to 
foreign exchange and interest rate risks 
arising from operational, financing and 
investment activities. In accordance 
with its treasury policy, the Group does 
not hold or issue derivative financial 
instruments for trading purposes. 
Derivatives that do not qualify for  
hedge accounting are accounted for  
on a mark-to-market basis.

Derivative financial instruments are 
initially recognised at fair value and 
subsequently re-measured at fair  
value at each balance sheet date.  
The treatment of gains or losses 
resulting from the fair value restatement 
depends on the item to which they 
relate (see Hedging below).

The fair value of forward exchange 
contracts is their quoted market price at 
the balance sheet date.

hedGinG 

Cash flow hedges

Where a derivative financial instrument 
is designated as a hedge of the 
variability in cash flows of a recognised 
asset or liability, a foreign currency 
risk related to firm commitment, or a 
highly probable forecasted transaction, 
the effective part of any gain or loss 
on the derivative financial instrument 
is recognised as a component of 
equity. When the firm commitment or 
forecasted transaction results in the 
recognition of an asset or liability, the 
related cumulative gain or loss on the 
hedge is removed from equity and 
included in the measurement of the 
asset or liability. In all other cases, the 
cumulative gain or loss is removed from 
equity and recognised in the income 
statement at the same time as the 
recording of the hedged transaction.  
The ineffective part of the cash flow 
hedge is recognised in the income 
statement immediately. 

When a hedging instrument or hedge 
relationship is terminated but the hedged 
transaction is still expected to occur, the 
cumulative gain or loss realised to the 
point of termination remains in equity and 
is recognised at the same time as the 
related transaction occurs. If the hedged 
transaction is no longer probable, the 
cumulative unrealised gain or loss held 
in equity is recognised in the income 
statement immediately.

Hedges of monetary assets and liabilities

Where a derivative financial instrument 
is used to hedge the foreign exchange 
exposure of a recognised monetary 
asset or liability, any related gains  
and/or losses on the hedging  
instrument resulting from fair value  
re-measurements are recognised in  
the income statement.

Hedges of net investment in  

foreign operations

Where a foreign currency liability or a 
derivative instrument is used to hedge 
a net investment in a foreign operation, 
related foreign exchange differences 
arising on translation of the liability or 
fair value restatement of the derivative 
instruments are recorded as a separate 
component of equity.

emPloyee beneFits 

Pension plans

The Group maintains several defined 
benefit and defined contribution pension 
plans in accordance with local conditions 
and practices in the countries in which it 
operates. Defined benefit pension plans 
are based on an employee’s years of 
service and remuneration earned during 
a pre-determined period. Contributions 
to these plans are normally paid into 
funds which are managed independently 
of the Group, except in rare cases where 
there is no legal obligation to fund. In 
such cases, the liability is recorded in 
the Group’s consolidated balance sheet.

The Group’s obligations towards 
defined benefit pension plans and the 
annual cost recognised in the income 
statement is determined by independent 
actuaries using the projected unit 
credit method. Actuarial gains and 
losses are immediately recognised in 
the consolidated balance sheet with 
the corresponding movement being 
recorded in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income.

Past service costs are recognised as 
an expense over the average period 
remaining until the benefits become 
vested. To the extent that the benefits 
are already vested immediately following 
the introduction of, or change to, a 
defined benefit plan, the expense is 
recognised immediately. Payments 
to defined contribution plans are 
recognised as an expense in the income 
statement as incurred.
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The retirement benefit obligation 
recognised in the balance sheet 
represents the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation as adjusted 
for unrecognised past service cost, 
and as reduced by the fair value of plan 
assets. Any asset resulting from this 
calculation is limited to the present value 
of available refunds and reductions in 
future contributions to the plan.

Post-employment plans  

other than pensions

The Group operates some post-
employment defined benefit schemes, 
mainly healthcare plans. The method 
of accounting and the frequency of 
valuations are similar to those used for 
defined benefit pension plans.

Equity compensation plans

The Group provides additional benefits to 
certain senior executives and employees 
through equity compensation plans (see 
note 32). An expense is recognised in 
the income statement for shares and 
options granted to senior executives and 
employees under these plans.

trade Payables 

Trade payables are recognised at nominal 
value that approximates the fair value.

Provisions 

The Group records provisions when: it 
has an obligation, legal or constructive, 
to satisfy a claim; it is probable that an 
outflow of Group resources will be required 
to satisfy the obligation; and a reliable 
estimate of the amount can be made.

In the case of litigation and claims 
relating to services rendered, the 
amount that is ultimately recorded 
is the result of a complex process of 
assessment of a number of variables, 
and relies on management’s informed 
judgement about the circumstances 
surrounding the past provision of 
services. It also relies on expert legal 
advice and actuarial assessments. 
Changes in estimates are reflected in 
the income statement in the period in 
which the change occurs.

revenUe recoGnition 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that the economic benefits 
will flow to the Group and the revenue 
can be reliably measured.

Revenues represent fees for services 
rendered to third parties after the 
deduction of discounts and are recognised 
when the service has been completed. 
In certain circumstances, revenue is 
recognised in proportion to the stage 
of completion, normally determined by 
reference to costs incurred to date in 
comparison with the total estimated costs 
of the transaction at the balance sheet 
date. No margin is recognised on  
work-in-progress. Completed but unbilled 
services are recorded at net selling prices. 
Only the gross margin on contract hire of 
technical personnel is included in revenues.

borroWinG costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition, construction or 
production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a 
substantial period of time to get ready 
for their intended use or sale, are added 
to the cost of those assets, until such 
time as the assets are substantially 
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the 
temporary investment of specific 
borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the 
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised 
in the income statement in the period in 
which they are incurred.

caPital manaGement 

Capital comprises equity attributable 
to equity holders, loans and obligations 
under finance leases and cash and 
cash equivalents.

The Board of Directors’ policy is to 
maintain a strong capital base in order 
to maintain investor, creditor and 
market confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business. The 
Board also recommends the level of 
dividends to be distributed to ordinary 
shareholders on an annual basis.

The Group maintains sufficient liquidity 
at the Group and subsidiary level to 
meet its working capital requirements, 
fund capital purchases and small and 
medium-sized acquisitions.

Cash and cash equivalents as well as 
loans and obligations under finance 
leases are disclosed in notes 19 and 24.

In 2009, the Group initiated a new 
Share Buy-Back programme for a total 
of CHF 250 million, valid from 26 March 
2009 to 31 December 2011. Treasury 
shares are intended primarily to be used 

to cover the Group’s employee share 
option programmes and/or convertible 
bonds that may be issued. Decisions 
to buy or sell are made on an individual 
transaction basis by management.

There were no changes in the Group’s 
approach to capital management  
during the year.

The Group is not subject to any 
externally imposed capital requirements.

taXes 

Income taxes include all taxes based 
upon the taxable profits of the Group 
including withholding taxes payable 
on the transfer of income from Group 
companies and tax adjustments from 
prior years. Taxes on income are 
recognised in the income statement 
except to the extent that they relate to 
items directly charged or credited to 
equity, in which case the related income 
tax effect is recognised in equity. 
Provisions of income and withholding 
taxes that could arise on the remittance 
of subsidiary retained earnings are only 
made where there is a current intention 
to remit such earnings. Other taxes 
not based on income, such as property 
taxes and capital taxes, are included 
within operating expenses.

Deferred taxes are provided using the 
full liability method. They are calculated 
on all temporary differences that arise 
between the tax base of an asset or 
liability and the carrying values in the 
consolidated financial statements except 
for non tax-deductible goodwill and for 
those differences related to investments 
in subsidiaries where their reversal will 
not take place in the foreseeable future. 
Deferred income tax assets relating to 
the carry-forward of unused tax losses 
and tax credits are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that future 
profits be available against which they 
can be utilised. 

Current and deferred income tax assets 
and liabilities are offset when the 
income taxes are levied by the same 
taxing authority and where there is 
a legally enforceable right of offset. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
determined based on enacted tax rates 
in the respective jurisdictions in which 
the Group operates that are expected to 
apply to taxable income in the years in 
which those temporary differences are 
expected to be recovered or settled.
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earninGs Per share 

Basic earnings per share are calculated 
by dividing the Group’s profit by the 
weighted average number of shares 
outstanding during the year, excluding 
treasury shares. For diluted earnings per 
share, the weighted average number of 
shares outstanding is adjusted assuming 
conversion of all potential dilutive shares. 
Group profit is also adjusted to reflect the 
after-tax impact of conversion.

dividends 

Dividends are reported as a movement 
in equity in the period in which they are 
approved by the shareholders.

treasUry shares 

Treasury shares are reported as a 
deduction to equity. The original cost 
of treasury shares and the proceeds of 
any subsequent sale are recorded as 
movements in equity.

siGniFicant accoUntinG 

JUdGements and estimates 

Judgements

In the process of applying the entity’s 
accounting policies described above, 
management has made the following 
judgements that have a significant effect 
on the amounts recognised in  
the financial statements.

Legal and warranty claims on  

services rendered

The Group is subject to litigation and 
other claims as described in note 26. 
Management bases its judgements on the 
circumstances relating to each specific 
event, internal and external legal advice, 
knowledge of the industries and markets, 
prevailing commercial terms and legal 
precedent. The Group’s legal and warranty 
claims are reviewed, at a minimum, on 
a quarterly basis by a cross-functional 
representation of management.

Use of estimates

The key assumptions concerning 
the future, and other key sources of 
estimation at the balance sheet date 
that have a risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year, are discussed below.

Recoverability of trade accounts and 

notes receivable

Trade accounts and notes receivable are 
reflected net of an estimated allowance 
for doubtful accounts (see note 16). These 
allowances for uncollectible amounts are 
estimated based primarily on the Group’s 
ageing policy guidelines, individual client 
analysis and an analysis of the underlying 
risk profile of each major revenue stream 
by business and geography.

Impairment of Goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill 
is impaired at minimum on an annual 
basis. This requires an estimation of 
the value-in-use of the CGUs to which 
the goodwill is allocated. Estimating 
the value-in-use requires the Group to 
make an estimate of the expected future 
cash flows from the CGU that holds the 
goodwill at a determined discount rate 
in order to calculate the present value of 
those cash flows.

Estimations of employee  

post-employment benefits obligations

The Group maintains several defined 
benefit pension plans in accordance 
with local conditions and practices 
in the countries in which it operates. 
The related obligations recognised 
in the balance sheet represent the 
present value of the defined benefit 
obligations calculated annually by 
independent actuaries. These actuarial 
valuations include assumptions such 
as discount rates, return on assets, 
salary progression rates and mortality 
rates. These actuarial assumptions 
vary according to the local prevailing 
economic and social conditions. Details 
of the assumptions used are provided  
in note 25.

risK assessment 

Disclosures on the Group’s risk 
assessment process as required by 
Swiss law are presented in the notes to 
the accounts of SGS SA on page 133 of 
this report.

The most significant currencies for the Group were translated at the following exchange rates into Swiss Francs:

    year-end rates   annUal averaGe rates
   2009  2008 2009  2008

Australia AUD 100 92.56  73.00 85.45  91.82

Canada CAD 100 98.92  85.77 95.20  101.93

Eurozone  EUR 100 148.79  149.33 151.06  158.80

Great Britain  GBP 100 164.92  153.01 169.49  200.03

USA  USD 100 103.65  105.39 108.57  108.29
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bUsiness 
combinations and 
other siGniFicant 
transactions
The following business combinations and 
other significant transactions occurred 
during 2009 and 2008:

acQUisitions 2009

In 2009, the Group completed two 
acquisitions for a total purchase price  
of CHF 11 million (note 21).

UPM

Effective 1 February 2009, SGS acquired, 
for an equivalent of CHF 4 million, 
100% of Ustav Paliv a Maziv (UPM). 
This company operates two laboratories 
in Prague and Kolin (Czech Republic), 
that perform fuel test, fuel conformity 
assessment and engine testing services.

Goodwill on acquisition amounted to 
CHF 3 million.

EKO-PROJEKT

Effective 1 October 2009, SGS aquired, for 
an equivalent of CHF 7 million, 100% of 
EKO-PROJEKT Ltd., the leading provider 
of environmental and analytical services 
in Poland, with several laboratories and 
offices across the country.

Goodwill on acquisition amounted to 
CHF 5 million.

Other

In 2009, the Group acquired non-controlling 
interests of existing subsidiaries for an 
equivalent of CHF 4 million.

Goodwill on these transactions 
amounted to CHF 4 million.

Total

In 2009, all the above acquisitions 
contributed, in total, CHF 5 million in 
revenues and CHF 1 million in operating 
income for the year for the Group. Had all 
acquisitions been effective 1 January 2009, 
Group revenues for the year would have 
been increased by CHF 7 million and Group 
operating income  for the year would have 
been increased by CHF 2 million.

divestments 2009

There were no significant divestments 
in 2009. 

acQUisitions 2008

In 2008, the Group completed fourteen 
acquisitions for a total purchase price of 
CHF 196 million.

Horizon

Effective 1 April 2008, SGS acquired, for 
an equivalent of CHF 99 million, 100% of 
Horizon Energy Partners BV, an upstream 
services provider to the oil, gas and 
chemicals industry based in The Hague, 
Netherlands. Goodwill on acquisition 
amounted to CHF 66 million.

Other

In 2008, other acquisitions included: 
100% of the TACS electrical 
maintenance and condition monitoring 
business in Australia (effective January 
2008); 100% of Alvey Group, a provider 
of field research and GPS soil sampling 
services based in the United States 
(effective February 2008); 100% of 
CEMI, an environmental services 
provider to the mining industry based 
in Canada (effective May 2008); 100% 
of Western Geotechnics, a materials 
testing and development service 
provider based in Western Australia 
(effective May 2008); the technology 
research and testing facilities of Nokia 
Siemens Networks based in Germany 
and Finland (effective June 2008); 100% 
of PiD, a Brazilian group specialised 
in valve calibration, testing, training 
and consultancy (effective September 
2008); and 100% of TESCO, a provider 
of reliability testing and precision 
measurement of electronic systems and 
components based in Korea (effective 
November 2008).

These companies were acquired for an 
equivalent of CHF 76 million and the total 
goodwill generated on these transactions 
amounted to CHF 45 million. In addition, 
further small transactions for a total 
purchase price of CHF 21 million resulted 
in additional goodwill of CHF 14 million.

Total

In 2008, all the above acquisitions 
contributed, in total, CHF 79 million in 
revenues and CHF 14 million in operating 
income for the year for the Group. Had 
all acquisitions been effective 1 January 
2008, Group revenues for the year would 
have been increased by CHF 50 million and 
Group operating income for the year would 
have been increased by CHF 8 million.

divestments 2008

There were no significant divestments 
in 2008.

3
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 inFormation by bUsiness and  
 GeoGraPhical seGment

(CHF million)  2009 % 2008 %

revenUe From eXternal cUstomers by bUsiness seGment    

Agricultural Services 356 7.6 358 7.4

Minerals Services 1 536 11.4 632 13.1

Oil, Gas & Chemicals Services 1 951 20.2 985 20.5

Life Science Services   201 4.3 204 4.2

Consumer Testing Services 1 789 16.7 733 15.2

Systems & Services Certification 1   367 7.8 367 7.6

Industrial Services  744 15.8 738 15.3

Environmental Services   288 6.1 296 6.2

Automotive Services  266 5.6 293 6.1

Governments & Institutions Services  214 4.5 212 4.4

total  4 712 100.0 4 818 100.0

    
revenUe From eXternal cUstomers by GeoGraPhical seGment    

Europe/Africa/Middle East  2 536 53.8 2 643 54.9

Americas  983 20.9 1 026 21.3

Asia Pacific  1 193 25.3 1 149 23.8

total  4 712 100.0 4 818 100.0

1. Restated 2008 data following changes in group organisation.

The revenues reported represent revenue generated from external customers.

Revenue from external customers in Switzerland for 2009 amounted to CHF 273 million (2008: CHF 304 million). No country 
represented more than 15% of revenues from external customers in 2009 or 2008.

(CHF million)  2009 % 2008 %

oPeratinG income (beFore eXcePtionals) by bUsiness seGment    

Agricultural Services 57 7.0 56 6.9

Minerals Services 1 86 10.6 116 14.4

Oil, Gas & Chemicals Services 1 146 17.9 149 18.4

Life Science Services  28 3.4 28 3.4

Consumer Testing Services 1 200 24.6 170 21.1

Systems & Services Certification 1 78 9.5 70 8.6

Industrial Services  104 12.8 106 13.0

Environmental Services   34 4.2 31 3.9

Automotive Services  42 5.2 48 5.9

Governments & Institutions Services  39 4.8 36 4.4

total   814 100.0 810 100.0

    
oPeratinG income (beFore eXcePtionals) by GeoGraPhical seGment    

Europe/Africa/Middle East 401 49.2 406 50.1

Americas  81 10.0 105 13.0

Asia Pacific  332 40.8 299 36.9

total   814 100.0 810 100.0

1. Restated 2008 data following changes in group organisation.

As explained in note 6, the Group Consolidated Income Statements for 2009 and 2008 include exceptional items of a non-recurring 
nature. The two tables above present the operating income by business segment before the impact of these exceptional items.

4
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(CHF million)  2009 % 2008 %

eXcePtional items (beFore taX) by bUsiness seGment    

Agricultural Services (1) 5.0 - -

Minerals Services   (10) 50.0 - -

Oil, Gas & Chemicals Services   (3) 15.0 - -

Life Science Services   (1) 5.0 - -

Consumer Testing Services  (1) 5.0 - -

Systems & Services Certification  - 0.0 - -

Industrial Services   (5) 25.0 - -

Environmental Services  (1) 5.0 - -

Automotive Services  (1) 5.0 - -

Governments & Institutions Services   3 - 15.0 127 100.0

total    (20) 100.0 127 100.0

(CHF million)  2009 % 2008 %

oPeratinG assets by bUsiness seGment    

Agricultural Services  207 6.2 202 6.2

Minerals Services  431 12.9 467 14.3

Oil, Gas & Chemicals Services  683 20.4 603 18.4

Life Science Services  257 7.7 280 8.6

Consumer Testing Services  546 16.3 502 15.3

Systems & Services Certification  135 4.0 126 3.9

Industrial Services  481 14.4 452 13.8

Environmental Services   239 7.1 229 7.0

Automotive Services  181 5.4 172 5.3

Governments & Institutions Services   187 5.6 236 7.2

total  3 347 100.0 3 269 100.0

    
oPeratinG assets by GeoGraPhical seGment    

Europe/Africa/Middle East  1 827 54.6 1 698 51.9

Americas   771 23.0 778 23.8

Asia Pacific   749 22.4 793 24.3

total  3 347 100.0 3 269 100.0

(CHF million)    2009 2008

reconciliation oF oPeratinG assets by bUsiness seGment to the balance sheet  

Assets by business segment as above    3 347 3 269

Non-operating assets    389 312

total assets Per balance sheet     3 736 3 581

Segment assets comprise all assets held by the Group’s operating affiliates after elimination of inter-company balances.

(CHF million)  2009 % 2008 %

sPeciFic non-cUrrent assets by material coUntries   

Switzerland  107 6.8 123 8.1

Other Countries  1 457 93.2 1 393 91.9

total  1 564 100.0 1 516 100.0

No country represented more than 15% of the specific non-current assets in 2009 or 2008.
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(CHF million)    2009 2008

reconciliation With total non-cUrrent assets  

Specific non-current assets as above   1 564 1 516

Deferred tax assets    192 182

Non-current loans to third parties   1 3

total   1 757 1 701

maJor cUstomer inFormation

In 2009 and in 2008, no external customer represented 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue.

(CHF million)  2009 % 2008 %

oPeratinG liabilities by bUsiness seGment    

Agricultural Services  97 7.5 102 7.3

Minerals Services 146 11.3 190 13.8

Oil, Gas & Chemicals Services 260 20.2 273 19.8

Life Science Services   55 4.3 59 4.3

Consumer Testing Services  216 16.7 210 15.2

Systems & Services Certification   101 7.8 105 7.6

Industrial Services   204 15.8 212 15.3

Environmental Services  79 6.1 85 6.2

Automotive Services  73 5.7 84 6.1

Governments & Institutions Services   59 4.6 61 4.4

total  1 290 100.0 1 381 100.0

    

oPeratinG liabilities by GeoGraPhical seGment    

Europe/Africa/Middle East  770 59.7 903 65.4

Americas   240 18.6 221 16.0

Asia Pacific  280 21.7 257 18.6

total  1 290 100.0 1 381 100.00

(CHF million)    2009 2008

reconciliation oF oPeratinG liabilities by bUsiness seGment to the balance sheet  

Liabilities by business segment as above    1 290 1 381

Non-operating liabilities    336 338

total liabilities Per balance sheet     1 626 1 719
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(CHF million)  2009 % 2008 %

dePreciation and amortisation by bUsiness seGment    
Agricultural Services  11 4.9 11 5.1

Minerals Services 1 33 14.8 33 15.4

Oil, Gas & Chemicals Services 1 41 18.4 40 18.8

Life Science Services   11 4.9 11 5.1

Consumer Testing Services 1 55 24.7 51 23.8

Systems & Services Certification 1 5 2.3 5 2.3

Industrial Services  24 10.8 21 9.8

Environmental Services   17 7.6 17 7.9

Automotive Services   15 6.7 15 7.0

Governments & Institutions Services   11 4.9 10 4.8

total   223 100.0 214 100.0    

dePreciation and amortisation by GeoGraPhical seGment    
Europe/Africa/Middle East 114 51.1 111 51.9

Americas  38 17.0 38 17.8

Asia Pacific  71 31.9 65 30.3

total    223 100.0 214 100.0

1. Restated 2008 data following changes in group organisation.

(CHF million)  2009 % 2008 %

imPairment by bUsiness seGment    
Minerals Services 1 5 100.0 - -

total    5 100.0 - -    

imPairment by GeoGraPhical seGment    
Americas 1 5 100.0 - -

total   5 100.0 - -

1. See Exceptional items (note 6).

   2009 2008

averaGe nUmber oF emPloyees by GeoGraPhical seGment   
Europe/Africa/Middle East    25 755 25 121

Americas    12 211 12 260

Asia Pacific    19 187 17 645

total    57 153 55 026
Number of employees at year-end    58 818 57 301

(CHF million)  2009 % 2008 %

caPital additions by bUsiness seGment    
Agricultural Services  14 6.3 14 4.8

Minerals Services  19 8.6 80 27.6

Oil, Gas & Chemicals Services  54 24.5 53 18.3

Life Science Services   14 6.3 9 3.1

Consumer Testing Services  55 24.9 57 19.7

Systems & Services Certification  4 1.8 4 1.4

Industrial Services   23 10.4 32 11.0

Environmental Services   17 7.7 20 6.8

Automotive Services  14 6.3 13 4.5

Governments & Institutions Services   7 3.2 8 2.8

total  221 100.0 290 100.0
    

caPital additions by GeoGraPhical seGment    
Europe/Africa/Middle East  114 51.6 128 44.2

Americas  32 14.5 70 24.1

Asia Pacific   75 33.9 92 31.7

total    221 100.0 290 100.0
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In 2009, the Group incurred a restructuring charge largely as a result of personnel re-organisation due to the decline in market 
conditions in certain businesses and geographies as well as impairment of assets of CHF 5 million.

In 2008, the Group reached an amicable resolution of an outstanding receivable issue with the Government of the Philippines 
resulting in a gain of CHF 147 million before related legal and financial fees. These receivables were fully provided for in 2001, with 
the adjustment charged as an exceptional item in the income statement. The Government of the Philippines paid CHF 75 million in 
2008, while the second half of the settlement was paid in September 2009 (after tax cash inflow of CHF 60 million). 

6 eXcePtional items
In 2009, the Group consolidated income statement included exceptional items of a 
non-recurring nature amounting to a charge of CHF 20 million (2008: net income  
of CHF 127 million):

(CHF million)  2009 2008

Restructuring and termination expenses (20) -

Settlement of pre-2002 GIS receivables - 147

Legal and financial fees  - (20)

total  (20) 127

Financial income

(CHF million)  2009 2008

Interest income  5 9

Foreign exchange gains  6 2

Other financial income  1 -

total   12 11

Financial eXPenses

(CHF million)  2009 2008

Interest expense 7 10

Loss on derivatives at fair value 4 2

Other financial expenses 4 3

total   15 15

7

8

5 other oPeratinG eXPenses

(CHF million)  2009 2008

Rental expense, insurance, utilities and sundry supplies  219 215

Consumables, repairs and maintenance  311 339

Communication costs  97 104

Travel costs  286 320

Miscellaneous operating income and expenses  229 242

total  1 142 1 220
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The Group has operations in various countries that have differing tax laws and rates. Consequently, the effective tax rate on 
consolidated income varies from year to year. A reconciliation between the reported income tax expense and the amount that 
would arise using the weighted average statutory tax rate of the Group is as follows:

(CHF million)  2009 2008

reconciliation oF taX eXPense  

Profit before taxes   791 933

Tax at the domestic rates applicable to the profits earned in the country concerned  166 198

Tax effect of non-deductible or non-taxable items  (1) (2)

Tax charge from / (usage of) unrecognised tax losses  6 -

Non-creditable foreign withholding taxes  29 24

Other  - (1)

taX charGe   200 219

  2009   2008
(CHF million)   assets  liabilities assets  liabilities

comPonents oF deFerred income taX balances    

Fixed assets   17  15 14  18

Inventories and receivables  9  5 21  9

Actuarial gains and losses on pensions 75  - 67  -

Provisions and other  39  57 45  38

Intangible assets   10  - 13  -

Tax loss carry-forwards  42  - 22  -

deFerred income taXes  192  77 182  65

Net change in deferred tax assets (liabilities):

    actUarial   
  inventories oPeratinG Gains &  taX losses 
 FiXed & trade Provisions losses on intanGible carry- 
(CHF million) assets receivables & others Pensions assets ForWard total

net deFerred income taX asset  
(liability) at 1 JanUary 2008 (12) 11 2 46 15 22 84

(Charged)/credited to the income statement  8 1 - - (1) 1 9

(Charged)/credited to the shareholders’ equity  - - - 24 - - 24

Exchange differences and other  - - 5 (3) (1) (1) -

net deFerred income taX asset
(liability) at 31 december 2008 (4) 12 7 67 13 22 117

(Charged)/credited to the income statement  5 (11) (21) - (3) 20 (10)

(Charged)/credited to the shareholders’ equity  - - - 8 - - 8

Exchange differences and other  1 3 (4) - - - -

net deFerred income taX asset     2 4 (18) 75 10 42 115
(liability) at 31 december 2009

taXes
 

(CHF million)  2009 2008

maJor comPonents oF taX eXPense  

Current taxes 190 228

Deferred tax expense/(credit) relating to the  
origination and reversal of temporary differences 10 (9)

total 200 219

9
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The Group has unrecognised tax losses carried forward amounting to CHF 41 million (2008: CHF 19 million) of which  
CHF 7 million (2008: CHF 7 million) expire within the next five years. No tax losses carried forward expired in 2009.
 

(CHF million)  2009 2008

reFlected in the balance sheet as FolloWs:  

Deferred tax assets 192 182

Deferred tax liabilities  (77) (65)

total   115 117

At 31 December 2009, consolidated retained earnings include approximately CHF 3 449 million (2008: CHF 3 343 million) of 
undistributed earnings associated with investments in subsidiaries and foreign incorporated joint ventures that may be subject  
to tax if remitted to the parent company. As a Group policy, no deferred tax is recognised in respect of these amounts until the 
point at which the distributable earnings are determined and foreign statutory requirements, allowing the distribution, are fulfilled.  
Until that time, the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse  
in the foreseeable future.

Diluted earnings per share are calculated as basic earnings per share except that the weighted average number of shares includes 
the dilutive effect of the Group’s share option plans (see note 32):

 2009 2008

Profit attributable to equity holders of SGS SA (CHF million) 566 692

Diluted weighted average number of shares  7 529 218 7 627 727

dilUted earninGs Per share (chF)  75.17 90.72

Earnings per share before exceptionals are calculated as follows:

 2009 2008

Profit attributable to equity holders of SGS SA (CHF million)  566 692

Exceptional items net of tax (CHF million)  13 (113)

Profit attributable to equity holders of SGS SA before exceptionals (CHF million) 579 579

basic earninGs Per share beFore eXcePtionals (chF)  77.22 76.19

dilUted earninGs Per share beFore eXcePtionals (chF)  76.90 75.89

10 earninGs Per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated as follows:

 2009 2008

Profit attributable to equity holders of SGS SA (CHF million) 566 692

Weighted average number of shares  7 498 206 7 597 219

basic earninGs Per share (chF)  75.48 91.08
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land, bUildinGs and eQUiPment

(CHF million)  land & machinery & other tanGible 
 bUildinGs eQUiPment assets total

2009    

cost    

At 1 January 373 959 441 1 773

Additions   25 133 46 204

Acquisition of subsidiaries   - 4 2 6

Sale of subsidiaries  - - - -

Disposals  (1) (53) (33) (87)

Exchange differences 10 32 11 53

At 31 December   407 1 075 467 1 949 
 

accUmUlated dePreciation and imPairment   

At 1 January 152 611 289 1 052

Depreciation  14 126 46 186

Impairment 1 - 5 - 5

Acquisition of subsidiaries  - 2 1 3

Sale of subsidiaries  - - - -

Disposals  (1) (45) (29) (75)

Exchange differences  2 20 5 27

At 31 December  167 719 312 1 198

net booK valUe at 31 december 2009  240 356 155 751

    

inclUded in land, bUildinGs and eQUiPment are leased assets as FolloWs

Purchase cost of leased tangible assets  8 4 1 13

Accumulated depreciation  3 3 1 7

net booK valUe at 31 december 2009 5 1 0 6

1. Reported within Exceptional items (note 6). 

11
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(CHF million)  land & machinery other tanGible 
 bUildinGs & eQUiPment assets total

2008    

cost    

At 1 January 386 971 474 1 831

Additions  37 138 94 269

Acquisition of subsidiaries  1 15 3 19

Sale of subsidiaries  - (1) (2) (3)

Disposals  (3) (36) (31) (70)

Exchange differences  (48) (128) (97) (273)

At 31 December  373 959 441 1 773

accUmUlated dePreciation and imPairment    

At 1 January 161 617 315 1 093

Depreciation 15 122 43 180

Impairment  - - - -

Acquisition of subsidiaries  - 1 1 2

Sale of subsidiaries  - (1) (1) (2)

Disposals  (3) (31) (27) (61)

Exchange differences  (21) (97) (42) (160)

At 31 December  152 611 289 1 052

net booK valUe at 31 december 2008 221 348 152 721
    

inclUded in land, bUildinGs and eQUiPment are leased assets as FolloWs   

Purchase cost of leased tangible assets 7 4 1 12

Accumulated depreciation  3 2 - 5

net booK valUe at 31 december 2008 4 2 1 7

At 31 December 2009, the Group had commitments of CHF 6 million (2008: CHF 3 million) for the acquisition of land,  
buildings and equipment.

Included in the other tangible assets are construction-in-progress assets amounting to CHF 14 million (2008: CHF 22 million).

The values of buildings and equipment for fire insurance purposes are as follows:
 

(CHF million)   2009 2008

Buildings  465 460

Machinery, equipment and other tangible assets   1 393 1 299
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GoodWill

(CHF million)  2009 2008

cost  

At 1 January 594 563

Additions  12 125

Disposals  - -

Exchange differences  23 (94)

at 31 december   629 594

Goodwill additions include no contingent consideration in relation to prior years’ acquisitions (2008: CHF 0.5 million).

Goodwill impairment reviews have been conducted for more than 40 goodwill items allocated to specific cash generating units 
(CGU). The goodwill items tested account for 98% of the total goodwill net book value reported as at 31 December 2009.  
No goodwill impairment exposure was identified and therefore no impairment charge was recorded (2008: nil). 

Detailed results of the impairment tests are presented below for larger goodwill items (representing 48% of all goodwill items 
tested). These tests have all been performed in accordance with the Group’s uniform method described on page 91.

liFe science services, eUroPe

Goodwill recognised on the following acquisitions has been allocated to the Life Science Services, Europe CGU for impairment testing 
purposes: Medisearch International (2003), Cibest (2004) and Aster Cephac (2006). The carrying amounts of the goodwill items 
allocated to this CGU are expressed in EUR for an equivalent of CHF 88 million as at 31 December 2009 (2008: CHF 88 million). 

The recoverable amount of the CGU, determined based upon a value-in-use calculation, is higher than its carrying amount. Cash 
flow projections were used in this calculation, discounted at a pre-tax rate of 8.5%. The cash flows for the first five years were 
based upon financial plans approved by Group Management while the subsequent years assume a conservative annual revenue 
growth of 1.0% and stable operating margins. The overall assumptions used in the calculation are consistent with the expected 
average growth rate of the Life Science Services business in Europe. 

The key sensitivity for the impairment test is the growth in sales and operating margin. Reducing the expected annual revenue 
growth rates for the first five years by 200 basis points would not result in the carrying amount exceeding the recoverable amount.

An increase of 1% in the discount rate assumption would not change the conclusions of the impairment test.

FreseniUs services, eUroPe

Goodwill recognised on the acquisition of Institut Fresenius AG (2004) has been allocated to a specific cross-business CGU for 
impairment testing purposes. The carrying amount of the goodwill allocated to this CGU is expressed in EUR for an equivalent of 
CHF 64 million as at 31 December 2009 (2008: CHF 64 million). 

The recoverable amount of the CGU, determined based upon a value-in-use calculation, is higher than its carrying amount. Cash 
flow projections were used in this calculation, discounted at a pre-tax rate of 8.7%. The cash flows for the first five years were 
based upon financial plans approved by Group Management while the subsequent years assume a conservative annual revenue 
growth of 1.0% and stable operating margins. The overall assumptions used in the calculation are consistent with the expected 
average growth rate of the Fresenius businesses in Europe. 

The key sensitivity for the impairment test is the growth in sales and operating margin. Reducing the expected annual revenue 
growth rates for the first five years by 200 basis points would not result in the carrying amount exceeding the recoverable amount. 

An increase of 1% in the discount rate assumption would not change the conclusions of the impairment test.

12
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oil, Gas & chemicals services, eUroPe

Goodwill recognised on the acquisition of Horizon Energy Partners (2008) has been allocated to the Oil, Gas & Chemicals Services, 
Europe CGU for impairment testing purposes. The carrying amount of the goodwill allocated to the CGU is expressed in EUR for an 
equivalent of CHF 65 million as at 31 December 2009 (2008: CHF 63 million). 

The recoverable amount of the CGU, determined based upon a value-in-use calculation, is higher than its carrying amount.  
Cash flow projections were used in this calculation, discounted at a pre-tax rate of 9.8%. The cash flows for the first five years 
were based upon financial plans approved by Group Management while the subsequent years assume a conservative annual 
revenue growth of 2.0% and stable operating margins. The overall assumptions used in the calculation are consistent with the 
expected average growth rate of the Oil, Gas & Chemicals Services segment served by the Group. 

The key sensitivity for the impairment test is the growth in sales and operating margin. Reducing the expected annual revenue 
growth rates for the first five years by 200 basis points would not result in the carrying amount exceeding the recoverable amount.

An increase of 1% in the discount rate assumption would not change the conclusions of the impairment test.

minerals services, americas

Goodwill recognised on the following acquisitions has been allocated to the Minerals Services, Americas CGU for impairment 
testing purposes: Lakefield group (2002) and Minnovex group (2005). The carrying amounts of the goodwill items allocated to this 
CGU are expressed in various currencies for an equivalent of CHF 52 million as at 31 December 2009 (2008: CHF 45 million). 

The recoverable amount of the CGU, determined based upon a value-in-use calculation, is higher than its carrying amount. Cash 
flow projections were used in this calculation, discounted at a pre-tax rate of 10.3%. The cash flows for the first five years were 
based upon financial plans approved by Group Management while the subsequent years assume a conservative annual revenue 
growth of 1.0% and stable operating margins. The overall assumptions used in the calculation are consistent with the expected 
average growth rate of the Minerals Services business. 

The key sensitivity for the impairment test is the growth in sales and operating margin. Reducing the expected annual revenue 
growth rates for the first five years by 200 basis points would not result in the carrying amount exceeding the recoverable amount.

An increase of 1% in the discount rate assumption would not change the conclusions of the impairment test.

oil, Gas & chemicals services, north america

Goodwill recognised on the acquisition of Petroleum Services Corporation Inc. (2005) has been allocated to the Oil, Gas & 
Chemicals Services, North America CGU for impairment testing purposes. The carrying amount of the goodwill allocated to this 
CGU is expressed in USD for an equivalent of CHF 33 million as at 31 December 2009 (2008: CHF 34 million). 

The recoverable amount of the CGU, determined based upon a value-in-use calculation, is higher than its carrying amount.  
Cash flow projections were used in this calculation, discounted at a pre-tax rate of 9.6%. The cash flows for the first five years 
were based upon financial plans approved by Group Management while the subsequent years assume a conservative annual 
revenue growth of 1.0% and stable operating margins. The overall assumptions used in the calculation are consistent with the 
expected average growth rate of the Oil, Gas & Chemicals Services business in North America. 

The key sensitivity for the impairment test is the growth in sales and operating margin. Reducing the expected annual revenue 
growth rates for the first five years by 200 basis points would not result in the carrying amount exceeding the recoverable amount.

An increase of 1% in the discount rate assumption would not change the conclusions of the impairment test.
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other intanGible assets

(CHF million) trademarKs and other cUstomer relationshiPs internally Generated PUrchased total

2009     

cost     

At 1 January  39 75 53 174 341

Additions    - 1 5 11 17

Acquisition of subsidiaries  - 2 - - 2

Sale of subsidiaries  - - - - -

Disposals  - - - (7) (7)

Exchange differences  - 1 - - 1

At 31 December 39 79 58 178 354

accUmUlated amortisation and imPairment     

At 1 January    5 12 37 122 176

Amortisation   2 6 7 22 37

Impairment  - - - - -

Acquisition of subsidiaries  - - - - -

Sale of subsidiaries  - - - - -

Disposals  - - - (7) (7)

Exchange differences  - - - - -

At 31 December   7 18 44 137 206

net booK valUe at 31 december 2009  32 61 14 41 148

(CHF million) trademarKs and other cUstomer relationshiPs internally Generated PUrchased total

2008     

cost     

At 1 January  27 63 47 167 304

Additions  - - 6 15 21

Acquisition of subsidiaries  17 23 - 4 44

Sale of subsidiaries - - - - -

Disposals  - (1) - (3) (4)

Exchange differences  (5) (10) - (9) (24)

At 31 December 39 75 53 174 341

accUmUlated amortisation and imPairment     

At 1 January  2 9 30 110 151

Amortisation  3 5 7 19 34

Impairment - - - - -

Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - 2 2

Sale of subsidiaries  - - - - -

Disposals  - (1) - (3) (4)

Exchange differences - (1) - (6) (7)

At 31 December 5 12 37 122 176

net booK valUe at 31 december 2008    34 63 16 52 165

13
comPUter soFtWare  

and other assets

comPUter soFtWare  
and other assets
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siGniFicant intanGible assets

The Group is implementing global management information systems focusing on contract management, finance and sales order 
processing. In particular, additions relating to the Group’s ERP system amount to CHF 5 million (2008: CHF 5 million) and are being 
amortised over a period of four years. 

Incremental costs relating to internally generated assets are capitalised when incurred and amortised over a period of four years 
from the time of occurrence. Purchased intangible assets mainly consist of purchased computer software and consultancy services 
required for implementations.

other non-cUrrent assets

(CHF million)  2009 2008

Non-current loans to third parties 1 3

Other non-current assets  35 34

total   36 37

Depending on the nature of the loan, currency and date of maturity, interest rates on 
long-term loans to third parties range between 0% and 15%. 

Other non-current assets consist mainly of deposits for guarantees and include  
CHF 13 million (2008: CHF 6 million) of restricted cash. Typical examples of restricted 
cash are cash deposits for performance bonds, rentals and other operating obligations.

At 31 December 2009 and 2008, the fair value of the Group’s other non-current 
assets approximates the carrying value.

Unbilled revenUes and inventories

(CHF million)  2009 2008

Work-in-progress  23 23

Unbilled revenues  144 128

Inventories  34 33

total   201 184

trade accoUnts and notes receivable

(CHF million)  2009 2008

Trade accounts and notes receivable  994 1 092

Allowance for doubtful accounts  (182)  (173)

total   812 919

  
Ageing of trade accounts and notes receivable not impaired:  

Not overdue 371  293

Past due not more than two months  291  376

Past due more than two months but not more than four months  80  100

Past due more than four months but not more than six months  36  40

Past due more than six months but not more than one year  34  35

Past due more than one year 1 -  75

total   812 919

1. See Exceptional items (note 6).

14
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Credit risks arise mainly from the possibility that customers may not be able to settle their obligations as agreed. The Group 
periodically assesses the creditworthiness of customers. 

The Group’s credit risk is diversified due to the large number of entities that make up the Group’s customer base and the 
diversification across many different industries and geographic regions. 

The maximum credit risk to which the Group is theoretically exposed at 31 December 2009 is represented by the carrying amounts 
of receivables in the balance sheet. 

No customer accounts for 5% or more of the Group’s total receivables at balance sheet date.

The nominal value, less impairment provisions, of trade accounts and notes receivable is assumed to approximate their fair value. 

The movement of allowance for doubtful accounts is analysed as follows:

(CHF million)  2009 2008

Balance at beginning of the year  (173) (400)

Increase in allowance recognised in the income statement  (22) (31)

Reversal of allowance on pre-2002 GIS receivables 1 - 150

Utilisations 2  14 97

Exchange differences  (1) 11

total  (182) (173)

1. See Exceptional items (note 6). 

2. In 2008, utilisations amounting to CHF 76 million were attributable to the settlement of pre-2002 GIS receivables (see note 6).

Receivables aged less than 360 days are provided when the credit worthiness review indicates that the amounts may have 
become unrecoverable.

The Group provides fully for all receivables over 360 days as historical experience shows that receivables aged more than 360 days 
are generally not recoverable.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of counter-parties and customers. 
Accordingly, management believes that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.

17 other receivables and PrePayments

(CHF million)  2009 2008

Prepayments 54 52

Derivative assets  6 24

Other receivables  114 118

total  174 194

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a 
large number of counter-parties.

Other receivables consist mainly of sales and other taxes recoverable as well as 
advances to suppliers and prepaid income tax.
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marKetable secUrities

(CHF million)  2009 2008

Available for sale  9 9

total  9 9

Unrealised gains or losses on marketable securities designated as available for sale  
and which are recorded in equity amounted to a gain of CHF 0.5 million for 2009  
(2008: a loss of CHF 0.4 million).

cash and cash eQUivalents

(CHF million)  2009 2008

Cash and short-term deposits  775 573

Short-term loans  8 1

total   783 574

Cash and cash equivalents do not include restricted cash, which is reported within 
other non-current assets.

cash FloW statement
20.1. other non-cash items

(CHF million)  notes 2009 2008

Depreciation of buildings and equipment 11 186 180

Impairment of land, buildings and equipment and other intangible assets 11 & 13 5 -

Amortisation of intangible assets 13 37 34

Net financial expenses  3 4

(Decrease) in provisions and employee benefits  (50) (41)

Share-based payment expenses  13 17

(Gain) on disposals of businesses  - (1)

(Gain) on disposals of land, buildings and equipment  (1) (2)

Taxes  200 219

other non-cash items  393 410

18
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20.2. movement in WorKinG caPital

(CHF million)  notes 2009 2008

(Increase) in unbilled revenues and inventories  (10) (5)

Decrease / (Increase) in trade accounts and notes receivable  54 (95)

(Increase) in other receivables and prepayments  (1) (6)

(Decrease) / Increase in trade and other payables  (31) 9

Increase in other creditors and accruals  - 76

Increase / (Decrease) in other provisions  1 (1)

decrease / (increase) in WorKinG caPital  13 (22)

20.3. cash FloWs arisinG From acQUisitions and divestments oF bUsinesses

 2009 2009 2008 2008
(CHF million)  acQUisitions divestments acQUisitions divestments

Tangible and intangible assets  (4) - (59) 1

Current assets excluding cash and cash equivalents  (1) - (26) 11

Cash and cash equivalents  (1) - (14) -

Current liabilities  3 - 26 (9)

Non-current liabilities  - - 2 (1)

net identiFiable assets acQUired or divested  (3) - (71) 2

Acquired/(divested) cash and cash equivalents  1 - 14 -

sUbtotal  (2) - (57) 2

Goodwill  (12) - (125) -

Divestments gain  - - - 1

Consideration payable / (recoverable)  2 - (5) -

Receipts / (payments) on prior year aquisitions 12 - - -

net cash FloWs  - - (187) 3

receiPts on Prior year acQUisitions

In 2009, the Group recorded a CHF 14 million cash in-flow in relation with contingent consideration on prior year Horizon acquisition.  
At 31 December 2008, this amount was already recorded as an amount receivable from former shareholders.

Note 3 provides further information regarding acquisitions and divestments of businesses. All acquisitions were settled in cash.
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acQUisitions

total assets and liabilities arisinG From the 2009 acQUisitions

     

    booK Fair valUe Fair valUe
(CHF million)    valUe adJUstments on acQUisition

Tangible and intangible assets    3 2 5

Current assets excluding cash and cash equivalents    1 - 1

Cash and cash equivalents    1 - 1

Current liabilities    (4) - (4)

Non-current liabilities    - - -

net assets acQUired    1 2 3

Goodwill      12

total PUrchase Price      15

Acquired cash and cash equivalents      (1)

Consideration (payable)      (2)

net cash oUtFloW on acQUisitions      12

The goodwill arising on these acquisitions relates mainly to the value of expected synergies and the value of the qualified workforce 
that do not meet the criteria for recognition as separable intangible assets.

Due to the timing of the transaction, the initial accounting for the acquisition of EKO-PROJEKT has only been provisionally 
determined at the balance sheet date.

Financial risK manaGement

risK manaGement Policies and obJectives

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to market, credit and liquidity risk. Market risk includes foreign exchange,  
interest rate and equity price risks. 

The risk management policies and objectives are governed by the Group’s policies approved by the Board of Directors. 

The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk limits and controls 
and to monitor the risk and limits continually by means of reliable and up-to-date administrative and information systems. 

The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies. The Audit 
Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit.

21
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risK manaGement activities

The Group uses three types of foreign exchange contracts: fair value, cash flow and net investments in foreign operations to 
manage the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. These activities are carried out in accordance with 
the Group’s risk management policies and objectives in areas such as counter-party exposure and hedging practices. Counter-parties 
to these agreements are major international financial institutions with high credit ratings and positions are monitored using market 
value and sensitivity analyses. The associated credit risk is therefore limited. These agreements generally include the exchange of 
one currency for a second currency at a future date.

The following table summarises foreign exchange contracts outstanding at year-end. The notional amount of derivatives summarised 
below represents the gross amount of the contracts and includes transactions which have not yet matured. Therefore the figures 
do not reflect the Group’s net exposure at year-end. The market value approximates the costs to settle the outstanding contracts. 
These market values should not be viewed in isolation but in relation to the market values of the underlying hedged transactions and 
the overall reduction in the Group’s exposure to adverse fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. 

Currently, the Group has limited exposure to interest risk and no exposure to equity price risks.

 notional amoUnt booK valUe marKet valUe
(CHF million)  2009  2008 2009  2008 2009  2008

ForeiGn eXchanGe ForWard contracts      

Currency:      

Australian Dollar (AUD)  (30)  (29)  (1) 1  (1) 1

Brazilian Real (BRL) (5)  -  - -  - -

Canadian Dollar (CAD)  (10)  (46)  - 2  - 2

Chinese Renminbi (CNY) (60)  30  - -  - -

Euro (EUR)  (226)  140  2 (7)  2 (7)

British Pound Sterling (GBP)  45  30  (1) (2)  (1) (2)

Hong Kong Dollar (HKD) 35  (3)  - -  - -

Japanese Yen (JPY)  (4)  (8)  (1) -  (1) -

Korean Won (KRW)  (1)  -  - -  - -

New Zealand Dollar (NZD)  (3)  (3)  - -  - -

US Dollar (USD)  78  (66)  (12) 5  (12) 5

South African Rand (ZAR)  (12)  (8)  - -  - -

Other   (16)  (3)  1 1  1 1

total      (209)  34  (12) -  (12) -

Fair valUe measUrement recoGnised in the balance sheet

Marketable securities and derivatives assets and liabilities are the only financial instruments measured at fair value subsequent to 
their initial recognition.

Marketable securities (2009: CHF 9 million; 2008: CHF 9 million) qualify as Level 1 fair value measurement category. Derivative 
assets (2009: CHF 6 million; 2008: CHF 24 million) and liabilities (2009: CHF 4 million; 2008: CHF 23 million) qualify as Level 2 fair 
value measurement category in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from the quoted price in active markets. Level 2 fair value measurements are 
those derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset and liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Derivatives assets and liabilities consist of foreign currency forward contracts that are measured using quoted forward exchange 
rates and yield curves derived from quoted interest rates matching maturities of the contract.
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credit risK manaGement

Credit risk arises from the possibility that customers may not be able to settle their obligations as agreed. It arises principally from 
the Group’s commercial activities. The Group has dedicated standards, policies and procedures to control and monitor such risks.

As part of financial management activities the Group enters into various types of transactions with international banks, usually with 
a credit rating of at least A. Exposure to these risks is closely monitored and kept within predetermined parameters.  
The Group does not expect any non-performance by these counter-parties.

The maximum credit risk to which the Group is theoretically exposed at 31 December 2009 is the carrying amount of financial 
assets including derivatives.

Analysis of financial assets by class and category at 31 December 2009:

 amortised cost Fair valUe 
 loans and receivables available For sale at Fair valUe throUGh P&l total
  carryinG Fair carryinG Fair carryinG Fair carryinG Fair
(CHF million) amoUnt valUe amoUnt valUe amoUnt valUe amoUnt valUe

Cash and cash equivalents   775 775 - - - - 775 775

Trade receivables  812 812 - - - - 812 812

Other receivables 83 83 - - - - 83 83

Unbilled revenues  144 144 - - - - 144 144

Loans to 3rd parties – current  8 8 - - - - 8 8

Loans to 3rd parties – non-current  1 1 - - - - 1 1

Marketable securities  - - 9 9 - - 9 9

Derivatives  - - - - 6 6 6 6

total Financial assets   1 823 1 823 9 9 6 6 1 838 1 838

Analysis of financial assets by class and category at 31 December 2008:

 amortised cost Fair valUe 
 loans and receivables available For sale at Fair valUe throUGh P&l total
  carryinG Fair carryinG Fair carryinG Fair carryinG Fair
(CHF million) amoUnt valUe amoUnt valUe amoUnt valUe amoUnt valUe

Cash and cash equivalents 573 573 - - - - 573 573

Trade receivables 919 919 - - - - 919 919

Other receivables 96 96 - - - - 96 96

Unbilled revenues 128 128 - - - - 128 128

Loans to 3rd parties – current 1 1 - - - - 1 1

Loans to 3rd parties – non-current 3 3 - - - - 3 3

Marketable securities  - - 9 9 - - 9 9

Derivatives  - - - - 24 24 24 24

total Financial assets   1 720 1 720 9 9 24 24 1 753 1 753
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liQUidity risK manaGement

The objective of the Group liquidity and funding management is to ensure that all its foreseeable financial commitments can be 
met when due. Liquidity and funding is primarily managed by Group Treasury in accordance with practices and limits set in the risk 
management policies and objectives approved by the Board of Directors.

The nature of the Group’s business requires keeping a significant part of the cash reserves in the operating units.

Due to the significant cash position liquidity risk is limited. The Group has various committed and uncommitted bilateral credit 
facilities with its banks.

Analysis of financial liabilities by class and category at 31 December 2009:

 amortised cost Fair valUe 
 other liabilities at Fair valUe throUGh P&l total
 carryinG Fair carryinG Fair carryinG Fair
(CHF million) amoUnt valUe amoUnt valUe amoUnt valUe

Trade payables  162 162 - - 162 162

Other payables  113 113 - - 113 113

Advances from clients  42 42 - - 42 42

Loans and obligations under finance leases  313 313 - - 313 313

Derivatives  - - 4 4 4 4

Bank overdrafts  3 3 - - 3 3

total Financial liabilities  633 633 4 4 637 637

Analysis of financial liabilities by class and category at 31 December 2008:

 amortised cost Fair valUe 
 other liabilities at Fair valUe throUGh P&l total
 carryinG Fair carryinG Fair carryinG Fair
(CHF million) amoUnt valUe amoUnt valUe amoUnt valUe

Trade payables  181 181 - - 181 181

Other payables 114 114 - - 114 114

Advances from clients  41 41 - - 41 41

Loans and obligations under finance leases  334 334 - - 334 334

Derivatives  - - 23 23 23 23

Bank overdrafts  1 1 - - 1 1

total Financial liabilities  671 671 23 23 694 694

Contractual maturities of financial liabilities including interest payments at 31 December 2009:

   Gross Gross   
  banK settled settled   
 borroWinGs overdraFts Financial Financial trade  
 3rd Party and other instrUments instrUments Payables Finance 
(CHF million) lt and st liabilities oUtFloWs inFloWs and others leases total

On demand or within one year   310 12 184 (183) 272 2 597

Within the second year   1 - - - 3 - 4

Within the third year  1 - - - 16 - 17

Within the fourth year  - 1 - - - - 1

Within the fifth year  - - - - - - -

After five years  - 1 - - - - 1

The Group hedges its foreign exchange exposures on a net basis. The net gross settled financial instruments of CHF 1 million  
(2008: CHF 3 million) represents the net nominal value expressed in CHF of the Group’s foreign contracts outstanding at 31 December 2009. 
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Contractual maturities of financial liabilities including interest payments at 31 December 2008:

   Gross Gross   
  banK settled settled   
 borroWinGs overdraFts Financial Financial trade  
 3rd Party and other instrUments instrUments Payables Finance 
(CHF million) lt and st liabilities oUtFloWs inFloWs and others leases total

On demand or within one year 329 12 788 (785) 323 1 668

Within the second year  1 2 - - 1 1 5

Within the third year  8 - - - 1 - 9

Within the fourth year  - - - - - - -

Within the fifth year  - - - - - - -

After five years  1 1 - - - - 2

sensitivity analyses

The estimated changes in the value of net foreign currency positions are based on an instantaneous 5% weakening of the Swiss Franc 
against all other currencies from the level applicable at 31 December 2009 and 2008, with all other variables remaining constant.

Sensitivity analysis at 31 December 2009 and 2008:

 2009 2008

 income statement imPact eQUity imPact income statement imPact eQUity imPact

(CHF million) income /(eXPense) increase / (decrease) income /(eXPense) increase / (decrease)

US Dollar (USD)  1 4 (1) 8

Euro (EUR)  (3) - (1) -

CFA Franc BEAC (XAF) 1 - 1 -

British Pound Sterling (GBP)  - 2 - 2

Australian Dollar (AUD)  - 2 - 2

Canadian Dollar (CAD)  - 5 - 2

Korean Won (KRW)  - 1 - 1

Chilean Peso (CLP)  - 1 - 1

share caPital and treasUry shares

 shares in treasUry total total share caPital
 circUlation shares shares issUed (CHF million)

balance at 1 JanUary 2008 7 628 968 193 468 7 822 436 8

Treasury shares released into circulation  34 110 (34 110) - -

Treasury shares purchased  (189 642) 189 642 - -

balance at 31 december 2008   7 473 436 349 000 7 822 436  8

Treasury shares released into circulation   33 638 (33 638) - -

Treasury shares purchased  (7 188) 7 188 - -

balance at 31 december 2009 7 499 886 322 550 7 822 436 8

23
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issUed share caPital

SGS SA has a share capital of CHF 7 822 436 (2008: CHF 7 822 436) fully paid in and divided into 7 822 436 (2008: 7 822 436) 
registered shares of a par value of CHF 1. All shares, other than own shares, participate equally in the dividends declared by the 
Company and have equal voting rights.

treasUry shares

On 31 December 2009, SGS SA held, directly or indirectly, 253 772 treasury shares. In addition, in the consolidated financial 
statements, SGS SA also recognises, as treasury shares, 68 778 shares held by the Foundation (Fondation pour l’Intéressement du 
Personnel au Développement du Groupe SGS). 

In 2009, 33 638 treasury shares were released to cover option rights. During the year, 7 188 treasury shares have been purchased 
for an average price of CHF 1 289.

aUthorised and conditional issUe oF share caPital

The Board has the authority to increase the share capital of SGS SA by a maximum of 500 000 registered shares of a par value of 
CHF 1 each, corresponding to a maximum increase of CHF 500 000 in share capital. The Board is mandated to issue the new shares 
at the market conditions at the time of issue. In the event that the new shares are issued for an acquisition, the Board is authorised 
to waive the shareholders’ preferential right of subscription or to allocate such subscription right to third parties. The authority 
delegated by the shareholders to the Board of Directors to increase the share capital is valid until 24 March 2011.

The shareholders have conditionally approved an increase of share capital in the amount of CHF 1 100 000, divided into 1 100 000 
registered shares of a par value of CHF 1 each. This conditional share capital increase is intended to procure the necessary shares to 
satisfy employee share option plans and option or conversion rights to be incorporated in convertible bonds or similar equity-linked 
instruments that the Board is authorised to issue. The right to subscribe to such conditional capital is reserved for beneficiaries of 
employee share option plans and holders of convertible bonds or similar debt instruments and therefore excludes shareholders’ 
preferential rights of subscription. The Board is authorised to determine the timing and conditions of such issues, provided that they 
reflect prevailing market conditions. The term of exercise of the options or conversion rights may not exceed 10 years from the date 
of issuance of the equity-linked instruments.

loans and obliGations Under Finance leases

(CHF million)    2009 2008

Bank overdrafts   3 1

Bank loans    311 332

Finance lease obligations    2 2

total     316 335

Current    308 325

Non-current    8 10

The Company has unsecured bank loans of CHF 300 million (2008: CHF 230 million) under bilateral credit commitments.  
Interest is paid at market rates.

Depending on the nature of the loan, currency and date of maturity, interest rates on long-term loans from third parties range 
between 0% and 9.75% and on short-term loans from third parties range between 0% and 13%.

The loans from third parties exposed to fair value interest rate risk amount to CHF 9 million (2008: CHF 28 million) and the loans  
from third parties exposed to cash flow interest rate risk amount to CHF 305 million, which are mainly related to short-term 
borrowings in SGS SA (2008: CHF 306 million).

24
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Loans and finance lease obligations mature as follows:

 loans and overdraFts lease obliGations
(CHF million)  2009 2008 2009 2008

On demand or within one year   312 324 1 1

Within the second year  1 1 1 1

Within the third year  - 8 - -

Within the fourth year  - - - -

Within the fifth year  - - - -

After five years  1 - - -

total  314 333 2 2

The currency composition of loans and finance lease obligations is as follows:

 loans and overdraFts lease obliGations
(CHF million)  2009 2008 2009 2008

Swiss Franc (CHF)  300 230 - -

Euro (EUR)  1 82 1 1

US Dollar (USD)  1 5 - -

Indian Rupee (INR)  1 4 - -

Colombian Peso (COP)  - 1 - -

Malagasy Ariary (MGA)  6 - - -

Malaysian Ringgit (MYR)  2 5 - -

Brazilian Real (BRL)  1 1 - -

Moroccan Dirham (MAD) - 3 - -

Guinea Franc (GNF)  1 - - -

Other  1 2 1 1

total  314 333 2 2

retirement beneFit obliGations
The main defined benefit pension plans within the Group are in Switzerland, the USA, the UK, the Netherlands, Germany, Italy, 
France and Taiwan. Contributions to most plans are paid to pension funds that are legally separate entities. 

The Group operates post-employment benefit plans, principally healthcare plans in the USA. They represent a defined benefit obligation 
at 31 December 2009 of CHF 9 million (2008: CHF 9 million). The method of accounting and the frequency of valuation are similar to 
those used for benefit pension plans. Assumed healthcare cost trend rates do not have a significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the income statement.

25
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Reconciliation of assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet at 31 December for defined benefit obligations and for post-
employment benefit plans:

(CHF million)  2009 2008

Present value of funded obligations   736 653

Fair value of plan assets  (657) (545)

net FUnded statUs    79 108

Present value of unfunded obligations   56 52

Past service cost not yet recognised  - (1)

Limit on pension assets 11 3

net liability     146 162

Amounts recorded in the income statement:

(CHF million)  2009 2008

Current service cost 12 14

Interest cost   39 40

Expected return on plan assets  (36) (46)

Past service (credit) / cost - (3)

total inclUded in salaries and WaGes   15 5

Amounts recorded in the statement of comprehensive income:

(CHF million)  2009 2008

cUmUlative amoUnt at the beGinninG oF the Period   194 119

Net actuarial losses/(gains) recognised in the year  21 133

Limit on pension asset 4 (32)

Exchange differences  10 (26)

cUmUlative amoUnt at the end oF the Period 229 194

The cumulative amount of gains and losses recognised in the statement of comprehensive income amounted to CHF 218 million at 
the end of the period (2008: CHF 191 million).

Movements in the net liability during the period:

(CHF million)  2009 2008

net liability at 1 JanUary    162 113

Change in scope 1 (4) -

Exchange differences  3 (14)

Expense/(income) recognised in the income statement  15 5

Contributions paid by the Group  (55) (42)

Net liabilities/(assets) assumed in a business combination  - (1)

Limit on pension asset 4 (32)

Net actuarial losses/(gains) recognised in the year 21 133

net liability at 31 december 146 162

1. During the year, two pension plans previously treated as defined contribution are now considered under IAS 19 to be defined benefit and  

    have been added to the scope.
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Change in the defined benefit obligation is as follows:

(CHF million)  2009 2008

Opening present value of the defined benefit obligation  705 813

Change in scope 1 11 -

Current service cost  12 14

Interest cost  39 40

Plan participants’ contributions  7 7

Actuarial (gains) / losses  57 (33)

Past service (credit) / cost - (3)

Gains on curtailments - (1)

Liabilities assumed in a business combination  - 5

Exchange differences  4 (91)

Benefits paid (43) (46)

deFined beneFit obliGation at 31 december 792 705

1. During the year, two pension plans previously treated as defined contribution are now considered under IAS 19 to be defined benefit and  

    have been added to the scope.

Change in fair value of plan assets is as follows:

(CHF million)  2009 2008

Opening fair value of plan assets 545 734

Change in scope 1 15 -

Expected return on plan assets 36 46

Actuarial (losses) / gains 36 (165)

Plan participants’ contributions 7 5

Employers contributions 55 42

Assets acquired in a business combination - 4

Exchange differences on foreign plans 6 (76)

Benefits paid (43) (45)

Fair valUe oF Plan assets at 31 december 657 545

1. During the year, two pension plans previously treated as defined contribution are now considered under IAS 19 to be defined benefit and  

    have been added to the scope.

There are no reimbursement rights included in plan assets. The actual return on plan assets was a gain of CHF 72 million  
(2008: loss of CHF 119 million). The Group expects to contribute approximately CHF 39 million to its defined benefit plans in 2010.

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are as follows:

(Weighted average %)  2009 2008

Equity securities 38.5 33.0

Debt securities  36.0 37.6

Property 15.5 17.4

Other 10.0 12.0

total 100.0 100.0

The “Other” assets consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents and assets related to insurance contracts.

SGS occupies property that is included in the Plan assets with a fair value of CHF 2 million (2008: CHF 2 million). The property is 
rented at fair market rental rates. There are no SGS SA shares included in plan assets.

The expected return on plan assets assumption is determined on a uniform basis, considering long-term historical returns, asset 
allocation and portfolio weighting, and future estimates of long-term investment returns.
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Actuarial assumptions vary according to local prevailing economic and social conditions. The principal weighted average actuarial 
assumptions used in determining the cost of benefits for both 2009 and 2008 are as follows:

(Weighted average %)  2009 2008

Discount rate  5.0 5.4

Return on assets  6.3 6.6

Salary progression rate  3.1 3.0

Future pension increases  1.2 0.9

Healthcare cost trend assumed for the next year 9.5 10.0

Ultimate trend rate 5.0 5.0

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2019 2019

Funded status of the retirement benefit obligations for the current and previous periods are as follows:

(CHF million)  2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Defined benefit obligation  792 705 813 900 899

Plan assets (657) (545) (734) (712) (661)

Deficit 135 160 79 188 238

Experience losses/(gains) on plan liabilities (15) 5 4 2 18

Experience losses/(gains) on plan assets (36) 165 5 (13) 23

The amount recognised as an expense in respect of defined contribution plans during 2009 was CHF 25 million (2008: CHF 32 million). 

Provisions

 leGal and Warranty demobilisation and  
(CHF million) claims on services rendered re-orGanisation other Provisions total

at 1 JanUary 2009    64 50 20 134

Charge to income statement  17 26 4 47

Release to income statement  (7) (6) (7) (20)

Payments  (13) (24) (1) (38)

Exchange differences  (1) 1 1 1

at 31 december 2009    60 47 17 124

Analysed as:   2009 2008

Current liabilities    21 29

Non-current liabilities   103 105

   124 134

26
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A number of Group companies are subject to litigation and other claims arising out of the normal conduct of their business that 
can be best viewed as claims on services rendered. The claim provision represents the sum of estimates of amounts payable on 
identified claims and of losses incurred but not yet reported. They therefore reflect estimates of the future payments required to 
settle both reported and unreported claims.

The process of estimation is complex, dealing with uncertainty, requiring the use of informed estimates, actuarial assessment, and 
the judgement of management. Any changes in these estimates are reflected in the income statement in the period in which the 
estimates change.

The timing of cash outflows from pending litigation and claims is uncertain since it depends, in the majority of cases, on the 
outcome of administrative and legal proceedings. The Group does not discount its provisions, as the timing of the cash outflows 
cannot be reasonably and reliably determined.

In the opinion of management, based on all currently available information, the provisions adequately reflect exposure to legal and 
warranty claims on services rendered. The ultimate outcome of these matters is not expected to materially affect the Group’s 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

For specific long-term contracts, typically with two to five years’ duration, the Group is required to dismantle infrastructure and 
dismiss personnel upon termination of the contract. These demobilisation costs are provided for during the life of the contract.

Experience has shown that these contracts may be either extended or terminated earlier than expected. The timing of these 
demobilisation outflows is difficult to assess. The amounts are therefore not discounted. In some jurisdictions, there is a legal obligation 
to make a termination payment to employees upon leaving the Group. These obligations are included under other provisions.

trade and other Payables

(CHF million)  2009 2008

Trade payables  162 181

Other payables  103 100

Other financial liabilities  123 122

total   388 403

Trade accounts and other payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade 
purchases and ongoing operating costs.

At 31 December 2009 and 2008, the fair value of the Group’s trade accounts and 
other payables approximates the carrying value.

other creditors and accrUals

(CHF million)  2009 2008

Accrued expenses 413 403

Advance billings  44 46

Advances from clients  42 41

Derivative liabilities  4 23

total   503 513

At 31 December 2009 and 2008, the fair value of the Group’s other creditors and 
accruals approximates the carrying value.

27
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continGent liabilities

In the normal course of business, the Group and its subsidiaries are parties to various 
lawsuits and claims. Management does not expect that the outcome of any of these 
legal proceedings will have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial position, 
results of operations or cash flows.

GUarantees

(CHF million)  2009 issUed 2008 issUed

Guarantees 122 106

Performance bonds  88 103

total   210 209

The Group has issued unconditional guarantees to certain financial institutions that 
have provided credit facilities (loans and guarantee bonds) to its subsidiaries. In 
addition, it has issued performance bonds and bid bonds to commercial customers on 
behalf of its subsidiaries. Management believes the likelihood that a material payment 
will be required under these guarantees is remote.

oPeratinG leases
Operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

(CHF million)  2009 2008

Less than one year 79 66

Between one and five years  136 112

More than five years  27 14

total   242 192

The Group leases the majority of its office and laboratory space, as well as vehicles 
and equipment. During the year ended 31 December 2009, CHF 122 million was 
recognised as an expense in the income statement in respect of operating leases 
(2008: CHF 102 million).
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eQUity comPensation Plans

Selected directors and employees of the SGS Group are entitled to participate each year in a share option plan. The benefits consist 
of the right to buy SGS SA shares (accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions) at a predetermined fixed price 
through a traded option plan.

Grants to Directors and members of the Operations Council

A total of 1 867 105 options granting the right to acquire shares of SGS SA at a strike price of CHF 1 064 (100 options give the right 
to acquire one share and each option expires in January 2014 [these options hereinafter referred to as SGSGU]) were granted to 
the members of the Operations Council and the Board of Directors in 2009. One-third of these options vest or have vested in each 
of the years 2009, 2010 and 2012 and can be exercised or sold between 2012 and 2014. At the date of grant, these options had an 
aggregate value (calculated on the basis required for Swiss tax reporting purposes) of CHF 2 651 289. The estimated fair value at the 
time of grant of the options granted was CHF 4 593 078.

Grants to other employees

In 2009, an additional 2 209 033 SGSGU options were granted to employees, other than members of the Operations Council and the 
Board of Directors. One-third of these options vest or have vested in each of the years 2009, 2010 and 2012 and can be exercised or 
sold between 2012 and 2014. At the date of grant, these options had an aggregate value (calculated on the basis required for Swiss 
tax reporting purposes) of CHF 3 136 827. The estimated fair value at the time of grant of the options granted was CHF 5 434 221.

Long-term incentive plan (LTI)

In 2009, no option was granted under the Group’s long-term incentive plan. Additional information is disclosed under the Director’s report 
on Corporate Governance in this report (pages 64 to 81).

In 2008 the Group set up a new discretionary long-term incentive plan (SGSMO-2008 LTI) for a selected number of senior executives 
of the Group. The options will vest in January 2012 if a minimum EPS target of CHF 105 is achieved or exceeded in 2011 and the 
employee is still employed by or rendering services to the Group on the date of vesting. The Group granted 5 937 500 SGSMO-2008 LTI  
options and at the date of grant these options had an aggregate value (calculated on the basis required for Swiss tax reporting 
purposes) of CHF 14 071 875. The estimated fair value at the time of grant of the options granted was CHF 14 071 875.

In 2009, the Group has granted additional 50 000 options of the discretionary long-term incentive plan (SGSMO-2008 LTI) to a member of 
the Senior Management (estimated fair value CHF 118 500) and 40 000 options to other employees (estimated fair value CHF 94 800).

   oPtions    oPtions
 eXercise Period striKe oUtstandinG at    eXercised  oUtstandinG at
descriPtion From to     Price1 31 december 2008 Granted cancelled or adJUsted 31 december 2009

SGSMU-Ordinarily issued Jan-08 Jan-10 731.07 1 799 800 - - (1 560 826) 238 974

SGSGF-Ordinarily issued  Jan-09 Jan-11 994.99 3 488 302 - (5 668) (2 179 971) 1 302 663

SGSGF-2006 LTI   Jan-09 Jan-11 994.99 5 555 000 - - (3 210 000) 2 345 000

SGSFS-Ordinarily issued  Jan-10 Jan-12 1 283.00 2 797 006 - (29 860) - 2 767 146

SGSMO-Ordinarily issued  Jan-11 Jan-13 1 321.96 3 465 516 - (64 299) - 3 401 217

SGSMO-2008 LTI  Jan-11 Jan-13 1 321.96 5 937 500 90 000 (180 000) - 5 847 500

SGSGU-Ordinarily issued  Jan-12 Jan-14 1 050.70 - 4 076 138 (38 028) - 4 038 110

total         23 043 124 4 166 138 (317 855) (6 950 797) 19 940 610

Of which exercisable at 31 December    1 982 281    3 886 637

1. The strike price of the options has been adjusted in accordance with market practice for capital reductions and special dividends.
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The fair value of share options granted during the year is based on their market value at grant date. All options are publicly 
traded. The exercise dates are not known to the Group. Correspondingly, the weighted average share price at the date of 
exercise cannot be calculated.

The Group recognised during the year total expenses of CHF 13 million (2008: CHF 17 million) in relation with equity-settled 
share-based payments.

Shares available for future option plans:
  total

at 1 JanUary 2008  (8 226)

Repurchased shares  189 642

Options granted (SGSMO Plan)   (96 109)

Options cancelled   (2 074)

at 31 december 2008  83 233

Repurchased shares   7 188

Options granted (SGSGU Plan)   (40 771)

Options cancelled   4 897

at 31 december 2009  54 547

At 31 December 2009, the Group had the following shares available to satisfy the option and share purchase plan programmes:

   

 2009 total 2008 total
 

Number of unallocated shares held  321 076 347 526

Shares held for 2005 option plans  (13 566)  (47 204)

Shares held for 2006 option plans  (92 116)  (92 173)

Shares held for 2007 option plans  (28 211)  (28 807)

Shares held for 2008 option plans  (92 250)  (96 109)

Shares held for 2009 option plans  (40 386)  -

shares available  For FUtUre oPtion Plans at 31 december 54 547  83 233

The Group has entered into agreements with various banks, whereby the Group has an obligation to offer to sell to the banks the 
shares underlying the option programme at the relevant strike price whenever these shares become unblocked. The banks are not 
obliged to purchase these shares.

related Party transactions
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of 
the Group, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in the note.

comPensation to directors and members oF the oPerations coUncil

The remuneration of Directors and members of the Operations Council during the year 
was as follows:

(CHF million)  2009 2008

Short-term benefits  14 15

Post-employment benefits  1 1

Share-based payments 1 5 14

total  20 30

1. Market value at grant date.
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During 2009 and 2008, no member of the Board of Directors or of the Operations Council had a personal interest in any business 
transactions of the Group.

The Chairman of the Board and the Operations Council (including Senior Management) participate in the share option plans as 
disclosed in note 32.

In 2009, Directors’ fees were CHF 1 605 000 (2008: CHF 1 433 000). In addition, the Chairman of the Board received options for a 
total value of CHF 237 680 (2008: CHF 637 184).

The total compensation (cash and options) received by the Operations Council (including Senior Management) amounted to  
CHF 16 343 895 (2008: CHF 16 478 066; the amount for 2008 does not include the additional CHF 9 788 100 related to the 2008 LTI 
Plan). The amount for 2009 does not include the additional CHF 118 500 related to the 2008 LTI plan.

Disclosure of compensation paid to the Board of Directors and Senior Management, as required by Swiss law is presented in the 
notes to the accounts of SGS SA on pages 135 to 141 of this report.

loans to members oF GoverninG bodies

As at 31 December 2009, no loan, credit or outstanding advance was due to the Group from members of its governing bodies 
(unchanged from prior year).

transactions With other related Parties

During the year, the Group performed inspection, verification, testing and certification services for other related parties on normal 
commercial terms generating total revenues of CHF 15.2 million (2008: CHF 14.8 million). Related trade receivable balances unpaid 
as at 31 December 2009 amounted to CHF 4.2 million (2008: CHF 5.3 million). These trade receivable balances are to be settled 
in cash when due and are linked to no specific performance bonds or guarantees. No expense was incurred in 2009 and in 2008 in 
respect of any bad or doubtful debts due from these related parties.

siGniFicant shareholders
As at 31 December 2009, Exor held 15.00% (2008: 15.00%), Mr. August von Finck 
and members of his family acting in concert held 14.96% (2008: 25.05%),  
Allianz SE held 7.40% (2008: 7.40%), The Capital Group Companies held 3.51%  
(2008: less than 3%) and the Bank of New York Mellon Corporation held 3.01% 
(2008: 3.01%) of the share capital and voting rights of the Company. 

At the same date, SGS Group held 4.12% of the share capital of the Company 
(2008: 4.46%).

aPProval oF Financial statements  
and sUbseQUent events
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
financial statements. These financial statements were authorised for issue by  
the Board of Directors on 21 January 2010, and will be submitted for approval by  
the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders’ to be held on 22 March 2010.

Effective 1 January 2010, the Group entered into a definitive agreement to 
acquire 100% of the issued share capital of Intron Holding BV based in Sittard, the 
Netherlands. The Intron group provides inspection, testing, certification, consulting 
as well as project management services to the building industry, generating annual 
revenues in excess of EUR 13 million. Final net cash outflow on acquisition, fair value 
of assets and liabilities acquired as well as the goodwill arising on this transaction 
cannot be provided due to the timing of the transaction. 
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rePort oF the statUtory aUditor
To the General Meeting of 

sGs sa, Geneva

rePort on the consolidated Financial statements

As statutory auditor, we have audited the consolidated financial statements of the SGS Group presented on pages 84 to 126, which 
comprise the income statement, statement of comprehensive income, balance sheet, statement of cash flows, statement of 
changes in equity and notes for the year ended 31 December 2009.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the requirements of Swiss law. This responsibility includes designing, 
implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Swiss law, Swiss Auditing Standards and International Standards on Auditing (ISA). Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009 give a true and fair view of the financial 
position, the result of operation and the cash flows in accordance with IFRS and comply with Swiss law.

rePort on other leGal reQUirements

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and independence 
(article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal control 
system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial statements according to the instructions of 
the Board of Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

DELOITTE SA

Peter Quigley Fabien Bryois
Licensed Audit Expert Licensed Audit Expert
Auditor in Charge

Geneva, 21 January 2010
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1999. SGS employeeS, 37 500

1989. SGS employeeS, 21 000
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2009. SGS employeeS, 59 000
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INCome STATemeNT
FoR The yeARS eNded 31 deCembeR

(CHF million)  2009 2008

INCome  

Dividends from subsidiaries 779 141

Interest income 37 44

Other income 1 1

Exchange gain, net 2 -

ToTAl INCome 819 186
  

eXpeNdITURe  

Administrative expenses (5) (4)

Liquidation of subsidiaries, net (1) -

Depreciation (1) (1)

Financial expenses (21) (25)

Movement in provisions 12 (5)

Exchange loss, net - (48)

ToTAl eXpeNdITURe (16) (83)
  

pRoFIT  

Profit before taxes 803 103

Taxes (11) (6)

pRoFIT FoR The yeAR 792 97
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bAlANCe SheeT AT 31 deCembeR
(beFoRe AppRopRIATIoN oF AvAIlAble ReTAINed eARNINGS)

(CHF million)  2009 2008

ASSeTS  

NoN-CURReNT ASSeTS  

Land, buildings and equipment 4 4

Financial assets  

Investments in subsidiaries 947 808

Loans to subsidiaries 653 867

ToTAl NoN-CURReNT ASSeTS 1 604 1 679
  

CURReNT ASSeTS  

Amounts due from subsidiaries 1 36

Other current assets 5 3

Cash and cash equivalents 379 300

ToTAl CURReNT ASSeTS 385 339

ToTAl ASSeTS 1 989 2 018
  

eQUITy ANd lIAbIlITIeS  

CApITAl ANd ReSeRveS  

Share capital 8 8

General reserve 34 34

Reserve for own shares 238 253

Retained earnings 857 427

ToTAl eQUITy 1 137 722
  

lIAbIlITIeS  

Non-Current liabilities  

Amounts due to subsidiaries - 290

Current liabilities  

Provisions 34 37

Amounts due to subsidiaries  505 729

Other liabilities and accruals  13 10

Bank loans 300 230

ToTAl lIAbIlITIeS 852 1 296

ToTAl eQUITy ANd lIAbIlITIeS 1 989 2 018
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SGS SA (“the Company”) is the ultimate parent company of the SGS Group which owns and finances, either directly or 

indirectly, its subsidiaries and joint ventures throughout the world. The financial statements are prepared in accordance 

with the accounting principles required by Swiss law. During the year, there were no changes in accounting policies.

NoTeS

ToTAl eQUITy
(CHF million) ShARe CApITAl GeNeRAl ReSeRve ReSeRve FoR owN ShAReS ReTAINed eARNINGS ToTAl

bAlANCe AT 1 JANUARy 2008 8 34 54 799 895

Dividends paid - - - (270) (270)

Increase in the reserve for own shares - - 199 (199) -

Profit for the year - - - 97 97

bAlANCe AT 31 deCembeR 2008 8 34 253 427 722

Dividends paid - - - (377) (377)

Decrease in the reserve for own shares - - (15) 15 -

Profit for the year - - - 792 792

bAlANCe AT 31 deCembeR 2009 8 34 238 857 1 137

1
SIGNIFICANT 
ACCoUNTING polICIeS

INveSTmeNTS IN SUbSIdIARIeS

Investments in subsidiaries are valued  
at acquisition cost less an adjustment  
for impairment.

FoReIGN CURReNCIeS

Balance sheet items denominated in 
foreign currencies are converted at year 
end exchange rates with the exception 
of investments in subsidiaries which are 
valued at the historical exchange rate. 
All unrealised gains and losses arising 

on foreign exchange transactions are 
included in the determination of the net 
profit except long-term unrealized gains 
which are deferred.

RISk ASSeSSmeNT

Risks potentially threatening the Group’s 
ability to meet its strategic objectives 
are monitored on an ongoing basis 
by the Board of Directors through the 
approval of all major investments, 
transactions and changes by the 
Operations Council. In addition, in 
conjunction with the Operations Council, 
an annual risk assessment process 
is conducted to ensure the Group is 
responding effectively to changes in 
economic conditions, market dynamics 
and internal mutations.

The annual risk assessment process is 
conducted in three stages. Individual 
members of the Operations Council, on 
a rotation basis, are requested to identify 
for their areas of responsibility the key 
risks that could prevent the Group from 

delivering its strategy and achieving its 
business objectives. All such risks are 
then ranked according to their potential 
significance, their likelihood and how 
effective management has been at 
managing the exposure. By applying 
this framework, the key business risks 
profile of the Group across geographies 
and business segments is identified and 
tracked from one year to the next.

On behalf of the full Board of Directors, 
the Audit Committee reviews and 
discusses with management, and in the 
presence of the external auditors, the 
outcome of the above risk assessment 
process. Special focus is placed on 
ensuring that the risk profile covers all 
areas of concern identified by the Board 
and that the Operations Council has 
put in place internal controls to monitor 
the evolution of such risks and mitigate 
their likely impact at an early stage. The 
outcome of the above process was 
approved by the Board of Directors on 
22 October 2009.

2
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ISSUed ShARe CApITAl

SGS SA has a share capital of CHF 7 822 436 (2008: CHF 7 822 436) fully paid-in and divided into 7 822 436 (2008: 7 822 436) 
registered shares of a par value of CHF 1. All shares, other than own shares, participate equally in the dividends declared by the 
Company and have equal voting rights.

TReASURy ShAReS

On 31 December 2009, SGS SA held, directly or indirectly, 253 772 of its own shares for which SGS SA has recorded a “reserve for 
own shares”. In addition, in the consolidated financial statements, SGS SA also recognises as treasury shares 68 778 shares held 
by the Foundation (Fondation pour l’Intéressement du Personnel au Développement du Groupe SGS).

In 2009, 33 638 treasury shares were released to cover option rights. During the year, 7 188 treasury shares have been purchased by 
a subsidiary for an average price of CHF 1 289. A corresponding movement in the reserve for own shares has been recorded.

AUThoRISed ANd CoNdITIoNAl ISSUe oF ShARe CApITAl

The Board of Directors has the authority to increase the share capital of the Company by a maximum of 500 000 registered shares 
of a par value of CHF 1 each, corresponding to a maximum increase of CHF 500 000 in share capital. The Board is mandated to 
issue the new shares at the market conditions prevailing at the time of issue. In the event that the new shares are issued for an 
acquisition, the Board is authorised to waive the shareholders’ preferential right of subscription, or to allocate such subscription 
rights to third parties. The authority delegated by the shareholders to the Board of Directors to increase the share capital is valid 
until 24 March 2011.

The shareholders have conditionally approved an increase of share capital in the amount of CHF 1 100 000 divided into  
1 100 000 registered shares of a par value of CHF 1 each. This conditional share capital increase is intended to procure the 
necessary shares to satisfy employee share option plans and option or conversion rights to be incorporated in convertible bonds or 
similar equity-linked instruments that the Board is authorised to issue. The right to subscribe to such conditional capital is reserved 
to beneficiaries of employee share option plans and holders of convertible bonds or similar debt instruments and therefore excludes 
shareholders’ preferential rights of subscription. The Board is authorised to determine the timing and conditions of such issues, 
provided that they reflect prevailing market conditions. The term of exercise of the options or conversion rights may not exceed  
10 years from the date of issuance of the equity-linked instruments.

3
ShARe CApITAl

    ToTAl ShARe
    CApITAl 

 ShAReS IN CIRCUlATIoN TReASURy ShAReS ToTAl ShAReS ISSUed (CHF million)

bAlANCe AT 1 JANUARy 2008 7 628 968 193 468 7 822 436 8

Treasury shares released into circulation 34 110 (34 110) - -

Treasury shares purchased, net (189 642) 189 642 - -

bAlANCe AT 31 deCembeR 2008 7 473 436 349 000 7 822 436 8

Treasury shares released into circulation 33 638 (33 638) - -

Treasury shares purchased, net (7 188) 7 188 - -

bAlANCe AT 31 deCembeR 2009 7 499 886 322 550 7 822 436 8
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4 bANk loANS
The Company has unsecured bank loans of CHF 300 million (2008: CHF 230 million) 
under bilateral credit commitments. Interest is paid at market rates.

CompeNSATIoN, ShAReholdINGS ANd loANS

7.1. CompANy’S RemUNeRATIoN polICIeS

The Group’s overriding compensation policies are defined by the Board of Directors.  
The objectives of these policies are twofold: a) to attract and retain the best talent 
available in the industry; and b) to motivate employees and managers to create value 
for the shareholders by fostering long-term sustainable financial achievements.

The Board of Directors is assisted in this task by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee which consists of independent 
non-executive Directors. The Committee acts in part in a consulting capacity to the Board, and in part as a decision making body 
on matters that the Board has delegated to the Committee. The compensation of the Directors, including the Chairman of the 
Board and the Chief Executive Officer, is approved by the full Board of Directors on the recommendation of the Committee. The 
Compensation of the other members of the Operations Council is approved by the Committee on the recommendation of the 
Chief Executive Officer. Neither the Chairman of the Board nor the Chief Executive Officer is allowed to participate in discussions 
and decisions on their own compensation. General executive remuneration policies, including the implementation of long-term 
incentive plans, are decided by the Board, on the recommendation of the Committee.

GUARANTeeS
(CHF million) 2009 ISSUed 2009 UTIlISed  2008 ISSUed 2008 UTIlISed

Guaranteed 136 73 208 139

Performance bonds 22 22 23 23

ToTAl 158 95 231 162

The Company has unconditionally guaranteed or provided comfort to financial institutions 
providing credit facilities (loans and guarantee bonds) to its subsidiaries. In addition, it has 
issued performance bonds to commercial customers on behalf of its subsidiaries.

The company is part of a VAT Group comprising itself and other Group companies  
in Switzerland.

7

5

6 FIRe INSURANCe vAlUe oF FIXed ASSeTS

(CHF million) 2009 2008

Buildings 15 15
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The following Directors served on the Nomination and Remuneration Committee in 2009:

•	 Sergio Marchionne (Chairman)

•	 August von Finck

•	 Tiberto Ruy Brandolini d’Adda

The Chief Executive Officer attends meetings of the Committee, except when his own remuneration is being discussed. When 
reviewing executive remuneration policies, the Committee receives advice from the Group Human Resources staff and relies 
on publicly available information on director and executive management remuneration paid by other Swiss companies and, as 
applicable, on available comparable data in the relevant location and/or industrial segment.

The Group’s executive compensation consists of a base salary (including benefits), annual bonus and long-term incentive plans.  
The policies described here apply to all members of the Operations Council, including the Chief Executive Officer.

Employment contracts

Employment contracts of Operations Council members have no fixed term and can be terminated at any time by either party, 
provided usual notice period (from three to six months) is observed. The Chief Executive Officer’s employment contract provides 
for a severance payment equivalent to two years total remuneration payable in the event that the employment contract is 
terminated or constructively terminated (including in the event of a change of control) by the Company other than for cause.  
No severance payment is due if the employment relationship is terminated in any other circumstance.

Base salary

The base salary is reviewed annually, on the basis of market information for similar positions and appreciation of individual performance. 
In addition to the base salary, the company pays other employment benefits, as per the customary practice at the place of employment.  
Such employment benefits include a car allowance and, if applicable, a housing allowance and tuition fees allowance for children. Geneva based 
Operations Council members participate on the same basis as other Swiss employees of the Group, in the Company’s pension plans, i.e. one 
defined benefit scheme under the Swiss LPP regulations up to an insured amount of CHF 100 000 and one defined contribution scheme for a 
pensionable remuneration in excess of CHF 100 000 up to a maximum of CHF 820 800 per year. Employees contribute 8% of their base salary 
and the Company contributes an amount equal to one and a half times the contributions paid by all employees to the scheme.

Annual bonus

In addition to the base salary, members of the Operations Council (including the Chief Executive Officer) are entitled to a performance-
related annual bonus which, if target objectives are met, yields an incentive payment of between 30% and 70% of base salary. If targets are 
exceeded, annual bonuses are increased on a multiplier basis with a maximum payout equal to a range of 75% to 175% of base salary.

In the event of underperformance against targets, the bonus is ratably reduced on a multiplier basis, so that no bonus is paid in the event 
a pre-established minimum target is not achieved. The current Company policy on performance-related bonuses was introduced in 2002 
and was applied first in order to determine the bonuses paid in 2003 on the basis of the 2002 performance. Annual bonus amounts (as a 
percentage of base salary) and financial/operational targets are approved in advance by the Committee.

Bonuses of Operations Council members are assessed on the basis of the actual performance of the Group as a whole, of the relevant 
business segments and of operations against specific financial targets. For EVPs, the performance is assessed for 50% on Group targets, 
and 50% on their respective business financial targets. For COOs, the performance is assessed for 50% on Group targets and 50% on their 
respective region’s financial targets. Variable remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer and of the heads of corporate functions (SVPs) is 
based for 100% on Group targets.

Once the quantum of a bonus is determined, it is settled 50% in cash and 50% in options. Although such options are granted immediately, 
they vest ratably over a period of three years and are only exercisable in the fourth and fifth year after grant.

The Board of Directors and Committee may also grant discretionary bonuses to individual Operations Council Members to recognise 
outstanding personal performance. For 2009, a total amount of CHF 730 000 of discretionary bonuses was awarded to Operations Council 
members (including the Chief Executive Officer) (2008: CHF 569 293).

The portion of the fixed and variable remuneration, as a percentage of the total remuneration in any given year, is dependent on the degree 
of achievement of pre-defined target objectives. For the Chief Executive Officer, whose variable cash compensation is potentially the greater 
in relation to the base salary, the proportion of the fixed and variable cash components compared to the total cash compensation is presented 
as follows:

Total cash compensation:

 below mINImUm TARGeT peRFoRmANCe oN TARGeT peRFoRmANCe mAXImUm peRFoRmANCe
(%)

Base cash remuneration 100 68 46

Variable cash remuneration 0 32 54 

In 2009, the variable part of the Chief Executive Officer’s cash remuneration represented 37% of the total cash compensation (2008: 48%).
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Long-term incentive plans

In addition to annual bonus, the Group sets periodically long-term incentive (LTI) plans. Such plans are designed to motivate the 
leadership team to achieve the long-term stated objectives of the Group. They consist in options granted to a selected number of 
senior executives of the Group whose vesting are conditional upon (1) the Group’s achieving or exceeding stated earnings per share 
targets and (2) the beneficiary being employed by the Group on the vesting date.

In 2008, the Company introduced a long-term incentive plan (the 2008 LTI Plan) which is conditional upon achieving or exceeding 
an EPS target of CHF 105 in 2011. The 2008 LTI Plan involves the granting of options to acquire shares of the Company at a strike 
price of CHF 1 349. Such options are in the form of traded warrants, with 100 warrants required to purchase one share. The Group 
originally set aside 5 937 500 such warrants for this incentive plan (see note 32 to the Group consolidated financial statements). 
This plan was designed to motivate the leadership team to achieve the long-term stated objective by 2011. No other long-term 
incentive plan is currently in force in the group, and none was introduced during 2009.

Full details on the structure and working of these long-term incentive plans are provided in note 32 to the Group consolidated 
financial statements.

7.2. CompeNSATIoN FoR ACTING membeRS oF GoveRNING bodIeS

7.2.1. Non-executive Directors

In 2009, each Board member was entitled to a fixed board membership fee of CHF 150 000 per annum, unchanged from last year. 
Members of the Board serving on a Committee were entitled to an additional fee of CHF 30 000 per committee, unchanged from last year. 

Non-executive Directors do not hold service contracts, and are not entitled to any termination payments. They do not participate in 
the Company’s share option plans (except for the Chairman) or other benefit schemes and the Company does not make any pension 
contribution for their benefit. The Chairman of the Board’s remuneration is detailed under section 7.2.2.

7.2.2. Chairman of the Board’s remuneration

As non-executive Chairman of the Board of Directors, Sergio Marchionne is entitled to a fixed board membership fee of CHF 300 000 per 
annum, unchanged from last year. 

The Chairman of the Board receives by decision of the Board of Directors share options in an amount equal to 25% of the options granted 
to the Chief Executive Officer, under the same conditions of award, vesting and exercise. In 2009, 96 619 SGSGU options were awarded 
to the Chairman of the Board (2008: 81 354 SGSMO). 

7.2.3. Directors’ remuneration

This section sets out the remuneration which was paid to the Directors during the year.

The following chart details each Director’s fees and other benefits paid during 2009:

 

       ToTAl
      ToTAl CASh   RemUNeRATIoN
 dATe oF boARd CommITTee oTheR RemUNeRATIoN ShARe 2009 (INClUdING
(CHF thousand) AppoINTmeNT FeeS FeeS beNeFITS 2009 opTIoNS opTIoNS)

S. Marchionne May-01 300 90 25 415 238 1 653

T.R. Brandolini d’Adda May-05 150 30  180  180 2

A. von Finck Oct-98 150 30  180  180

A.F. von Finck May-02 150 30  180  180

P. Kalantzis Mar-09 116 23  139  139

T. Limberger Mar-08 150   150  150

S.R. du Pasquier Mar-06 150 30  180  180

C. Barel di Sant’Albano Mar-09 116 23  139  139 2

P. Lebard May-05 35 7  42  42 2

ToTAl  1 317 263 25 1 605 238 1 843

1. 2009: annual allocation 96 619 SGSGU: CHF 237 683.

2. Board and committee fees for T.R. Brandolini d’Adda, P. Lebard and C. Barel di Sant’Albano have been paid to Exor Investissements SA, Luxembourg.
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The following table shows the details of the options 1 granted to the Chairman of the Board under each plan:

  STRIke     mARkeT vAlUe AT
 NUmbeR oF opTIoNS    pRICe2 veSTING veSTING veSTING   GRANT dATe
 GRANTed AS AT 31.12.09  (CHF) dATe 1/3 dATe 1/3 dATe 1/3 eXeRCISAble (CHF)

SGSFS 81 354 1 308 01.2007 07.2008 01.2010 01.2010 – 01.2012 246 503

SGSMO 81 354 1 349 01.2008 07.2009 01.2011 01.2011 – 01.2013 192 809

SGSMO - 2008 LTI 187 500 1 349     01.2012 – 01.2013 3 444 375

SGSGU 96 619 1 064 01.2009 07.2010 01.2012 01.2012 – 01.2014 237 683

1. One hundred options give the right to acquire one share. 

2. Original strike price. 

3. If the EPS target is reached in 2011.

7.2.4. Compensation paid to the Operations Council, Senior Management and Chief Executive Officer

This section sets out the global remuneration which was paid to the Operations Council as a whole, to the three Operations Council 
members constituting Senior Management and to the Chief Executive Officer during 2009.

7.2.4.1. Cash compensation

The total cash compensation paid to the Operations Council (including Senior Management) amounted to CHF 11 870 000  
(2008: CHF 13 087 000), excluding severance payments (see section 7.2.4.5.). The amount includes cash bonuses payable  
in 2010 in relation to the 2009 financial results. Post employment benefits for CHF 1 311 000 are not included (2008: CHF 1 312 000).

A total of CHF 2 670 000 (2008: CHF 3 224 000) was earned by Senior Management as cash remuneration for services during 2009.  
The amount includes cash bonuses payable in 2010 in relation to the 2009 financial results.

The total cash compensation paid to the Chief Executive Officer amounted to CHF 1 520 000 (2008: CHF 1 804 000). The amount 
includes cash bonuses payable in 2010 in relation to the 2009 financial results.

The following chart details each Director’s fees and other benefits paid during 2008:

       ToTAl
      ToTAl CASh   RemUNeRATIoN
 dATe oF boARd CommITTee oTheR RemUNeRATIoN ShARe 2008 (INClUdING
(CHF thousand) AppoINTmeNT FeeS FeeS beNeFITS 2008 opTIoNS opTIoNS)

S. Marchionne May-01 300 90 25 415 637 1 1 052

A. von Finck Oct-98 150 30  180  180

A.F. von Finck May-02 150 30  180  180

T.R. Brandolini d’Adda May-05 150 30  180  180 2

P. Lebard May-05 150 30  180  180 2

S.R. du Pasquier Mar-06 150 30  180  180

T. Limberger Mar-08 118   118  118

ToTAl  1 168 240 25 1 433 637 2 070

1. 2008: annual allocation SGSMO: CHF 192 809; SGSMO-2008 LTI plan: CHF 444 375.

2. Board and committee fees for T.R. Brandolini d’Adda and P. Lebard have been paid to Exor Investissements SA, Luxembourg.
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7.2.4.2. Share options

In settlement of annual bonus entitlements, a total of 1 770 486 SGSGU options (2008: 1 354 880 SGSMO options) were granted 
to the Operations Council (including Senior Management) in 2009.

Such SGSGU options grant the right to acquire shares of SGS at a strike price of CHF 1 064 (100 options give the right to acquire 
one share). At grant, such options had a fair value of CHF 4 355 396 (2008: CHF 3 211 066). They vest one-third in 2009, 2010 and 
2012 and are subject to a blocking period ending in January 2012. 

The Senior Management was awarded a total of 522 453 SGSGU options (2008: 366 931 SGSMO options). This number includes 
386 474 SGSGU options (2008: 272 627 SGSMO options) awarded to the Chief Executive Officer.

The Group has granted additional 50 000 options of the discretionary long-term incentive plan (SGSMO-2008 LTI) to a member of 
the Senior Management that will be vested in January 2012 if the EPS target for 2011 is reached. The estimated fair value of those 
options granted is CHF 118 500.

In 2009, no other options were granted under the Group’s long-term incentive plan.

The following table shows the details of the options¹ granted to the Operations Council, Senior Management and to the Chief 
Executive Officer under each existing plan. This table relates to the individuals who were members of the Operations Council  
as at 31 December 2009:

 NUmbeR      
 oF opTIoNS STRIke       mARkeT vAlUe
 GRANTed AT   pRICe2 veSTING veSTING veSTING  AT GRANT dATe
 31.12.09  (CHF) dATe 1/3 dATe 1/3 dATe 1/3 eXeRCISAble (CHF)

opeRATIoNS CoUNCIl (INClUdING SeNIoR mANAGemeNT ANd ChIeF eXeCUTIve oFFICeR)

SGSFS 760 513 1 308 01.2007 07.2008 01.2010 01.2010 – 01.2012 2 304 354

SGSMO 1 238 381 1 349 01.2008 07.2009 01.2011 01.2011 – 01.2013 2 934 963

SGSMO-2008 LTI 4 130 000 1 349    01.2012 – 01.2013 3 9 788 100

SGSmo-2008 lTI 4 50 000 1 349    01.2012  –  01.2013 3 118 500

SGSGU 4 1 668 057 1 064 01.2009 07.2010 01.2012  01.2012  –  01.2014 4 103 420

SeNIoR mANAGemeNT (INClUdING ChIeF eXeCUTIve oFFICeR)

SGSFS 200 119 1 308 01.2007 07.2008 01.2010 01.2010 – 01.2012 606 361

SGSMO 366 931 1 349 01.2008 07.2009 01.2011 01.2011 – 01.2013 869 626

SGSMO-2008 LTI 970 000 1 349    01.2012 – 01.20133 2 298 900

SGSmo-2008 lTI 4 50 000 1 349    01.2012  –  01.2013 3 118 500

SGSGU 4 522 453 1 064 01.2009 07.2010 01.2012  01.2012  –  01.2014 1 285 234

ChIeF eXeCUTIve oFFICeR

SGSFS 86 064 1 308 01.2007 07.2008 01.2010 01.2010 – 01.2012 260 774

SGSMO 272 627 1 349 01.2008 07.2009 01.2011 01.2011 – 01.2013 646 126

SGSMO-2008 LTI 750 000 1 349    01.2012 – 01.2013 3 1 777 500

SGSGU 4 386 474 1 064 01.2009 07.2010 01.2012  01.2012  –  01.2014 950 726

1. One hundred options give the right to acquire one share. 

2. Original strike price. 

3. If the EPS target is reached in 2011. 

4. Granted in 2009.
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7.2.4.3. Total compensation paid to the Operations Council, Senior Management and Chief Executive Officer 

Taking into account the fair value of options at grant, a total compensation (base salary and annual bonus including options granted) 
was paid as follows in 2009:

•	 To the Operations Council (including Senior Management) an aggregate amount of CHF 16 343 895 (2008: CHF 16 478 066).

•	 To the Senior Management an aggregate amount of CHF 3 955 234 (2008: CHF 4 093 626).

•	 To the Chief Executive Officer an amount of CHF 2 470 726 (2008: 2 450 126).

The comparative numbers for 2008 exclude any options related to the SGSMO-2008 LTI plan.

7.2.4.4. Highest total compensation

In the year under review, the remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer (see 7.2.4.3.) was the highest compensation paid by the Group. 

7.2.4.5. Severance payments

In 2009, no severance payments to Operations Council members were recognised (2008: CHF 411 000). 

7.2.4.6. Loans to members of governing bodies

As at 31 December 2009, no loan, credit or outstanding advance was due to the Company from members of its governing bodies 
(unchanged from prior year).

7.3. ShAReS ANd opTIoNS held by membeRS oF GoveRNING bodIeS

7.3.1. Shares and options held by Members of the Board of Directors

The following table shows the shares and vested options held by Members of the Board of Directors as at 31 December 2009:

 SGSGF SGSFS SGSmo SGSGU ShAReS      

S. Marchionne  150 000 54 236 54 236 32 206 50

T.R. Brandolini d’Adda - - - - 1

A. von Finck  - - - - 19 670

A.F. von Finck  - - - - 438 000

P. Kalantzis - - - - 20

S.R. du Pasquier - - - - 10

C. Barel di Sant’Albano - - - - 10

T. Limberger - - - - 1

The following table shows the shares and vested options held by Members of the Board of Directors as at 31 December 2008:

  SGSFS SGSmo ShAReS      

S. Marchionne   54 236 27 118 50

T.R. Brandolini d’Adda  - - 1

A. von Finck   - - 19 670

A.F. von Finck   - - 732 800

P. Lebard   - - 10

S.R. du Pasquier  - - 10

T. Limberger  - - 1
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7.3.2. Shares and options held by Senior Management

The following table shows the shares and vested options held by Senior Management as at 31 December 2009:

 CoRpoRATe     
 ReSpoNSIbIlITy  SGSGF SGSFS SGSmo SGSGU ShAReS

 Chief Executive     
C. Kirk Officer  582 741 57 376 181 750 128 825 1 199

 Chief Financial     
R. Tobin Officer  150 000 44 007 56 203 38 230 -

 General Counsel &     
O. Merkt Chief Compliance Officer  20 000 6 666 6 666 7 027 35

The following table shows the shares and vested options held by Senior Management as at 31 December 2008:

 CoRpoRATe       
 ReSpoNSIbIlITy SGSmU SGSGF SGSFS SGSmo ShAReS

 Chief Executive     
C. Kirk Officer 116 698 55 160 57 376 90 876 1 199

 Chief Financial     
R. Tobin Officer 72 713 51 620 44 007 28 101 -

 General Counsel &    
O. Merkt  Chief Compliance Officer 5 000 6 666 6 666 3 333 35

The list of principal group subsidiaries appears in the Annual Report (pages 151 to 154).

8
SIGNIFICANT ShAReholdeRS
As at 31 December 2009, Exor held 15.00% (2008: 15.00%), Mr. August von Finck 
and members of his family acting in concert held 14.96% (2008: 25.05%), Allianz SE 
held 7.40% (2008: 7.40%), The Capital Group Companies held 3.51% (2008: less than 3%)  
and the Bank of New York Mellon Corporation held 3.01% (2008: 3.01%) of the 
share capital and voting rights of the Company. 

At the same date, SGS Group held 4.12% of the share capital of the Company 
(2008: 4.46%).

9
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pRopoSAl oF The boARd oF dIReCToRS FoR The AppRopRIATIoN  
oF AvAIlAble ReTAINed eARNINGS

CHF  2009 2008

Profit for the year 792 449 459 96 447 172

Balance brought forward from previous year 50 314 847 529 755 475

Dividend paid on own shares released into circulation in 2009  
prior to the Annual General Meeting on 22 March 2009 (1 681 899) -

Dividend not paid on own shares bought in 2008   
prior to the Annual General Meeting on 17 March 2008 - 64 575

Reversal from / (Attribution to) the reserve for own shares  15 469 297 (198 841 675)

ToTAl ReTAINed eARNINGS AvAIlAble FoR AppRopRIATIoN  856 551 704 427 425 547

Proposal of the board of Directors:  

Dividends 1 (454 119 840) (377 110 700)

bAlANCe CARRIed FoRwARd 402 431 864 50 314 847

Ordinary gross dividend per registered share  30.00 35.00

Additional gross dividend per registered share  30.00 15.00

1. No dividend is paid on own shares held directly or indirectly by SGS SA.
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RepoRT oF The STATUToRy AUdIToR
To the General Meeting of 

SGS SA, GeNevA

RepoRT oN The FINANCIAl STATemeNTS

As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of SGS SA presented on pages 130 to 142, which comprise the 
income statement, balance sheet and notes for the year ended 31 December 2009.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the requirements of Swiss 
law and the company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal 
control system relevant to the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control 
system relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009 comply with Swiss law and the company’s 
articles of incorporation.

RepoRT oN oTheR leGAl ReQUIRemeNTS

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and independence 
(article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal control 
system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to the instructions of the  
Board of Directors.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the company’s articles of 
incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

DELOITTE SA

Peter Quigley Fabien Bryois
Licensed Audit Expert Licensed Audit Expert
Auditor in Charge

Geneva, 14 January 2010
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sgs group fIve-Year statIstICal Data InCome statements
for the Years enDeD 31 DeCember

(CHF million)  2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

revenues 4 712 4 818 4 372 3 821 3 308

Salaries and wages (2 214) (2 243) (2 076) (1 818) (1 615)

Subcontractors’ expenses (319) (331) (307) (263) (217)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (223) (214) (197) (172) (140)

Other operating expenses (1 142) (1 220) (1 081) (963) (834)

operatIng InCome (before eXCeptIonal Items) 814 810 711 605 502

Exceptional items (20) 127 (21) 19 -

profIt from operatIng aCtIvItIes (ebIt) 794 937 690 624 502

Financial income/(expense) (3) (4) 2 (1) 5

profIt before taXes 791 933 692 623 507

Taxes (200) (219) (172) (155) (119)

profIt for the Year 591 714 520 468 388

Profit attributable to:    

Equity holders of SGS SA 566 692 500 443 371

Non-controlling interests 25 22 20 25 17

operatIng margIns before eXCeptIonals 17.3 16.8 16.3 15.8 15.2

average number of emploYees 57 153 55 026 50 331 45 928 41 460
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sgs group fIve-Year statIstICal Data ConsolIDateD balanCe sheets
at 31 DeCember

(CHF million)  2009 2008 20071 20061 2005

Land, buildings and equipment 751 721 738 656 586

Goodwill and other intangible assets 777 759 716 644 429

Investments in associated and other companies 1 2 2 2 2

Deferred tax and other non-current assets 228 219 187 188 223

total non-Current assets 1 757 1 701 1 643 1 490 1 240

Unbilled revenues and inventories 201 184 206 180 147

Trade accounts and notes receivable 812 919 867 762 713

Other receivables and prepayments 174 194 184 182 134

Cash and marketable securities 792  583 438 239 531

total Current assets 1 979  1 880 1 695 1 363 1 525

total assets 3 736  3 581 3 338 2 853 2 765
     

Share capital 8  8 8 8 156

Reserves 2 065  1 817 1 933 1 548 1 283

eQuItY attrIbutable to eQuItY holDers of sgs sa 2 073  1 825 1 941 1 556 1 439

Non-controlling interests 37  37 36 30 36

total eQuItY 2 110  1 862 1 977 1 586 1 475

Loans and obligations under finance leases 8  10 20 7 7

Deferred tax liabilities 77  65 64 46 51

Provisions and retirement benefit obligations 249  267 211 293 367

total non-Current lIabIlItIes 334 342 295 346 425

Loans and obligations under finance leases 308  325 40 17 94

Trade and other payables 388  403 452 402 329

Current tax liabilities 72  107 69 88 58

Provisions, other creditors and accruals 524  542 505 414 384

total Current lIabIlItIes 1 292  1 377 1 066 921 865

total lIabIlItIes 1 626  1 719 1 361 1 267 1 290

total eQuItY anD lIabIlItIes 3 736  3 581 3 338 2 853 2 765
     

CapItal eXpenDIture     

Land, buildings and equipment 221  290 285 248 170

1. 2006 and 2007 data has been restated to reflect the adoption of IFRIC 14.
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sgs group fIve-Year statIstICal share Data

(CHF unless indicated otherwise)  2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

share InformatIon     

regIstereD shares     

Number of shares issued 7 822 436 7 822 436 7 822 436 7 822 436 7 822 436

Number of shares with dividend rights 7 568 664 7 542 214 7 708 946 7 706 030 7 639 940

prICe     

High 1 400 1 596 1 607 1 394 1 111

Low 1 036 904 1 296 1 057 642

Year-end 1 351 1 100 1 349 1 358 1 108

Par value 1 1 1 1 20
     

KeY fIgures bY shares     

Equity attributable to equity holders of SGS SA
per share in circulation at 31 December 276.42 244.20 254.42 205.00 191.72

Basic earnings per share 1 75.48 91.08 65.47 58.36 49.45

Dividend per share-ordinary 30.00 2 35.00 35.00 20.00 31.00

Dividend per share-special 30.00 2 15.00 - - - 
   

DIvIDenDs (Chf mIllIon)     

Ordinary 227 2 264 267 154 237

Special 227 2 113 - - -

1. Calculation of the basic earnings per share (weighted average for the year) is disclosed in note 10, page 102.

2. As proposed by the Board of Directors.

sgs group share InformatIon

share transfer

SGS SA has no restrictions as to share ownership, except that registered shares acquired in a fiduciary capacity by third parties may 
not be registered in the shareholders’ register, unless a special authorisation has been granted by the Board of Directors.

marKet CapItalIsatIon

At the end of 2009, market capitalisation was approximately CHF 10 568 million (2008: CHF 8 605 million). Shares are quoted on 
the SIX Swiss Exchange.
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sgs group prInCIpal operatIng CompanIes anD ultImate parent
  IssueD CapItal  IssueD CapItal  % helD DIreCt/
CountrY name anD DomICIle CurrenCY amount bY group  InDIreCt

Albania SGS Albania Ltd., Tirana ALL 100 000 100 D

Albania SGS Automotive Albania sh.p.k, Tirana ALL 100 100 I

Algeria Qualitest Algérie SPA, Alger DZD 50 000 000 100 D

Algeria Société de Contrôle Technique Automobile S.A., DZD 173 600 000 77 D
 Rouiba-Alger

Angola SGS Angola Limitada, Luanda AOA 8 000 000 100 D

Argentina SGS Argentina S.A., Buenos Aires ARS 4 171 536 100 D

Australia SGS Australia Pty. Ltd., Bentley AUD 200 000 100 I

Australia Gearhart Australia Limited, Perth AUD 5 609 210 100 I

Australia SGS Scientific Services Pty. Ltd., Perth AUD 30 198 853 100 I

Austria SGS Austria Controll-Co. Ges.m.b.H., Vienna EUR 185 000 100 D

Azerbaijan SGS Azeri Ltd., Baku USD 100 000 100 D

Bahamas SGS Bahamas Ltd., Freeport BSD 5 000 100 D

Bangladesh SGS Bangladesh Limited, Dhaka BDT 100 000 100 D

Belarus SGS Minsk Ltd., Minsk USD 20 000 100 D

Belgium SGS Belgium N.V., Antwerpen EUR 2 178 200 100 I

Benin SGS Bénin S.A., Cotonou XOF 10 000 000 100 D

Bolivia  SGS Bolivia S.A., La Paz BOB 41 900 100 D

Bosnia-Herzegovina SGS Bosna i Hercegovina (d.o.o.) Ltd., Sarajevo BAM 2 000 100 I

Botswana  SGS Botswana (Proprietary) Limited, Gaborone BWP 1 000 100 D

Brazil SGS do Brasil Ltda., São Paulo BRL 53 009 486 100 D

Bulgaria SGS Bulgaria Ltd., Sofia BGN 10 000 100 D

Burkina Faso SGS Burkina S.A., Ouagadougou XOF 10 000 000 100 D

Cameroon SGS Cameroun S.A., Douala XAF 10 000 000 100 D

Canada SGS Lakefield Research Limited, CAD 18 809 676 100 D
 Lakefield/Ontario 

Canada SGS Canada Inc., Missisauga CAD 20 900 000 100 D

Chile SGS Chile Limitada, Santiago de Chile CLP 180 000 000 100 D

China SGS-CSTC Standards Technical USD 3 966 667 85 I
 Services Ltd., Beijing 

Colombia SGS Colombia S.A., Bogota COP 84 965 360 100 D

Congo SGS Congo S.A., Pointe-Noire XAF 10 000 000 100 D

Croatia  SGS Adriatica, w.l.l., Rijeka HRK 1 300 000 100 I

Cyprus  SGS Cyprus Control &Testing Limited, Limassol EUR  60 000 100 D

Czech Republic  SGS Czech Republic s.r.o., Praha CZK 7 607 000 100 I

Denmark  SGS Danmark A/S, Frederiksberg DKK 700 000 100 I

Dubai  (see United Arab Emirates)

Ecuador  SGS del Ecuador S.A., Guayaquil USD 147 680 100 D

Egypt  SGS Egypt Ltd., Giza/Cairo EGP 1 500 000 60 D

Estonia  SGS Estonia Ltd., Maardu EEK 660 000 100 I

Ethiopia  SGS Ethiopia Private Limited, Addis Abeba ETB 15 000 100 D

Finland  SGS Inspection Services Oy, Helsingfors EUR 102 000 100 I

Finland  SGS Fimko Oy, Helsingfors EUR 260 000 100 I
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  IssueD CapItal  IssueD CapItal  % helD DIreCt/
CountrY name anD DomICIle CurrenCY amount bY group  InDIreCt

France  SGS Oil, Gas & Chemicals, SAS, Cachan EUR 720 000 100 I

France  SGS Qualitest Industrie SAS, Orsay EUR 200 000 100 I

France  Securitest S.A., Paris EUR 2 745 000 91.986 I

France  SGS Aster SA, Paris EUR 11 216 390 100 I

France SGS Cephac Europe SAS, St-Benois EUR 457 347 100 I

Georgia  SGS Georgia Ltd., Batumi USD 80 000 100 D

Germany  SGS Gottfeld NDT Services GmbH, Herne EUR 750 000 100 I

Germany  SGS Germany GmbH, Hamburg EUR 1 210 000 100 I

Germany  SGS Institut Fresenius GmbH, Taunusstein EUR 7 490 000 100 I

Germany SGS Tüv GmbH, Sulzbach  EUR 750 000 74.9 I

Ghana  SGS Ghana Limited, Accra GHS 5 202 100 D

Ghana  Ghana Community Network GHS 1 978 604 60 D
 Services Limited, Accra 

Great Britain  SGS United Kingdom Limited, Ellesmere Port GBP 8 000 000 100 I

Greece  SGS Greece SA, Peristeri EUR 301 731 100 D

Guam  SGS Guam, Guam USD 25 000 100 D

Guatemala  SGS de Guatemala, S.A., Guatemala-City GTQ 1 068 000 100 D

Guinea - Conakry SGS Guinée Conakry S.A., Conakry GNF 50 000 000 100 D

Guinea - Equatorial Compañia de Inspecciones y Servicios G.E., Malabo XAF 10 000 000 51 D

Hong Kong  SGS Hong Kong Limited, Hong Kong HKD 200 000 100 D

Hungary  SGS Hungária Kft., Budapest HUF 18 000 000 100 I

India  SGS India Private Ltd., Mumbai INR 800 000 100 D

Indonesia    P.T. Sucofindo (Persero), Jakarta IDR 300 000 000 000 5 D

Indonesia  P.T. SGS Indonesia, Jakarta USD 200 000 100 D

Iran  SGS Iran (Private Joint Stock) Limited,Tehran IRR 50 000 000 100 D

Iran  Arya–SGS Quality Services,  IRR 1 500 000 000 50 D
 Private Joint Stock Co.,Tehran 

Ireland  SGS Ireland (Holdings) Limited, Dublin EUR 62 500 100 I

Ireland  National Car Testing Service Limited, Dublin EUR 2 748 753 100 I

Italy  SGS Italia S.p.A., Milan EUR 2 500 000 100 I

Ivory Coast  SGS Côte d’Ivoire S.A., Abidjan XOF 300 000 000 80 D

Ivory Coast  Société Ivoirienne de Contrôles Techniques  XOF 200 000 000 95 D
 Automobiles et Industriels S.A., Abidjan 

Jamaica SGS Supervise Jamaica Limited, Kingston JMD 1 569 520 100 D

Japan  SGS Japan Inc., Yokohama JPY 350 000 000 100 D

Jordan  SGS (Jordan) Private Shareholding  JOD 100 000 50 D
 Company, Amman 

Kazakhstan  SGS Kazakhstan Limited, Almaty KZT 146 527 100 D

Kenya  SGS Kenya Limited, Mombasa KES 2 000 000 100 D

Korea (Republic of)  SGS Korea Co., Ltd., Seoul KRW 5 567 540 000 100 D

Korea (Republic of)  SGS SRS Korea Co., Ltd., Busan KRW 550 000 000 100 I

Kosovo SGS Kosovo Ltd, Prishtina EUR 2 500 100 I

Kuwait  SGS Kuwait W.L.L., Kuwait KWD 50 000 49 D

Latvia  SGS Latvija Limited, Riga LVL 83 200 100 I

Lebanon  SGS (Liban) S.A.L., Beirut LBP 30 000 000 99.99 D

Liberia SGS Liberia Inc, Monrovia LRD 100 100 D
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Lithuania  SGS Klaipeda Ltd., Klaipeda LTL 40 000 100 I

Luxembourg  SGS Luxembourg S.A., Mamer EUR 38 000 100 I

Madagascar  SGS Madagascar SARL, Antananarivo MGA 20 000 000 100 I

Madagascar Malagasy Community Network Services S.A.,  MGA 10 000 000 70 D
 Antananarivo

Malawi  SGS Malawi Limited, Blantyre MWK 30 000 100 D

Malaysia  Petrotechnical Inspection (Malaysia) MYR 350 000 70 D
 Sdn. Bhd., Kuala Lumpur 

Malaysia  SGS (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd., Kuala Lumpur MYR 60 000 100 I

Mali  Analabs Mali SARL, Kayes XOF 2 500 000 100 I

Mauritius  SGS (Mauritius) LTD, Phoenix MUR 100 000 100 D

Mexico  SGS de Mexico, S.A. de C.V., Mexico MXN 7 065 828 100 D

Moldova  SGS (Moldova) S.A., Chisinau MDL 488 050 100 D

Mongolia  SGS Mongolia LLC, Ulaanbaatar USD 10 000 100 I

Morocco  SGS Maroc S.A., Casablanca MAD 7 500 000 100 D

Morocco SGS Maroc Automotive SA, Casablanca MAD 3 000 000 75 D

Mozambique  SGS Moçambique, Limitada, Maputo MZM 100 000 000 100 D

Myanmar  SGS (Myanmar) Limited, Yangoon BUK 300 000 100 D

Namibia  SGS Inspection Services Namibia (Propietary)  NAD 100 100 I
 Limited, Windhoek

Netherlands  SGS Nederland B.V., Spijkenisse EUR 250 000 100 I

Netherlands Horizon Energy Partners BV, Gravenhage EUR 45 000 100 I

New Zealand  SGS New Zealand Limited, Auckland-Onehunga NZD 4 522 190 100 D

Nigeria  SGS Inspection Services Nigeria Limited, Lagos NGN 200 000 50 D

Nigeria SGS Scanning Nigeria Limited, Lagos NGN 100 000 100 D

Norway  SGS Norge A/S, Bergen NOK 800 000 100 I

Pakistan  SGS Pakistan (Private) Limited, Karachi PKR 2 300 000 100 D

Panama  SGS Panama Control Services Inc., Panama USD 500 000 100 D

Papua-New-Guinea   SGS PNG Pty. Limited, Port Moresby PGK 2 100 I

Paraguay  SGS Paraguay S.A., Asunción PYG 1 962 000 000 100 D

Peru  SGS del Perú S.A.C., Lima PEN 11 738 890 100 D

Philippines  SGS Global Trade Solutions Philippines,  PHP 8 325 000 100 D
 Inc., Manila 

Philippines  SGS Philippines, Inc., Manila PHP 24 620 000 100 D

Poland  SGS Polska Sp.z o.o.,Warsaw PLZ 6 179 800 100 I

Poland  Zaklad Inzynierii Srodowiska PLZ 5 000 100 I
 EKO-PROJEKT Sp. z.o.o., Pzcczyna 

Portugal  SGS Portugal - Sociedade Geral de  EUR 500 000 100 I
 Superintendência S.A., Lisbon 

Romania  SGS Romania S.A., Bucharest RON 100 002 100 I

Russia  SGS Vostok Limited, Moscow RUR 5 605 900 100 D

Saudi Arabia  SGS Inspection Services Saudi Arabia  SAR 1 000 000 75 D
 Ltd., Jeddah 

Senegal  SGS Sénégal S.A., Dakar XAF 35 000 000 100 D

Serbia  SGS Beograd d.o.o., Beograd EUR 66 161 100 I

Singapore  SGS Testing & Control Services Singapore  SGD 100 000 100 D
 Pte Ltd., Singapore
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Slovakia  SGS Slovakia spol.s.r.o., Kosice EUR 19 917 100 I

Slovenia  SGS Slovenija d.o.o. - Podjetje za  EUR 10 432 100 I
 kontrol blaga, Koper 

South Africa  SGS South Africa (Proprietary) Limited,  ZAR 5 100 006 100 D
 Johannesburg 

Spain  SGS Española de Control S.A., Madrid EUR 240 000 100 I

Spain  SGS Tecnos, S.A., Sociedad  EUR 12 072 040 100 I
 Unipersonal, Madrid 

Spain  SGS International Certification Services  EUR 60 101 100 I
 Ibérica, S.A., Madrid    

Sri Lanka  SGS Lanka (Private) Limited, Colombo LKR 9 000 000 100 D

Sweden  SGS Sweden AB, Göteborg SEK 1 500 000 100 I

Switzerland  SGS Société Générale de Surveillance SA, Geneva CHF 10 000 000 100 I

Switzerland  SGS SA, Geneva CHF 7 822 436  Ultimate 
     

Switzerland  SGS Group Management SA, Geneva CHF 100 000 100 I

Taiwan  SGS Taiwan Limited, Taipei TWD 62 000 000 100 I

Tanzania  SGS Tanzania Superintendence Co.  TZS 250 000 100 D
 Limited, Dar-es-Salaam 

Thailand  SGS (Thailand) Limited, Bangkok THB 20 000 000 99.999 D

Togo  SGS Togo S.A., Lomé XOF 10 000 000 100 D

Tunisia  SGS Tunisie S.A., Tunis TND 50 000 50 D

Turkey  SGS Supervise Gözetme Etud Kontrol  YTL 1 550 000 100 I
 Servisleri Anonim Sirketi, Istanbul 

Turkmenistan  SGS Turkmen Ltd., Ashgabat USD 50 000 100 D

Uganda  SGS Uganda Limited, Kampala UGS 5 000 000 100 D

Ukraine  SGS Ukraine, Foreign Enterprise, Odessa USD 400 000 100 I

United Arab Emirates  SGS Gulf Limited, Abu Dhabi, (Branch office) – – – –

United States  SGS North America Inc.,Wilmington USD 73 701 996 100 I

United States  SGS U.S. Testing Company Inc., New York USD 303 625 100 I

Uruguay  SGS Uruguay Limitada, Montevideo UYU 1 500 100 D

Uruguay  Sociedad Uruguaya de Control Técnico de  UYU 24 000 100 I
 Automotores Sociedad Anónima, Montevideo 

Uzbekistan  SGS Tashkent Ltd., Tashkent USD 50 000 100 D

Venezuela  SGS Venezuela S.A., Caracas VEF 162 980 100 D

Vietnam  SGS Vietnam Ltd., Ho Chi Minh City  USD 288 000 100 D

Zambia  SGS Inspections Services Ltd, Lusaka ZMK 5 000 000 100 I

Zimbabwe  SGS Zimbabwe (Private) Limited, Harare ZWD 5 000 100 D

parent company
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sgs sa Corporate offICe

1 place des Alpes

P.O. Box 2152

CH – 1211 Geneva 1

t   +41 (0)22 739 91 11

f   +41 (0)22 739 98 86

e   sgs.investor.relations@sgs.com

www.sgs.com

stoCK eXChange lIstIng

SIX Swiss Exchange, SGSN

stoCK eXChange traDIng

SIX Swiss Exchange

Common stoCK sYmbols

Bloomberg: Registered Share: SGSN.VX

Reuters: Registered Share: SGSN.VX

Telekurs: Registered Share: SGSN

ISIN: Registered Share: CH0002497458

Swiss security number: 249745

Corporate CommunICatIons & 

Investor relatIons sgs sa

Jean-Luc de Buman

1 place des Alpes

P.O. Box 2152

CH – 1211 Geneva 1

t   +41 (0)22 739 93 31

f   +41 (0)22 739 98 61

www.sgs.com

annual general meetIng  

of shareholDers

The Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders will be held on Monday, 
22 March 2010 at the Grand Hotel 
Kempinski, Geneva

proJeCt management

Geraldine Matchett, Carole Streng

ConCept, DesIgn, realIsatIon  

anD proDuCtIon 

Group Charlescannon Sàrl 
Verbier, Switzerland

photographY

Jason Joyce 
London, England

prInteD bY

Atar Rotor Presse SA  
Vernier Switzerland

The 2009 results and financial  
statements are also pu  blished in French.

English version is binding.

Printed on chlorine and acid free paper in 
Switzerland, February 2010.

shareholDer 
InformatIon
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